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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND  

EXCHANGE COMMISSION  
Washington, D.C. 20549  

FORM 10-K  
   

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009  

or  
   

for the transition period from                       to                       
   

NSTAR  
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)  

   

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:  
   

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.  
   Yes     �   No  

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. �   Yes        No  

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been 
subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.  

   Yes     �   No  

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive 
Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period 
that the registrant was required to submit and post such files).  

�   Yes     �   No  

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be 
contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 
10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.     

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting 
company, as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.  
   

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).  
�   Yes        No  

The aggregate market value of the 106,808,376 shares of voting stock of the registrant held by non-affiliates of the registrant, computed as 
the average of the high and low market prices of the common shares as reported on the New York Stock Exchange consolidated transaction 
reporting system for NSTAR Common Shares as of the last business day of the registrant’s most recently completed second fiscal quarter: 
$3,396,506,000.  

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the registrant’s classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable date:  
   

Documents Incorporated by Reference  

Portions of NSTAR’s Definitive Proxy Statement relating to the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 6, 2010 are to be filed with 
the SEC under Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of NSTAR’s fiscal year and, upon such filing, to be incorporated by reference into 
Parts I and III of this Form 10-K.  
      

    ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT 
OF 1934 

� � � � TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE 
ACT OF 1934 

Commission file number  001-14768    I.R.S. Employer Identification Number  04-3466300 

Massachusetts   800 Boylston Street, Boston, Massachusetts 
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)   (Address of principal executive offices) 

617-424-2000   02199 
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)   (Zip code) 

Title of each class   Name of each exchange on which registered 

Common Shares, par value $1 per share   New York Stock Exchange 

Large accelerated filer            Accelerated filer   �          Non-accelerated filer   �          Smaller reporting company   � 

Class   Outstanding at February 5, 2010 

Common Shares, par value $1 per share   106,808,376 shares 
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Glossary of Terms  

The following is a glossary of abbreviated names or acronyms frequently used throughout this report.  
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NSTAR Companies      

NSTAR     NSTAR (Holding company), Company or NSTAR and its subsidiaries (as the context requires) 
NSTAR Electric     NSTAR Electric Company 
NSTAR Gas     NSTAR Gas Company 
NSTAR Electric & Gas     NSTAR Electric & Gas Corporation 
MATEP     Medical Area Total Energy Plant, Inc. 
AES     Advanced Energy Systems, Inc. (Parent company of MATEP) 
NSTAR Com     NSTAR Communications, Inc. 
Hopkinton     Hopkinton LNG Corp. 
HEEC     Harbor Electric Energy Company 
Unregulated operations     Represents non-regulated operations of NSTAR Com and Hopkinton 
Discontinued operations     Represents operations of MATEP 

Regulatory and Other Authorities      

DOE     U.S. Department of Energy 
DPU     Massachusetts Department of Public Utilities 
FERC     Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 
IRS     U.S. Internal Revenue Service 
ISO-NE     ISO (Independent System Operator) - New England Inc. 
Moody’s     Moody’s Investors Service 
NRC     U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission 
NYMEX     New York Mercantile Exchange 
PCAOB     Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
SEC     U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 
S&P     Standard & Poor’s 

Other      

AFUDC     Allowance for Funds Used During Construction 
AOCI     Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income 
ARO     Asset Retirement Obligation 
ARRA     American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 
ASC     Financial Accounting Standards Board (U.S) Accounting Standards Codification 
BBtu     Billions of British thermal units 
Bcf     Billion cubic feet 
CAP     IRS Compliance Assurance Process 
CGAC     Cost of Gas Adjustment Clause 
CPSL     Capital Projects Scheduling List 
CY     Connecticut Yankee Atomic Power Company 
DSM     Demand-Side Management 
EEI Index     Edison Electric Institute Stock Index of U.S. Shareholder - Owned Electric Utilities 
EERF     Energy Efficiency Reconciling Factor 
EPS     Earnings Per Common Share 
FCA     Forward Capacity Auction 
FCM     Forward Capacity Market 
GAAP     Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
GCA     Massachusetts Green Communities Act of 2007 
GWSA     Massachusetts Global Warming Solutions Act 
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ISFSI     Independent Spent Fuel Storage Installation 
kW     Kilowatt (equal to one thousand watts) 
kWh     Kilowatthour (the basic unit of electric energy equal to one kilowatt of power supplied for one hour) 
LDAC     Local Distribution Adjustment Clause 
LNG     Liquefied Natural Gas 
MD&A     Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 
MGP     Manufactured Gas Plant 
MMbtu     Millions of British thermal units 
MW     Megawatts 
MWh     Megawatthour (equal to one million watthours) 
MY     Maine Yankee Atomic Power Company 
NEH     New England Hydro-Transmission Electric Company, Inc. 
NHH     New England Hydro-Transmission Corporation 
OATT     Open Access Transmission Tariff 
PAM     Pension and PBOP Rate Adjustment Mechanism 
PBOP     Postretirement Benefit Obligation other than Pensions 
PPA     Pension Protection Act of 2006 
RMR     Reliability Must Run 
ROE     Return on Equity 
RTO     Regional Transmission Organization 
SIP     Simplified Incentive Plan 
SQI     Service Quality Indicators 
SSCM     Simplified Service Cost Method 
WRERA     Worker, Retiree and Employer Recovery Act of 2008 
YA     Yankee Atomic Electric Company 

N/A     Not applicable 
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Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information  

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains statements that are considered forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Securities Act 
of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These forward-looking statements may also be contained in other filings with the SEC, in 
press releases, and oral statements. You can identify these statements by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts. They 
use words such as “anticipate,” “estimate,” “expect,” “project,” “intend,” “plan,” “believe,” and other words and terms of similar meaning in 
connection with any discussion of future operating or financial performance. These statements are based on the current expectations, estimates or 
projections of management and are not guarantees of future performance. Some or all of these forward-looking statements may not turn out to be 
what NSTAR expected. Actual results could differ materially from these statements. Therefore, no assurance can be given that the outcomes 
stated in such forward-looking statements and estimates will be achieved.  

Examples of some important factors that could cause our actual results or outcomes to differ materially from those discussed in the forward-
looking statements include, but are not limited to, the following:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date of this filing and NSTAR undertakes no obligation to publicly update forward-looking 
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise. You are advised, however, to consult all further disclosures 
NSTAR makes in its filings to the SEC. Other factors in addition to those listed here could also adversely affect NSTAR. This Annual Report 
also describes material contingencies and critical accounting policies and estimates in the accompanying Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” Item 7, “ 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements and NSTAR encourages a review of these items.  
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  •   adverse financial market conditions including changes in interest rates and the availability and cost of capital  
  •   adverse economic conditions  

  

•   changes to prevailing local, state, and federal governmental policies and regulatory actions (including those of the DPU and the 
FERC) with respect to allowed rates of return, rate structure, continued recovery of regulatory assets and energy costs, financings, 
municipalization, acquisition and disposition of assets, operation and construction of facilities, changes in tax laws and policies, and 
changes in, and compliance with, environmental and safety laws and policies  

  •   new governmental regulations or changes to existing regulations that impose additional operating requirements or liabilities  
  •   changes in available information and circumstances regarding legal issues and the resulting impact on our estimated litigation costs  
  •   weather conditions that directly influence the demand for electricity and natural gas  
  •   impact of continued cost control processes on operating results  
  •   ability to maintain current credit ratings  
  •   impact of uninsured losses  
  •   impact of adverse union contract negotiations  
  •   damage from major storms  
  •   impact of conservation measures and self-generation by our customers  
  •   changes in financial accounting and reporting standards  
  •   changes in hazardous waste site conditions and the cleanup technology  
  •   prices and availability of operating supplies  
  •   impact of terrorist acts and cyber-attacks, and  
  •   impact of service quality performance measures  
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Part I  
   

(a) General Development of Business  

NSTAR (or the Company) is a holding company engaged through its subsidiaries in the energy delivery business serving approximately 
1.4 million customers in Massachusetts, including approximately 1.1 million electric distribution customers in 81 communities and 
approximately 300,000 natural gas distribution customers in 51 communities. Utility operations accounted for approximately 99% of 
consolidated operating revenues from continuing operations in 2009, 2008, and 2007. The remaining revenue is generated from its unregulated 
operations.  

NSTAR’s utility operations derive their operating revenues primarily from electric and natural gas sales, distribution, and transmission services 
to customers. NSTAR’s earnings are impacted by fluctuations in unit sales of electric kWh and natural gas MMbtu, which directly determine the 
level of distribution revenues recognized. In accordance with the regulatory rate structure in which NSTAR operates, its recovery of energy and 
certain energy-related costs are fully reconciled with the level of energy revenues currently recorded and, therefore, do not have an impact on 
earnings. As a result of this rate structure, any variability in the cost of energy supply purchased will have an impact on the purchased power and 
transmission and cost of gas sold expenses, but will not affect the Company’s net income as the Company recognizes a corresponding change in 
revenues.  

On December 21, 2009, NSTAR reached an agreement to sell Medical Area Total Energy Plant, Inc. (MATEP), NSTAR’s unregulated district 
energy operation in Boston’s Longwood Medical Area. MATEP provides chilled water, steam, and electricity to several hospitals, medical 
research and biotechnology centers, and teaching institutions, and is accounted for as a discontinued operation held for sale in the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements.  

(b) Financial Information about Industry Segments  

NSTAR’s principal operating segments or line of regulated utility businesses are electric and natural gas distribution operations that provide 
energy transmission and delivery services in 107 cities and towns in Massachusetts and its unregulated operations. Refer to Note M, “Segment 
and Related Information” of the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8, “ Financial Statements and Supplementary 
Data” for specific financial information related to NSTAR’s electric utility, natural gas utility, and unregulated operations segments.  

(c) Narrative Description of Business  

Principal Products and Services  

NSTAR Electric  

NSTAR Electric supplies distribution and transmission electricity service at retail to an area of 1,702 square miles. The territory served is located 
in Massachusetts and includes the City of Boston and 80 surrounding cities and towns, including Cambridge, New Bedford, Plymouth, and the 
geographic area comprising Cape Cod and Martha’s Vineyard. The population of this area is approximately 2.4 million.  

NSTAR Electric’s operating revenues and sales percentages by customer class for the years 2009, 2008, and 2007 consisted of the following:  
   

   
5  

Item 1. Business 

     Revenues ($)     Retail Electric Sales (mWh)   
     2009     2008     2007     2009     2008     2007   
Retail:               

Commercial and industrial     57 %    57 %    56 %    68 %    69 %    69 %  
Residential     42 %    42 %    43 %    31 %    30 %    30 %  
Other     1 %    1 %    1 %    1 %    1 %    1 %  

WPD-6 
Screening Data Part 1 of 2 
Page 9103 of 9808



Table of Contents  

Regulated Electric Distribution Rates  

Retail electric delivery rates are established by the DPU and are comprised of:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

Rate Settlement Agreement  

NSTAR Electric is currently operating under a DPU approved Rate Settlement Agreement (Rate Settlement Agreement) that expires 
December 31, 2012. From 2007 through 2012, the Rate Settlement Agreement establishes for NSTAR Electric, among other things, annual 
inflation-adjusted distribution rate adjustments that are generally offset by an equal and corresponding reduction in transition rates. Refer to the 
“Rate Settlement Agreement” section of the accompanying Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results 
of Operations,” for more details.  

Massachusetts Regulatory Environment  

The Secretary of Energy and Environmental Affairs oversees the Commonwealth Utilities Commission, consisting of three commissioners. The 
Commonwealth Utilities Commission leads the DPU, an agency that has jurisdiction over electric, natural gas, water, and transportation matters. 
Massachusetts has joined the Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative, a multi-state group that supports implementation of programs to reduce the 
production of greenhouse gases by electric power plants.  

In July 2008, the Massachusetts Legislature enacted the Green Communities Act (GCA)-energy policy legislation designed: (1) to substantially 
increase energy efficiency, (2) foster the development of renewable energy resources and (3) provide for a reduction of greenhouse gas 
emissions in Massachusetts. Refer to the “Massachusetts Regulatory Environment” section of the accompanying Item 7, “Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” for more details.  
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•   a distribution charge , which includes a fixed customer charge and a demand and/or energy charge (to collect the costs of building 
and expanding the infrastructure to deliver power to its destination, as well as ongoing operating costs and certain DPU-approved 
safety and reliability programs costs), a Pension and PBOP Rate Adjustment Mechanism (PAM) to recover incremental pension and 
pension benefit costs, a reconciling rate adjustment mechanism to recover costs associated with the residential assistance adjustment 
clause, and an Energy Efficiency Reconciling Factor (EERF) to recover energy efficiency expenditures in addition to those charges 
recovered in the energy conservation charge;  

  

•   a basic service charge represents the collection of energy costs, including costs related to charge-offs of uncollected energy costs, 
through DPU-approved rate mechanisms. Electric distribution companies in Massachusetts are required to obtain and resell power to 
retail customers through Basic Service for those who choose not to buy energy from a competitive energy supplier. Basic Service 
rates are reset every six months (every three months for large commercial and industrial customers). The price of Basic Service is 
intended to reflect the average competitive market price for electric power;  

  
•   a transition charge represents the collection of costs primarily from previously held investments in generating plants and costs 

related to existing above-market power contracts, and contract costs related to long-term power contracts buy-outs;  

  
•   a transmission charge represents the collection of costs of moving the electricity over high voltage lines from generating plants to 

substations located within NSTAR’s service area including costs allocated to NSTAR Electric by ISO-NE to maintain the wholesale 
electric market;  

  
•   an energy conservation charge represents a legislatively-mandated charge to collect costs for demand-side management programs 

and energy efficiency programs; and  

  
•   a renewable energy charge represents a legislatively-mandated charge to collect the costs to support the development and 

promotion of renewable energy projects.  
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Rate Decoupling  

On July 16, 2008, the DPU issued an order to all Massachusetts’ electric and gas distribution utility companies that requires them to develop 
plans to decouple their rates/revenues from sales volumes. This action is intended to encourage utility companies to help their customers reduce 
energy consumption. Decoupling of rates will allow utility companies to carry out the mandates of the GCA and at the same time collect the 
adequate level of revenues to maintain the quality and reliability of electric and gas services. This order allows companies to file for recovery of 
lost base revenues caused by incremental energy efficiency spending until their decoupling rate plans are approved. Once decoupled rate plans 
are approved, revenues will be set at a level designed to recover the utility companies’ incurred costs plus a return on their investment. This 
revenue level will be reconciled with actual revenues received from decoupled rates on an annual basis and any over or under collection will be 
refunded to or recovered from customers in the subsequent year. NSTAR Electric and NSTAR Gas have not yet applied for decoupled rate 
structures. NSTAR Electric currently does not expect to file for fully decoupled electric rates until after the Rate Settlement Agreement expires 
in 2012. However, NSTAR Gas may file prior to that date.  

Sources and Availability of Electric Power Supply  

For Basic Service power supply, NSTAR Electric makes periodic market solicitations consistent with DPU regulations. NSTAR Electric enters 
into short-term power purchase agreements to meet its Basic Service supply obligation, ranging in term from three to twelve months. NSTAR 
Electric fully recovers its payments to suppliers through DPU-approved rates billed to customers.  

The New England Forward Capacity Market (FCM) includes a locational price mechanism to establish separate zones for capacity when 
transmission constraints are found to exist. FCM allows load-serving entities such as NSTAR Electric to self-supply through contracted 
resources to meet its capacity obligations without participating in the Forward Capacity Auctions (FCAs). FCAs are auctions designed to procure 
capacity three or more years into the future with a one-year to five-year commitment period. FCM will begin on June 1, 2010. To date, three 
FCM auctions have taken place covering the 2010-2011, 2011-2012, and 2012-2013 time periods. NSTAR Electric expects these costs to be 
fully recoverable.  

Market and Transmission Regulation  

NSTAR Electric and most other New England electric utilities, generation owners, and marketers are parties to a series of agreements that 
provide for coordinated planning and operation of the region’s generation and transmission facilities and the rules by which they participate in 
the wholesale markets and acquire transmission services. Under these arrangements, ISO-New England, a non-profit corporation whose board of 
directors and staff are independent from all market participants, serves as the regional Transmission Operator (RTO) of the New England 
Transmission System. ISO-New England works to ensure the reliability of the system, administers the independent system operator tariff subject 
to FERC approval, oversees the efficient and competitive functioning of the regional wholesale power market and determines which costs of 
NSTAR’s major transmission facilities are regionalized throughout New England. NSTAR Electric is a New England Transmission Owner 
subject to FERC regulation and is a member of ISO-New England. Refer to the “FERC Transmission ROE” section of the accompanying 
Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, ” for more details.  

Transmission Rates  

Transmission revenues are based on formula rates that are approved by the FERC. Tariffs are set by FERC and primarily include the Regional 
Network Service (RNS) and Local Network Service (LNS) rate schedules. The RNS rate, administered by ISO-NE and billed to all New England 
transmission owners, is reset on June 1 of each year and recovers the revenue requirements associated with transmission facilities that benefit the 
New England  
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region. The LNS rate, which NSTAR Electric administers, is reset annually and recovers the revenue requirements for local transmission 
facilities. The LNS rate calculation recovers total transmission revenue requirements net of revenues received from other sources, thereby 
ensuring that NSTAR Electric recovers all regional and local revenue requirements as prescribed in the tariffs.  

Transmission Capital Improvements  

NSTAR Electric continues to evaluate needs for transmission improvements throughout the NSTAR service area. ISO-New England 
transmission project upgrades maintain transmission system reliability, improve the economic performance of the system, and are fully 
coordinated with other power regions. Over the next five to ten years, ISO-New England transmission projects are expected to enhance the 
region’s ability to support a robust, competitive wholesale power market by reliably moving power from various internal and external sources to 
the region’s load centers.  

Additional transmission plans have been developed to further reduce the dependence on certain generating units needed for reliability and the 
exposure to special load-shedding contingency procedures. At various times, generating units in New England have been in “must-run” 
situations to maintain area reliability. Transmission improvements placed in-service have reduced costs associated with Reliability Must Run 
Agreements and second-contingency and voltage-control payments.  

The lower Southeastern Massachusetts (SEMA) Projects are examples in which transmission improvements have contributed to the reduction of 
energy supply costs; further improvements in lower SEMA will significantly reduce the need to commit generation for second-contingency 
protection. NSTAR Electric’s future lower SEMA Project consists of an expansion and upgrade of existing lines, equipment and substations, and 
construction of a new 22 mile, 345kV transmission line that will cross the Cape Cod Canal. The project is expected to be in-service in late 2012.  

NSTAR Gas  

NSTAR Gas distributes natural gas to approximately 300,000 customers in 51 communities in central and eastern Massachusetts covering 1,067 
square miles and having an aggregate population of 1.2 million. Twenty-five of these communities are also served with electricity by NSTAR 
Electric. Some of the larger communities served by NSTAR Gas include the Hyde Park area of Boston, Cambridge, Dedham, Framingham, New 
Bedford, Plymouth, Somerville, and Worcester.  

NSTAR Gas’ operating revenues and sales percentages by customer class for the years 2009, 2008, and 2007, consisted of the following:  
   

Gas Rates  

NSTAR Gas generates revenues primarily through the sale and/or transportation of natural gas. Gas sales and transportation services are divided 
into two categories: firm, whereby NSTAR Gas must supply gas and/or transportation services to customers on demand; and interruptible, 
whereby NSTAR Gas may, generally during colder months, temporarily discontinue service to high volume commercial and industrial 
customers. Sales and transportation of gas to interruptible customers have no impact on NSTAR Gas’ operating income because a substantial 
portion of the margin for such service is returned to its firm customers as rate reductions.  
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     Revenues ($)     Retail Gas Sales (therms)   
     2009     2008     2007     2009     2008     2007   
Gas Sales and Transportation:               

Residential     62 %    59 %    60 %    43 %    43 %    44 %  
Commercial and Industrial     28 %    27 %    28 %    44 %    46 %    43 %  
Other     5 %    4 %    4 %    6 %    6 %    6 %  

Off-System and Contract sales     5 %    10 %    8 %    7 %    5 %    7 %  
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Retail gas delivery and supply rates are established by the DPU and are comprised of:  
   

   

   

NSTAR Gas purchases financial contracts based on NYMEX natural gas futures in order to reduce cash flow variability associated with the 
purchase price for approximately one-third of its natural gas purchases. This practice attempts to minimize the impact of fluctuations in prices to 
NSTAR’s firm gas customers. These financial contracts do not procure gas supply. All costs incurred or benefits realized when these contracts 
are settled are included in the CGAC.  

Gas Supply, Transportation and Storage  

NSTAR Gas maintains a flexible resource portfolio consisting of natural gas supply contracts, transportation contracts on interstate pipelines, 
market area storage and peaking services.  

NSTAR Gas purchases transportation, storage, and balancing services from Tennessee Gas Pipeline Company and Algonquin Gas Transmission 
Company, as well as other upstream pipelines that bring gas from major producing regions in the U.S., Gulf of Mexico, and Canada to the final 
delivery points in the NSTAR Gas service area. NSTAR Gas purchases all of its natural gas supply from third-party vendors. Most of the 
flowing supplies are purchased under a firm portfolio management contract with a term of one year, which has a maximum quantity of 139,606 
MMBtu/day. NSTAR Gas has one multiple year contract, which is used for the purchase of its 4,500 MMbtu/day of Canadian supplies.  

In addition to the firm transportation and natural gas supplies mentioned above, NSTAR Gas utilizes contracts for underground storage and LNG 
facilities to meet its winter peaking demands. The LNG facilities, described below, are located within NSTAR Gas’ distribution system and are 
used to liquefy and store pipeline gas during the warmer months for vaporization and use during the heating season. During the summer injection 
season, excess pipeline capacity and supplies are used to deliver and store natural gas in market area underground storage facilities located in the 
New York and Pennsylvania region. Stored natural gas is withdrawn during the winter season to supplement flowing pipeline supplies in order to 
meet firm heating demand. NSTAR Gas has firm underground storage contracts and total storage capacity entitlements of approximately 9.3 Bcf. 

A portion of the storage of natural gas supply for NSTAR Gas during the winter heating season is provided by Hopkinton, a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of NSTAR. The facilities consist of an LNG liquefaction and vaporization plant and three above-ground cryogenic storage tanks 
having an aggregate capacity of 3.5 Bcf of liquefied natural gas.  

Based on information currently available regarding projected growth in demand and estimates of availability of future supplies of pipeline 
natural gas, NSTAR Gas believes that its present sources of natural gas supply are adequate to meet existing load and allow for future growth in 
sales.  
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•   a distribution charge consists of a fixed customer charge and a demand and/or energy charge that collects the costs of building and 

expanding the gas infrastructure to deliver gas supply to its customers’ destination. This also includes collection of ongoing operating 
costs;  

  

•   a seasonal cost of gas adjustment clause (CGAC) represents the collection of gas supply costs, pipeline and storage capacity, costs 
related to charge-offs of uncollected energy costs and working capital related costs. The CGAC is reset every six months. In addition, 
NSTAR Gas is required to file interim changes to its CGAC factor when the actual costs of gas supply vary from projections by more 
than 5%; and  

  
•   a local distribution adjustment clause (LDAC) primarily represents the collection of demand-side management costs, 

environmental costs, PAM related costs, and costs associated with the residential assistance adjustment clause. The LDAC is reset 
annually and provides for the recovery of certain costs applicable to both sales and transportation customers.  
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Franchises  

Through their charters, which are unlimited in time, NSTAR Electric and NSTAR Gas have the right to engage in the business of delivering and 
selling electricity and natural gas within their respective service territories, and have powers incidental thereto and are entitled to all the rights 
and privileges of and subject to the duties imposed upon electric and natural gas companies under Massachusetts laws. The locations in public 
ways for electric transmission and distribution lines and gas distribution pipelines are obtained from municipal and other state authorities who, in 
granting these locations, act as agents for the state. In some cases the actions of these authorities are subject to appeal to the DPU. The rights to 
these locations are not limited in time and are subject to the action of these authorities and the legislature. Under Massachusetts law, no other 
entity may provide electric or gas delivery service to retail customers within NSTAR’s service territory without the written consent of NSTAR 
Electric and/or NSTAR Gas. This consent must be filed with the DPU and the municipality so affected.  

Unregulated Operations  

NSTAR’s unregulated operations include telecommunications and liquefied natural gas service. Telecommunications services are provided 
through NSTAR Com, which installs, owns, operates, and maintains a wholesale transport network for other telecommunications service 
providers in the metropolitan Boston area to deliver voice, video, data, and internet services to customers. Revenues earned from NSTAR’s 
unregulated operations accounted for less than 1% of consolidated operating revenues in 2009, 2008, and 2007.  

Discontinued Operations  

On December 21, 2009, NSTAR announced an agreement to sell its wholly-owned subsidiary, MATEP. MATEP provides chilled water, steam, 
and electricity under long-term contracts to several hospitals, medical research and biotechnology centers, and teaching institutions located in 
Boston’s Longwood Medical Area. Revenues earned by MATEP represented approximately 3% of total consolidated revenues in 2009, 2008, 
and 2007. Refer to Note B, “Discontinued Operations,” of the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8, “Financial 
Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K.  

Regulation  

The Energy Policy Act of 2005 established the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 2005 (PUHCA 2005) that transferred certain regulatory 
oversight from the SEC to the FERC. NSTAR has been granted an exemption and waiver from certain provisions of PUHCA 2005.  

NSTAR Gas, NSTAR Electric and NSTAR Electric’s wholly-owned regulated subsidiary, Harbor Electric Energy Company, operate primarily 
under the authority of the DPU, whose jurisdiction includes supervision over retail rates for distribution of electricity, natural gas, and financing 
and investing activities. In addition, the FERC has jurisdiction over various phases of NSTAR Electric and NSTAR Gas utility businesses, 
conditions under which natural gas is sold at wholesale, facilities used for the transmission or sale of that energy, certain issuances of short-term 
debt, and regulation of accounting.  

These companies are also subject to various other state and municipal regulations with respect to environmental, employment, and general 
operating matters.  
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Plant Expenditures and Financings  

The most recent estimates of plant expenditures and long-term debt maturities for 2010 and the years 2011-2014 are as follows:  
   

In the five-year period 2010 through 2014, plant expenditures are forecasted to be used for system reliability and performance improvements, 
customers service enhancements, and capacity expansion in NSTAR’s service territory. Of the $317 million planned electric expenditures for 
2010, approximately $90 million is for transmission system improvements. The amounts stated above exclude expenditures for NSTAR’s 
proposed transmission investment with Northeast Utilities and Hydro-Quebec as these costs will be incurred by an entity that will be created to 
hold those assets (further discussed in the “Proposed Transmission Investment” Section in Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations ).  

Management continuously reviews its capital expenditure and financing programs. These programs and, therefore, the estimates included in this 
Form 10-K are subject to revision due to changes in regulatory requirements, operating requirements, environmental standards, availability and 
cost of capital, interest rates and other assumptions. Refer to the accompanying “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking 
Information” preceding Item 1, “Business” and the “Liquidity, Commitments and Capital Resources” section of Item 7, “Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”  

Seasonal Nature of Business  

NSTAR Electric’s kilowatt-hour sales and revenues are typically higher in the winter and summer than in the spring and fall as sales tend to vary 
with weather conditions. NSTAR Gas’ sales are positively impacted by colder weather because a substantial portion of its customer base uses 
natural gas for space heating purposes. Refer to the accompanying “Selected Quarterly Consolidated Financial Data” section in Item 6, 
“Selected Consolidated Financial Data” for specific financial information by quarter for 2009 and 2008.  

Competitive Conditions  

As a rate regulated distribution and transmission utility company, NSTAR is not subject to a significantly competitive business environment. 
NSTAR Electric and NSTAR Gas have the exclusive right and privilege to engage in the business of delivering energy services within their 
granted territory. Under Massachusetts law, no other entity may provide electric or natural gas delivery service to retail customers within 
NSTAR’s service territory without the written consent of NSTAR Electric and/or NSTAR Gas. Refer to the accompanying “Franchises” section 
of this Item 1 and to Item 1A, “Risk Factors” for a further discussion of NSTAR’s rights and competitive pressures within its service territory.  

Environmental Matters  

NSTAR’s subsidiaries are subject to numerous federal, state and local standards with respect to the management of wastes and other 
environmental considerations. NSTAR subsidiaries face possible liabilities as a result of involvement in several multi-party disposal sites, state-
regulated sites or third party claims associated with contamination remediation. NSTAR generally expects to have only a small percentage of the 
total potential  
   

11  

(in millions)    2010    
2011-
2014 

Plant expenditures:        

Electric     $ 317    $ 1,130 
Gas       53      170 

              

   $ 370    $ 1,300 
              

Long-term debt     $ 684    $ 935 
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liability for the majority of these sites. Noncompliance with certain standards can, in some cases, also result in the imposition of monetary civil 
penalties. Refer to the accompanying “Contingencies -Environmental Matters ” section in Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and to Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Note O, “Commitments and 
Contingencies,” for more information.  

Management believes that its facilities are in substantial compliance with currently applicable statutory and regulatory environmental 
requirements.  

Number of Employees and Employee Relations  

Excluding its discontinued operations subsidiary, MATEP, at December 31, 2009, NSTAR has approximately 3,000 employees, including 
approximately 2,100 who are represented by two labor unions covered by separate collective bargaining contracts.  

Substantially all management, engineering, finance and support services are provided to the operating subsidiaries of NSTAR by NSTAR 
Electric & Gas. NSTAR has the following labor union contracts:  
   

Management is currently in negotiations with Local 12004 regarding a new contract. Management believes it has satisfactory relations with its 
employees.  

On December 21, 2009, NSTAR announced an agreement to sell its wholly-owned subsidiary, MATEP. MATEP has approximately 85 
employees of whom 59 are represented by Local 877 of the International Union of Operating Engineers (AFL-CIO).  

(d) Financial Information about Geographic Areas  

NSTAR is a holding company engaged through its subsidiaries in the energy delivery business in Massachusetts. None of NSTAR’s subsidiaries 
have any foreign operations or export sales.  

(e) Available Information  

NSTAR files its Forms 10-K, 10-Q, and 8-K reports, proxy statements, and other information with the SEC. You may access materials free of 
charge NSTAR has filed with the SEC on NSTAR’s website at: www.nstar.com : Select “Investor Relations” and “Financial Information” or on 
the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov . Copies of NSTAR’s SEC filings may also be obtained free of charge by writing to NSTAR’s Investor 
Relations Department at the address on the cover of this Form 10-K or by calling 781-441-8338.  

In addition, NSTAR’s Board of Trustees has several committees, including an Audit, Finance and Risk Management Committee, an Executive 
Personnel Committee and a Board Governance and Nominating Committee. The Board of Trustees also has a standing Executive Committee. 
The Board of Trustees has adopted the NSTAR Board of Trustees Guidelines on Significant Corporate Governance Issues, a Code of Ethics for 
the Principal Executive Officer, General Counsel, and Senior Financial Officers pursuant to Section 406 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and 
a Code of Ethics and Business Conduct for Trustees, Officers and Employees  
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Union    

Percent of Union to Total 
 

NSTAR Employees   Supports    

Contract Expiration 
 

Date 

Local 369 of the Utility Workers of America (AFL-CIO)     61%   Utility Operations    June 1, 2012 
Local 12004 of the United Steelworkers of America     8%   Utility Operations    March 31, 2010 
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(“Code of Conduct”). NSTAR intends to disclose any amendment to, and any waiver from, a provision of the Code of Ethics that applies to the 
Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer or any other executive officer and that relates to any element of the Code of Ethics definition 
enumerated in Item 406(b) of Regulation S-K, in a press release, on our website or on Form 8-K, within four business days following the date of 
such amendment or waiver. NSTAR’s Corporate Governance documents, including charters, guidelines and codes, and any amendments to such 
charters, guidelines and codes that are applicable to NSTAR’s executive officers, senior financial officers or trustees can be accessed free of 
charge on NSTAR’s website at: www.nstar.com : Select “Investor Relations” and “Company Information.”  

The certifications of NSTAR’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Sections 302 and 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 
of 2002 are attached to this Annual Report on Form 10-K as Exhibits 31.1, 31.2, 32.1, and 32.2.  

   

Our future performance is subject to a variety of risks, including those described below. If any of the following risks actually occur, our business 
could be harmed and the market price of our common shares could decline. In addition to the other information in this Annual Report on Form 
10-K, shareholders or prospective investors should carefully consider the following risk factors.  

Our electric and gas operations are highly regulated, and any adverse regulatory changes could have a significant impact on the Company’s 
results of operations and its financial position.  

NSTAR’s electric and gas operations, including the rates charged, are regulated by the FERC and the DPU. In addition, NSTAR’s accounting 
policies are prescribed by GAAP, the FERC, and the DPU. Adverse regulatory changes could have a significant impact on the Company’s 
results of operations and its financial condition.  

Potential municipalization or technological developments may adversely affect our regulated electricity and natural gas businesses.  

Under Massachusetts law, no other entity may provide electric or gas delivery service to retail customers within NSTAR’s service territory 
without the written consent of NSTAR Electric and/or NSTAR Gas. Although not a trend, NSTAR’s operating utility companies could be 
exposed to municipalization risk, whereby a municipality could acquire the electric or natural gas delivery assets located in that city or town and 
take over the customer delivery service, thereby reducing NSTAR’s revenues. Any such action would require numerous legal and regulatory 
consents and approvals. Municipalization would require that NSTAR be compensated for its assets assumed. In addition, there is also the risk 
that technological developments could lead to distributed generation among NSTAR’s customer base reducing such customers’ use of NSTAR’s 
utility system.  

Changes in environmental laws and regulations affecting our business could increase our costs or curtail our activities.  

NSTAR and its subsidiaries are subject to a number of environmental laws and regulations that are currently in effect, including those related to 
the handling, disposal, and treatment of hazardous materials. Changes in compliance requirements or the interpretation by governmental 
authorities of existing requirements may impose additional costs, all of which could have an adverse impact on NSTAR’s results of operations.  

The Company may be required to conduct environmental remediation activities for power generating sites and other potentially unidentified 
sites.  

NSTAR is subject to actual or potential claims and lawsuits involving environmental remediation activities for power generating sites previously 
owned and other potentially unidentified sites. NSTAR divested all of its regulated generating assets under terms that generally require the buyer 
to assume all responsibility  
for past and present environmental harm. Based on NSTAR’s current assessment of its environmental  
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responsibilities, existing legal requirements and regulatory policies, NSTAR does not believe that its known environmental remediation 
responsibilities will have a material adverse effect on NSTAR’s results of operations, cash flows or financial position. However, discovery of 
currently unknown conditions at existing sites, identification of additional waste sites or changes in environmental regulation, could have a 
material adverse impact on NSTAR’s results of operations, cash flows or financial position.  

NSTAR is subject to operational risk that could cause us to incur substantial costs and liabilities.  

Our business, which involves the transmission and distribution of natural gas and electricity that is used as an energy source by our customers, is 
subject to various operational risks, including incidents that expose the Company to potential claims for property damages or personal injuries 
beyond the scope of NSTAR’s insurance coverage, and equipment failures that could result in performance below assumed levels. For example, 
operational performance below established target benchmark levels could cause NSTAR to incur penalties imposed by the DPU, up to a 
maximum of two and one-half percent of transmission and distribution revenues, under applicable Service Quality Indicators.  

Increases in interest rates due to financial market conditions or changes in our credit ratings, could have an adverse impact on our access to 
capital markets at favorable rates, or at all, and could otherwise increase our costs of doing business.  

NSTAR frequently accesses the capital markets to finance its working capital requirements, capital expenditures and to meet its long-term debt 
maturity obligations. Increased interest rates, or adverse changes in our credit ratings or further deterioration in the credit markets, would 
increase our cost of borrowing and other costs that could have an adverse impact on our results of operations and cash flows and ultimately have 
an adverse impact on the market price of our common shares. In addition, an adverse change in our credit ratings could increase borrowing costs, 
trigger requirements that we obtain additional security for performance, such as a letter of credit, related to our energy procurement agreements. 
Refer to the accompanying Item 7A, “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk,” for a further discussion.  

Our electric and gas businesses are sensitive to variations in weather and have seasonal variations. In addition, severe storm-related disasters 
could adversely affect the Company.  

Sales of electricity and natural gas to residential and commercial customers are influenced by temperature fluctuations. Significant fluctuations 
in heating or cooling degree days could have a material impact on energy sales for any given period. In addition, extremely severe storms, such 
as hurricanes and ice storms, could cause damage to our facilities that may require additional costs to repair and have a material adverse impact 
on the Company’s results of operations, cash flows or financial position. To the extent possible, NSTAR’s rate regulated subsidiaries would seek 
recovery of these costs through the regulatory process.  

An economic downturn, increased costs of energy supply, and customers’ conservation efforts could adversely affect energy consumption 
and could adversely affect our results of operations.  

Energy consumption is significantly impacted by the general level of economic activity and cost of energy supply. Economic downturns or 
periods of high energy supply costs typically lead to reductions in energy consumption and increased conservation measures. These conditions 
could adversely impact the level of energy sales and result in less demand for energy delivery. A recession or a prolonged lag of a subsequent 
recovery could have an adverse effect on NSTAR’s results of operations, cash flows or financial position.  

The ability of NSTAR to maintain future cash dividends at the level currently paid to shareholders is dependent upon the ability of its 
subsidiaries to pay dividends to NSTAR.  

As a holding company, NSTAR does not have any operating activity and therefore is substantially dependent on dividends from its subsidiaries 
and from external borrowings at variable rates of interest to provide the cash  
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necessary for repayment of debt obligations, to pay administrative costs, to meet contractual obligations that may not be met by our subsidiaries 
and to pay common share dividends to NSTAR’s shareholders. Regulatory and other legal restrictions may limit our ability to transfer funds 
freely, either to or from our subsidiaries. These laws and regulations may hinder our ability to access funds that we may need to make payments 
on our obligations. As the Holding company’s sources of cash are limited to dividends from its subsidiaries and external borrowings, the ability 
to maintain future cash dividends at the level currently paid to shareholders will be dependent upon cash flows of NSTAR’s subsidiaries.  

NSTAR’s subsidiaries do have certain limitations that could impact the payment of dividends to the Holding company. Refer to the “Sources of 
Additional Capital and Financial Covenant Requirements” section of the accompanying Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” for more information.  

Our electric and gas operations may be impacted if generation supply or its transportation or transmission availability is limited or 
unreliable.  

Our electric and natural gas delivery businesses are reliant on transportation and transmission facilities that we do not own or control. Our ability 
to provide energy delivery services depends on the operations and facilities of third parties, including the independent system operator, electric 
generators that supply our customers’ energy requirements and natural gas pipeline operators from which we receive delivery of our natural gas 
supply. Should our ability to receive electric or natural gas supply be disrupted due either to operational issues or to inadequacy of transmission 
capacity, it could impact our ability to serve our customers. It could also force us to secure alternative supply at significantly higher costs.  

Financial market performance and other changes may decrease the Company’s pension and postretirement benefit plans’ assets and could 
require additional funding beyond historic levels.  

A sustained decline in the global financial markets may have a material adverse effect on the value of our pension and postretirement benefit 
plans’ assets. This situation may increase our benefit plans’ funding requirements.  

   

None  

   

NSTAR Electric properties include an integrated system of transmission and distribution lines and substations, an interest in a jointly owned 
administration office building and other structures such as garages and service centers that are located in eastern Massachusetts. NSTAR’s high-
voltage transmission lines are generally located on land either owned or subject to perpetual and exclusive easements in its favor. Its low-voltage 
distribution lines are located principally on public property under permits granted by municipal and other state authorities.  

At December 31, 2009, NSTAR Electric’s primary and secondary transmission and distribution system consisted of approximately 21,980 circuit 
miles of overhead lines, approximately 13,020 circuit miles of underground lines, 256 substation facilities and approximately 1,173,500 active 
customer meters.  

NSTAR Gas’ principal natural gas properties consist of distribution mains, services and meters necessary to maintain reliable service to 
customers. In addition, it shares an interest in a jointly owned administration office and service building, three district office buildings and owns 
several natural gas receiving and take stations. As of December 31, 2009, the gas system included approximately 3,130 miles of gas distribution 
lines, approximately 188,800 services and approximately 277,900 customer meters together with the necessary  
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measuring and regulating equipment. In addition, Hopkinton owns a liquefaction and vaporization plant, a satellite vaporization plant and above 
ground cryogenic storage tanks having an aggregate storage capacity equivalent to 3.5 Bcf of natural gas.  

NSTAR Com owns approximately 240 miles of fiber optic network that represents approximately 79,000 fiber miles of network.  

Assets of discontinued operations held for sale primarily consist of district energy operations, a cogeneration facility located in the Longwood 
Medical Area of Boston. MATEP provides steam, chilled water and electricity to over 9 million square feet of medical and teaching facilities. 
NSTAR anticipates the final sale of MATEP towards the end of the first quarter or early second quarter of 2010.  

   

In the normal course of its business, NSTAR and its subsidiaries are involved in certain legal matters, including civil litigation. Management is 
unable to fully determine a range of reasonably possible court-ordered damages, settlement amounts, and related litigation costs (legal liabilities) 
that would be in excess of amounts accrued and amounts covered by insurance. Based on the information currently available, NSTAR does not 
believe that it is probable that any such legal liabilities will have a material impact on its consolidated financial position. However, it is 
reasonably possible that additional legal liabilities that may result from changes in circumstances could have a material impact on its results of 
operations, financial condition and cash flows.  

   

There were no matters submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 2009.  

   

Identification of Executive Officers  
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings 

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders 

Item 4A. Executive Officers of Registrant 

Name of Officer    Position and Business Experience     

Years in 

 
Current 

 
Position    

Years as  
an Officer    

Age at  
December 31, 2009 

Thomas J. May  
   

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer and an 
NSTAR Trustee    15    23    62 

James J. Judge     Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer    14    14    53 

Douglas S. Horan  
   

Senior Vice President - Strategy, Law and Policy, 
Secretary and General Counsel    14    14    60 

Joseph R. Nolan, Jr.     Senior Vice President - Customer & Corporate Relations    9    9    46 

Werner J. Schweiger     Senior Vice President - Operations    8    8    50 

Christine M. Carmody  

   

Senior Vice President - Human Resources Previously 
Vice President of Organizational Effectiveness for 2 years 
and Director, Learning and Performance for 3 years    2    2    46 

Robert J. Weafer, Jr.     Vice President, Controller and Chief Accounting Officer    21    21    62 
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PART II  
   

(a) Market Information and (c) Dividends  

The NSTAR Common Shares, $1 par value, are listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “NST.” NSTAR’s Common Shares 
closing market prices at December 31, 2009 and 2008 were $36.80 and $36.49 per share, respectively.  

The NSTAR Common Shares high and low market prices per common share as reported by the New York Stock Exchange composite 
transaction reporting system and dividends declared per common share for each of the quarters in 2009 and 2008 were as follows:  
   

NSTAR paid common share dividends to shareholders of $160.2 million and $149.5 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively.  

(b) Holders  

As of December 31, 2009, there were 19,566 registered holders of NSTAR Common Shares.  

(d) Securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans  

The following table provides information about NSTAR’s equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2009.  
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Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 

     2009    2008 

       Market Prices    Dividends 
Declared 

   Market Prices    Dividends 
Declared        High    Low       High    Low    

First quarter     $ 36.80    $ 27.49    $ 0.375    $ 36.70    $ 29.36    $ 0.350 
Second quarter     $ 34.68    $ 28.54    $ 0.375    $ 35.36    $ 30.41    $ 0.350 
Third quarter     $ 32.91    $ 30.10    $ 0.375    $ 40.00    $ 31.17    $ 0.350 
Fourth quarter     $ 37.75    $ 30.76    $ 0.400    $ 36.94    $ 25.67    $ 0.375 

Plan Category    

Number of securities 
 

to be issued upon  
exercise of  

outstanding options, 
 

warrants and rights     

Weighted average  
exercise price of  

outstanding options, 
 

warrants and rights     

Number of  
securities remaining 

 
available for  

future issuance  
under equity  

compensation plans 

Equity compensation plans approved by shareholders     2,855,535     $ 29.63     1,928,263 
Equity compensation plans not approved by 

shareholders     N/A        N/A      N/A 
     

  
      

  
    

Total     2,855,535      $ 29.63      1,928,263 
     

  

      

  

    

  
(1) Includes 2,454,367 common shares to be issued upon the exercise of options and 401,168 common shares for distribution of deferred 

shares and performance units pursuant to the terms of our Incentive Plan 
(2) The weighted-average exercise price in Column (b) does not take into account deferred shares or performance units, which have no 

exercise price. 

(1) (2) 
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The NSTAR 2007 Long Term Incentive Plan (the 2007 Plan) permits a variety of stock and stock-based awards, including stock options, 
deferred stock awards, and performance share units granted to key employees. The aggregate number of common shares that are available for 
award under the 2007 Plan is 3.5 million. The Plan limits the terms of awards to ten years and prohibits the granting of awards beyond ten years 
after its effective date. In general, stock options and stock awards vest over a three-year period from date of grants. The Executive Personnel 
Committee (EPC) of the Board of Trustees approves stock-based awards for all executives and other key employees. However, the Chief 
Executive Officer’s (CEO) award must also be approved by the independent members of the Board of Trustees. The EPC and Board of Trustees 
established that the date of grant for annual stock-based awards under the Plan is the date each year on which the Board of Trustees approves the 
CEO’s stock award. This date is when all participants are notified of their awards. Options are granted at the full market price of the common 
shares on the date of grant.  

(e) Purchases of equity securities  

Common Shares of NSTAR issued under the NSTAR Dividend Reinvestment and Direct Common Shares Purchase Plan, the Long Term 
Incentive Plan and the NSTAR Savings Plan may consist of newly issued shares from the Company or shares purchased in the open market by 
the Company or an independent agent. During the three-month period ended December 31, 2009, the shares listed below were acquired in the 
open market.  
   

(f) Stock Performance Graphs  

The following Stock Performance Graphs and related information shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or “as filed” with the SEC, nor shall 
such information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or Securities Exchange Act of 1934, each 
as amended, except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates it by reference into such filing.  
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   Total Number of 

 
Common Shares 

 
Purchased 

   

Average Price 
Paid Per Share 

      

      

October     114,429    $ 31.36 
November     128,765    $ 31.20 
December     31,014    $ 35.86 

        

Total Fourth Quarter     274,208    $ 31.79 
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The stock performance graph presentations set forth below compare cumulative five-year and ten-year shareholder returns with the Standard & 
Poor’s 500 Index (S&P 500) and the Edison Electric Institute Index (EEI Index), a recognized industry index of 58 investor-owned utility 
companies. Pursuant to the SEC’s regulations, the graphs below depict the investment of $100 at the commencement of the measurement 
periods, with dividends reinvested.  

Five-Year Performance Graph  

  

Ten-Year Performance Graph  
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The following table summarizes five years of selected consolidated financial data.  
   

Selected Quarterly Consolidated Financial Data (Unaudited) (a)  
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Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data 

(in thousands, except per share data)   2009   2008   2007   2006   2005 

Operating revenues (a)    $ 3,050,044   $ 3,208,321   $ 3,136,085   $ 3,441,505   $ 3,135,219 

Net income: from continuing operations (b)    $ 244,015   $ 225,996   $ 213,056   $ 191,917   $ 192,209 
Net income: from discontinued operations    $ 9,233   $ 11,551   $ 8,459   $ 14,857   $ 3,926 

                              

Net income: attributable to common shareholders    $ 253,248   $ 237,547   $ 221,515   $ 206,774   $ 196,135 
Per common share:            

Basic earnings -            

Continuing operations    $ 2.28   $ 2.11   $ 1.99   $ 1.80   $ 1.80 
Discontinued operations      0.09     0.11     0.08     0.14     0.04 

                              

Total earnings    $ 2.37   $ 2.22   $ 2.07   $ 1.94   $ 1.84 
Diluted earnings -            

Continuing operations    $ 2.28   $ 2.11   $ 1.99   $ 1.79   $ 1.79 
Discontinued operations      0.09     0.11     0.08     0.14     0.04 

                              

Total earnings    $ 2.37   $ 2.22   $ 2.07   $ 1.93   $ 1.83 
Cash dividends declared (c)    $ 1.525   $ 1.425   $ 1.325   $ 1.535   $ 0.87 

Assets from continuing operations    $ 7,976,929   $ 8,093,996   $ 7,588,570   $ 7,602,680   $ 7,480,285 
Assets held for sale    $ 167,857   $ 175,493   $ 170,975   $ 166,715   $ 158,047 
Long-term debt (a)(d)    $ 1,754,236   $ 1,928,708   $ 1,929,348   $ 1,631,474   $ 1,518,651 
Transition property securitization (d)    $ 212,205   $ 331,209   $ 483,961   $ 637,217   $ 787,966 
Preferred stock of subsidiary    $ 43,000   $ 43,000   $ 43,000   $ 43,000   $ 43,000 
  
(a) On December 21, 2009, NSTAR announced the sale of its wholly-owned subsidiary, MATEP. The assets of MATEP were considered to 

be held for sale as of December 21, 2009 and the subsidiary operations were classified as discontinued operations. Operating revenues and 
long-term debt amounts of MATEP have been excluded from the selected financial data presented. 

(b) Includes impact of preferred stock dividends of subsidiary to the noncontrolling interest 
(c) As a result of a change in NSTAR’s Board of Trustees’  meetings schedule in 2005, the fourth quarter dividend that typically would have 

been declared in December 2005, was approved on January 26, 2006 at $0.3025 per share, and therefore dividends declared during 2006 
include the fourth quarter of 2005. The dividend payment schedule remained unchanged. 

(d) Excludes the current portion and debt obligation related to discontinued operations. 

(in thousands, except earnings per share)                          

       Operating  
Revenues (c) 

   Operating  
Income (c) 

   Net  
Income (d) 

   Earnings Per Share (b) 
                  Basic            Diluted     

2009                 

First quarter     $ 908,638    $ 123,971    $ 61,036    $ 0.57    $ 0.57 
Second quarter     $ 683,235    $ 114,495    $ 56,934    $ 0.53    $ 0.53 
Third quarter     $ 745,626    $ 170,226    $ 87,638    $ 0.82    $ 0.82 
Fourth quarter     $ 712,545    $ 107,410    $ 47,640    $ 0.45    $ 0.45 

2008                 

First quarter     $ 857,366    $ 122,081    $ 59,236    $ 0.55    $ 0.55 
Second quarter     $ 711,774    $ 113,475    $ 50,369    $ 0.47    $ 0.47 
Third quarter     $ 857,709    $ 170,949    $ 85,820    $ 0.80    $ 0.80 
Fourth quarter     $ 781,472    $ 98,624    $ 42,122    $ 0.39    $ 0.39 
  
(a) This information has been provided in accordance with Regulation S-K, Item 302(a). 

(b) The sum of the quarters may not equal annual basic and diluted earnings per share due to rounding. 
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Overview  

NSTAR (or the Company) is a holding company engaged through its subsidiaries in the energy delivery business serving approximately 
1.4 million customers in Massachusetts, including approximately 1.1 million electric distribution customers in 81 communities and 
approximately 300,000 natural gas distribution customers in 51 communities. NSTAR’s retail electric transmission and distribution utility 
subsidiaries are NSTAR Electric and NSTAR Gas, respectively. Harbor Electric Energy Company, a wholly-owned subsidiary of NSTAR 
Electric, provides distribution service and ongoing support to its only customer, the Massachusetts Water Resources Authority. NSTAR’s 
nonutility, unregulated operations include telecommunications operations (NSTAR Com) and a liquefied natural gas service company 
(Hopkinton). Utility operations accounted for approximately 99% of consolidated operating revenues of continuing operations in 2009, 2008, 
and 2007.  

NSTAR consolidates three wholly-owned special purpose subsidiaries, BEC Funding LLC, BEC Funding II, LLC and CEC Funding, LLC. 
These entities were created to complete the sale of electric rate reduction certificates to a special purpose trust created by two Massachusetts 
state agencies. These financing transactions securitized the costs incurred related to the divestiture of generation assets and long-term power 
contracts.  

NSTAR derives its operating revenues primarily from the sale of energy, distribution, transmission, and energy efficiency services to customers. 
NSTAR’s earnings are impacted by fluctuations in unit sales of electric kWh and natural gas MMbtu, which have an effect on the level of 
distribution and transmission revenues recognized. In accordance with the regulatory rate structure in which NSTAR operates, its recovery of 
energy costs are fully reconciled with the level of energy revenues currently recorded and, therefore, do not have an impact on earnings. As a 
result of this rate structure, any variability in the cost of energy supply purchased will have an impact on purchased power and transmission and 
cost of gas sold expenses, but will not affect the Company’s net income as the Company recognizes a corresponding change in revenues.  

Discontinued Operations  

On December 21, 2009, NSTAR announced an agreement to sell its wholly-owned subsidiary, Medical Area Total Energy Plant, Inc. (MATEP). 
MATEP provides steam, chilled water service, and electricity under long-term contracts to several hospitals, medical research and biotechnology 
centers, and teaching institutions in the Longwood Medical Area of Boston. The sale is at a price of approximately $320 million in cash and is 
subject to certain federal and local regulatory approvals. The purchase price is subject to certain closing adjustments related to changes in 
working capital, interest, and other adjustments. In connection with the sale, NSTAR will retire MATEP’s debt.  

MATEP’s principal asset is a cogeneration plant that produces electricity, steam and chilled water, and a distribution system that delivers these 
products to its customers. MATEP has approximately 85 employees.  

The sale is expected to close towards the end of the first quarter or early part of the second quarter of 2010. Net proceeds from the transaction are 
anticipated to be used to reduce NSTAR’s capitalization.  

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates  

NSTAR’s discussion and analysis of its financial condition, results of operations and cash flows are based on the accompanying Consolidated 
Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The  
   

21  

(c) On December 21, 2009, NSTAR announced an agreement to sell its wholly-owned subsidiary, MATEP. The results of operations of 
MATEP have been classified as discontinued operations as of December 31, 2009. Operating revenues and Operating income attributable 
to MATEP have been excluded from the selected data presented. 

(d) Net income attributable to common shareholders. 

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (MD&A) 
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preparation of these Consolidated Financial Statements required management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amount 
of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.  

Critical accounting policies and estimates are defined as those that require significant judgment and uncertainties, and potentially may result in 
materially different outcomes under different assumptions and conditions. The accounting policies and estimates that are most critical to the 
reported results of operations, cash flows and financial position are described below.  

a. Revenue Recognition  

Electric and gas revenues are based on rates approved by the DPU and the FERC. Revenues related to the sale, transmission and distribution of 
energy delivery service are generally recorded when service is rendered or energy is delivered to customers. However, the determination of the 
sales to individual customers is based on systematic meter readings throughout a month. Meters that are not read during a given month are 
estimated and trued-up to actual use in a future period. At the end of each month, aggregate amounts of energy delivered to customers since the 
date of their last meter reading are estimated and the corresponding unbilled revenue is recorded. Unbilled electric revenue is estimated each 
month based on daily territory load (customer energy requirements), estimated line losses and applicable customer rates. Unbilled natural gas 
revenues are estimated based on estimated purchased gas volumes, estimated gas losses and applicable customer rates. Accrued unbilled 
revenues recorded in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 were $67 million and $62 million, 
respectively.  

The level of revenues is subject to seasonal weather conditions. Electric sales volumes are typically higher in the winter and summer than in the 
spring or fall. Gas sales volumes are impacted by colder weather since a substantial portion of NSTAR Gas’ customer base uses natural gas for 
heating purposes. As a result, NSTAR records a higher level of revenue during the seasonal periods mentioned above.  

NSTAR’s nonutility revenues are recognized when services are rendered. Revenues are based, for the most part, on long-term contractual rates.  

b. Regulatory Accounting  

NSTAR follows accounting policies prescribed by GAAP, the FERC, and the DPU. In addition, NSTAR and its subsidiaries are subject to the 
accounting and reporting requirements of the SEC. As rate-regulated companies, NSTAR’s utility subsidiaries are subject to the application of an 
accounting standard for rate-regulated entities, ASC 980, Regulated Operations , that considers the effects of regulation resulting from 
differences in the timing of their recognition of certain revenues and expenses from those of other businesses and industries. NSTAR’s 
distribution and transmission businesses are subject to rate-regulation that is based on cost recovery and meets the criteria for application of ASC 
980. This ratemaking process results in the recording of regulatory assets or a regulatory liability (including cost of removal) based on the 
probability of current and future cash flows. Regulatory assets represent incurred or accrued costs that have been deferred because they are 
probable of future recovery from customers. Regulatory liabilities may represent collections from customers that have been deferred because 
they will be expended in the future or they may relate to the future cost of removal of assets. (Refer to the accompanying “Asset Retirement 
Obligations and Cost of Removal” section of Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations.” ) As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, NSTAR has recorded regulatory assets of $2.6 billion and $2.9 billion, and regulatory 
liabilities of $270 million and $265 million, respectively. NSTAR continuously reviews these regulatory assets to assess their ultimate 
recoverability within the approved regulatory guidelines. NSTAR expects to fully recover these regulatory assets in its rates. If future recovery 
of any deferred costs ceases to be probable, NSTAR would be required to charge such deferred amounts to earnings. Impairment risk associated 
with these assets relates to potentially adverse legislative, judicial or regulatory actions in the future.  
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c. Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits  

NSTAR’s annual pension and other postretirement benefits costs are dependent upon several factors and assumptions, such as but not limited to, 
employee demographics, plan design, the level of cash contributions made to the plans, the discount rate, the expected long-term rate of return 
on the plans’ assets and health care cost trends.  

Changes in pension and PBOP assets and liabilities associated with these factors are not immediately recognized as pension and PBOP costs in 
the statements of income, but generally are recognized in future years over the remaining average service period of the plans’ participants. 
However, these factors could have a significant impact on pension and postretirement assets or liabilities recognized.  

NSTAR’s Pension Plan and PBOP Plan assets, which partially consist of equity investments, have been affected by recent trends in the overall 
global equity markets. Fluctuations in the fair value of the Pension Plan and PBOP Plan assets impact the funded status, accounting costs, and 
cash funding requirements of these Plans. The earnings impact of increased Pension and PBOP costs is substantially mitigated by NSTAR’s 
DPU-approved pension and PBOP rate adjustment mechanism. Under the PAM, NSTAR recovers its pension and PBOP expense through a 
reconciling rate mechanism. The PAM removes the volatility in earnings that could result from fluctuations in market conditions and plan 
experience.  

There were no significant changes to NSTAR’s pension and PBOP benefits in 2009, 2008, and 2007. As further described in Note H , “Pension 
and Other Postretirement Benefits,” in the accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, NSTAR’s discount rate for the 
Pension Plan obligation was 5.85% and 6.25% at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. NSTAR’s discount rate for the PBOP obligation 
was 6.00% and 6.10% at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. These discount rates align with market conditions and the anticipated cash 
flow characteristics of NSTAR’s pension and PBOP obligations. The expected long-term rate of return on both pension plan and PBOP assets 
for 2009 remained at 9.0%, the same as 2008 and 2007. Changes in these assumptions have an impact on reported pension and PBOP costs and 
obligations.  

The following table reflects the projected benefit obligation and cost sensitivities associated with a change in certain actuarial assumptions by the 
indicated percentage for continuing operations. Each sensitivity below reflects an evaluation of the change based solely on a change in that 
assumption.  
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(in thousands)                   

Actuarial Assumption 

   
Change in  

Assumption 

   
Impact on  

Projected Benefit  
Obligation  

Increase/(Decrease)   

  
Impact on 2009 Cost 

 
Increase/(Decrease)           

        

Pension:          

Increase in discount rate     50 basis points    $ (61,772 )    $ (6,060 )  
Decrease in discount rate     50 basis points    $ 61,138     $ 5,427   
Increase in expected long-term rate of return on plan assets     50 basis points      N/A      $ (3,481 )  
Decrease in expected long-term rate of return on plan assets     50 basis points      N/A      $ 3,481   

Actuarial Assumption                   

Other Postretirement Benefits:          

Increase in discount rate     50 basis points    $ (42,144 )    $ (3,032 )  
Decrease in discount rate     50 basis points    $ 47,057     $ 3,436   
Increase in expected long-term rate of return on plan assets     50 basis points      N/A      $ (1,063 )  
Decrease in expected long-term rate of return on plan assets     50 basis points      N/A      $ 1,063   
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Management evaluates the appropriateness of the discount rate through the modeling of a bond portfolio that approximates the Plan liabilities. In 
determining the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets, NSTAR considers past performance and economic forecasts for the types of 
investments held by the Plan as well as the target allocation for the investments over a long-term period. The expected long-term rate of return 
on Plan assets could vary from actual year-to-year returns. The target allocation for investments may vary from the actual allocation at any 
particular time. During 2009, NSTAR contributed $125 million to the Pension Plans and $30 million to the PBOP Plan. In 2010 NSTAR expects 
to contribute $25 million to the Pension Plan and $35 million to the PBOP Plan.  

The Pension Protection Act of 2006 (the PPA) generally requires employers with defined-benefit pension plans to make minimum contributions 
to fund any shortfall between the assets and liabilities of the plan (as defined by the PPA) over a period of seven years. On December 23, 2008, 
the Worker, Retiree and Employer Recovery Act of 2008 (WRERA) was enacted, providing relief to single employer pension plans with respect 
to contribution requirements for the 2009 and 2010 plan years. The Company is in compliance with the funding requirements of PPA and 
WRERA as of December 31, 2009.  

d. Uncertain Tax Positions  

Accounting for uncertain tax positions requires management to use judgment in assessing the potential exposure from tax positions taken that 
may be challenged by taxing authorities. Management is required to assess the possibility of alternative outcomes based upon all facts available 
at the reporting date. These estimates could differ significantly from the ultimate outcome. For additional information on uncertain tax positions 
and estimates used therein, refer to “Income Tax Matters” included in this section of this MD&A.  

Investments in Yankee Companies  

NSTAR Electric has an equity ownership of 14% in Connecticut Yankee Atomic Power Company (CY), 14% in Yankee Atomic Electric 
Company (YA), and 4% in Maine Yankee Atomic Power Company (MY), (collectively, the Yankee Companies). CY, YA, and MY plant sites 
have been decommissioned in accordance with NRC procedures. Amended licenses continue to apply to the ISFSI’s where spent nuclear fuel is 
stored at these sites. CY, YA, and MY remain responsible for the security and protection of the ISFSI and are required to maintain radiation 
monitoring programs at the sites.  

Yankee Companies Spent Fuel Litigation  

In October 2006, the U.S. Court of Federal Claims issued a judgment in a spent nuclear fuel litigation, in the amounts of $34.2 million, $32.9 
million, and $75.8 million for CY, YA, and MY, respectively. This judgment in favor of these Yankee Companies relates to the alleged failure of 
the Department of Energy (DOE) to provide for a permanent facility to store spent nuclear fuel for years prior to 2001 for CY and YA, and prior 
to 2002 for MY (DOE Phase I Damages). NSTAR Electric’s portion of the Phase I judgments amounts to $4.8 million, $4.6 million, and $3 
million, respectively. On July 1, 2009, the Yankee Companies filed for additional damages related to the alleged failure of the DOE to provide 
for a permanent facility to store spent nuclear fuel for the years from January 2002 through December 2008 for CY and YA, and from January 
2003 through December 2008 for MY (DOE Phase II Damages). This phase of the spent nuclear fuel litigation specifies damages in the amounts 
of $135.4 million, $86.1 million, and $43 million for CY, YA, and MY, respectively. Claim amounts applicable to NSTAR Electric are $19 
million, $12 million, and $1.7 million, respectively.  

NSTAR cannot predict the ultimate outcome of these pending decisions for trial, appeal or the potential subsequent complaints. However, should 
the Yankee Companies ultimately prevail, NSTAR Electric’s share of the proceeds received would be refunded to its customers.  

The accounting for decommissioning costs of nuclear power plants involves significant estimates related to costs to be incurred many years in 
the future. Changes in these estimates will not affect NSTAR’s results of operations or cash flows because these costs will be collected from 
customers through NSTAR Electric’s transition charge filings with the DPU.  
   

24  

WPD-6 
Screening Data Part 1 of 2 
Page 9122 of 9808



Table of Contents  

Derivative Instruments  

Energy Contracts  

NSTAR has determined that its electricity supply contracts qualify for, and NSTAR has elected, the normal purchases and sales exception. As a 
result, these agreements are not reflected on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. NSTAR has only one significant gas supply 
contract. This contract is essentially an all-requirements portfolio asset management contract that expires in October 2011. This contract contains 
market based pricing terms and, therefore, no financial statement adjustments to mark the contracts to market are required. Gas supply costs 
incurred related to the gas asset management contract were approximately $177 million, $259 million, and $224 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively, and have been recorded to Cost of gas sold on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of 
Income. Refer to the accompanying Item 7A “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” for a further discussion.  

Gas Hedging Agreements  

In accordance with a DPU order, NSTAR Gas purchases financial contracts based upon NYMEX natural gas futures in order to reduce cash flow 
variability associated with the purchase price for approximately one-third of its natural gas purchases. This practice attempts to minimize the 
impact of fluctuations in prices to NSTAR’s firm gas customers. These financial contracts do not procure gas supply. These contracts qualify as 
derivative financial instruments. Accordingly, the fair value of these instruments is recognized on the accompanying Consolidated Balance 
Sheets as an asset or liability representing amounts due from or payable to the counterparties of NSTAR Gas, as if such contracts were settled as 
of the balance sheet date. All actual costs incurred or benefits realized are included in the CGAC of NSTAR Gas. As a result, NSTAR Gas 
records an offsetting regulatory asset or liability for the market price changes, in lieu of recording an adjustment to Other Comprehensive 
Income. Currently, these derivative contracts extend through April 2011. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, NSTAR had recorded a liability 
and a corresponding regulatory asset of $1.7 million and $32.9 million, respectively, to reflect the fair value of these contracts. During the years 
ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007, $47 million, $16 million, and $30 million, respectively, of these financial contracts were settled and 
were recognized as additional charges to Cost of gas sold on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income.  

Asset Retirement Obligations and Cost of Removal  

The fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation (ARO) is recorded in the period in which it is incurred. When the liability is 
initially recorded, the entity capitalizes the cost by increasing the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. Over time, the liability is 
accreted to its present value each period, and the capitalized cost is depreciated over the useful life of the related asset. Upon settlement of the 
liability, an entity either settles the obligation for its recorded amount or incurs a gain or loss upon settlement.  

The recognition of an ARO within NSTAR’s regulated utility businesses has no impact on its earnings. For its rate-regulated utilities, NSTAR 
establishes a regulatory asset to recognize future recoveries through depreciation rates for the recorded ARO. NSTAR has certain plant assets in 
which this condition exists and is related to both plant assets containing hazardous materials and legal requirements to undertake remediation 
efforts upon retirement.  

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, NSTAR had recorded asset retirement cost liabilities of $30 million and $23 million, respectively, which 
approximates the current cost for NSTAR to meet its legal or contractual obligations to perform actions at some point after the retirement of an 
asset. This amount is included in Deferred credits and other liabilities: Other on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

For NSTAR’s regulated utility businesses, the ultimate cost to remove utility plant from service (cost of removal) is recognized as a component 
of depreciation expense in accordance with approved regulatory treatment. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, the estimated amount of the cost 
of removal included in regulatory liabilities was  
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approximately $270 million and $265 million, respectively, based on the estimated cost of removal component in current depreciation rates. This 
represents the cumulative amounts collected from customers for cost of removal, but not yet expended.  

New Accounting Standards Updates  

Variable Interest Entities  

Amended consolidation guidance applicable to variable interest entities will be effective for NSTAR beginning in fiscal year 2010. The 
Company does not anticipate that this authoritative guidance will have an effect on the Company’s existing contractual and business 
relationships and how they are reported in the consolidated financial statements.  

Rate and Regulatory Proceedings  

a. Rate Structures  

Rate Settlement Agreement  

NSTAR Electric is currently operating under a DPU-approved Rate Settlement Agreement (“Rate Settlement Agreement”) that expires 
December 31, 2012. From 2007 through 2012, the Rate Settlement Agreement establishes for NSTAR Electric, among other things, annual 
inflation-adjusted distribution rates that are generally offset by an equal and corresponding reduction in transition rates. The increase adjustment 
will be 1.32% effective January 1, 2010; and corresponding adjustments were 1.74%, 2.68%, and 2.64% effective January 1, 2009, 2008, and 
2007, respectively. Uncollected transition charges as a result of the reductions in transition rates are deferred and collected through future rates 
with a carrying charge. The Rate Settlement Agreement implemented a 50% / 50% earnings sharing mechanism based on NSTAR Electric’s 
distribution return on equity (excluding incentives) should it exceed 12.5% or fall below 8.5%. Should the return on equity fall below 7.5%, 
NSTAR Electric may file a request for a general rate increase. NSTAR Electric did not exceed the 12.5%, or fall below the 8.5% distribution 
return on equity during 2009, 2008 or 2007.  

Basic Service Rates  

Electric distribution companies in Massachusetts are required to obtain and resell power to retail customers through Basic Service for those 
customers who choose not to buy energy from a competitive energy supplier. Basic Service rates are reset every six months (every three months 
for large commercial and industrial customers). The price of Basic Service is intended to reflect the average competitive market price for electric 
power. As of December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007, customers of NSTAR Electric had approximately 43%, 45%, and 47%, respectively, of their 
load requirements provided through Basic Service. NSTAR Electric fully recovers its energy costs through DPU-approved rate mechanisms.  

Firm Natural Gas Rates  

In addition to delivery service rates, NSTAR Gas’ tariffs include a seasonal CGAC and a LDAC. The CGAC provides for the recovery of all gas 
supply costs from firm sales customers. The LDAC provides for the recovery of certain costs applicable to both sales and transportation 
customers. The CGAC is filed semi-annually for approval by the DPU. The LDAC is filed annually for approval. In addition, NSTAR Gas is 
required to file interim changes to its CGAC factor when the actual costs of gas supply vary from projections by more than 5%. Changes in the 
cost of gas supply have no impact on the Company’s earnings due to the CGAC and LDAC rate recovery mechanisms.  

b. Service Quality Indicators  

SQI are established performance benchmarks for certain identified measures of service quality relating to customer service and billing 
performance, safety and reliability and consumer division statistics performance for  
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all Massachusetts utilities. NSTAR Electric and NSTAR Gas are required to report annually to the DPU concerning their performance as to each 
measure and are subject to maximum penalties of up to two and one-half percent of total transmission and distribution revenues should 
performance fail to meet the applicable benchmarks.  

NSTAR monitors its service quality continuously to determine if a liability has been triggered. If it is probable that a liability has been incurred 
and is estimable, a liability is accrued. Annually, each NSTAR utility subsidiary makes a service quality performance filing with the DPU. Any 
settlement or rate order that would result in a different liability level from what has been accrued would be adjusted in the period that the DPU 
issues an order determining the amount of any such liability.  

NSTAR Electric filed its 2007 Service Quality Reports with the DPU that demonstrated the Company achieved sufficient levels of service 
performance. On January 13, 2010, the DPU approved the 2007 Service Quality Report and agreed performance levels were sufficient. 
Therefore, no penalties were assessed.  

Service Quality reports for both NSTAR Gas and NSTAR Electric for 2008 have been filed with the DPU. The NSTAR Gas report has been 
approved and the NSTAR Electric report is under review. Based on the reports filed, no penalties were assessable for the performance year.  

NSTAR Electric and NSTAR Gas service quality performance levels for 2009 were not in a penalty situation and the final performance reports 
are anticipated to be filed during the first quarter of 2010.  

c. Regulatory Matters  

Massachusetts Regulatory Environment  

On July 2, 2008, the Massachusetts Legislature passed the Green Communities Act (GCA) energy policy legislation designed to substantially 
increase energy efficiency and the development of renewable energy resources in Massachusetts. The GCA:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

The GCA allows for utilities to recover in rates the incremental costs associated with its various mandated programs.  

On August 7, 2008, the Massachusetts Global Warming Solutions A ct (GWSA) was enacted. The intention of the GWSA is to reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions in Massachusetts across multiple sectors of the economy, first by  
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•   Requires electric and natural gas distribution companies to file three-year energy efficiency investment plans to include fully 

reconciling funding mechanisms and incentives;  

  
•   Requires utility distribution companies to undertake various Green programs, including the solicitation of bids for long-term 

renewable energy procurement contracts for which utilities would be allowed remuneration on certain Massachusetts-based contract 
commitments;  

  •   Establishes a “smart grid”  pilot program;  
  •   Gives final approval to the State’s participation in the Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative;  

  

•   Increases Renewable Portfolio Standards and Alternative Energy Portfolio Standards for utilities and other electricity suppliers 
regarding the power that they purchase. Requirements to purchase power from new renewable resources will increase in increments 
of 1% per year from 4% in 2009 to 15% in 2020. Requirements to purchase from alternative portfolio resources will gradually 
increase from 1% in 2009 to 5% in 2020. Existing requirements to purchase 3.5% from waste to energy resources and 3.6% from 
vintage renewable resources are not expected to change. By 2020, NSTAR Electric anticipates purchasing 27.1% of its power under 
these mandates, as compared to a total of 12.1% in 2009; and  

  
•   Modifies the service quality performance penalty provision (Refer to Note O, “ Commitments and Contingencies,”  of the 

accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).  
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requiring the reporting of carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gas emissions and then requiring the gradual reduction of such greenhouse gas 
emissions by 80% of 1990 levels over a 40-year period beginning in 2010. Regulations setting forth specific detailed requirements under the 
GWSA started with the establishment of 1990 Baseline and 2020 Business as Usual Projection during 2009. By January 2011, the State is 
expected to adopt regulations establishing a desired level of declining emissions limits for resources that emit greenhouse gases. At this time, 
NSTAR cannot predict the effect of the GWSA on its future results of operations, financial position, or cash flows.  

Long-Term Renewable Energy Contracts  

In accordance with the requirements of the GCA, in January, 2010 NSTAR Electric along with other Massachusetts investor-owned utilities 
began to solicit bids for renewable energy and renewable energy certificates for approximately 1.5% of total annual load for between ten and 15 
year periods. The evaluation of supplier bids will be weighted primarily towards price factors, but also by non-price factors such as reliability 
and financial stability. All contracts must be approved by the DPU.  

Electric and Gas Rate Decoupling  

On July 16, 2008, the DPU issued an order to all Massachusetts’ electric and gas distribution utility companies that requires them to develop 
plans to decouple their rates/revenues from sales volumes. This action is intended to encourage utility companies to help their customers reduce 
energy consumption. Decoupling of rates will allow utility companies to carry out the mandates of the GCA and at the same time collect the 
adequate level of revenues to maintain the quality and reliability of electric and gas services. This order allows companies to file for recovery of 
lost base revenues caused by incremental energy efficiency spending until their decoupling rate plans are approved. Once decoupled rate plans 
are approved, revenues will be set at a level designed to recover the utility companies’ incurred costs plus a return on their investment. This 
revenue level will be reconciled with actual revenues received from decoupled rates on an annual basis and any over or under collection will be 
refunded to or recovered from customers in the subsequent year.  

This revenue adjustment mitigates the impact of lower sales resulting from incremental energy efficiency programs. NSTAR Electric currently 
does not expect to file for fully decoupled electric rates until after the Rate Settlement Agreement expires in 2012. However, NSTAR Gas may 
file prior to that date.  

Regulatory Proceedings - DPU Safety and Reliability Programs (CPSL)  

As part of the Rate Settlement Agreement, NSTAR Electric is allowed to recover incremental spending for the double pole inspection, 
replacement/restoration and transfer program and the underground electric safety program, which includes stray-voltage remediation and 
manhole inspections, repairs, and upgrades. Recovery of these Capital Program Scheduling List (CPSL) costs is subject to DPU review and 
approval. NSTAR Electric incurred incremental costs of $11 million, $13 million, and $15 million in 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively. This 
includes incremental operations and maintenance and revenue requirements on capital investments. The final reconciliation of 2006 and 2007 
CPSL costs recovery is currently under review by the DPU. The incremental costs for the year 2009 are currently under review by the Company 
and are estimated to be approximately $16 million. NSTAR awaits the results of the 2006 and 2007 filings from the DPU prior to submitting the 
final 2008 and 2009 CPSL cost recovery reconciliations with the DPU. NSTAR cannot predict the timing of a DPU order related to these 
pending filings. Should an adverse decision be issued which disallows a significant portion of CPSL cost recovery, it could have a material 
adverse impact to NSTAR’s results of operations, financial position, and cash flows.  

Wholesale Power Cost Savings Initiatives  

The Rate Settlement Agreement includes incentives to encourage NSTAR Electric to continue its efforts to advocate on behalf of customers at 
the FERC to mitigate wholesale electricity cost inefficiencies that would be  
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borne by regional customers. As a result of its role in two RMR cases, NSTAR Electric had sought to collect $9.8 million annually for three 
years and began collecting some of these incentive revenues from its customers effective January 1, 2007, subject to final DPU approval. 
Through December 31, 2009, approximately $18.9 million had been collected from customers for the Wholesale Power Cost Savings Initiatives.  

On November 30, 2009, DPU denied NSTAR Electric’s petition. NSTAR Electric must refund the $18.9 million already collected from 
customers. The DPU order had no impact on earnings as the Company did not reflect the amounts collected in revenues.  

Basic Service Bad Debt Adder  

On July 1, 2005, in response to a generic DPU order that required electric utilities in Massachusetts to recover the cost of the energy-related 
portion of bad debt costs in their Basic Service rates, NSTAR Electric increased its Basic Service rates and reduced its distribution rates for those 
bad debt costs. In furtherance of this generic DPU order, NSTAR Electric included a bad debt cost recovery mechanism as a component of its 
Rate Settlement Agreement. This recovery mechanism (bad debt adder) allows NSTAR Electric to recover its Basic Service bad debt costs on a 
fully reconciling basis. These rates were implemented, effective January 1, 2006, as part of NSTAR Electric’s Rate Settlement Agreement.  

On February 7, 2007, NSTAR Electric filed its 2006 Basic Service reconciliation with the DPU proposing an adjustment related to the increase 
of its Basic Service bad debt charge-offs. This proposed rate adjustment was anticipated to be implemented effective July 1, 2007. On June 28, 
2007, the DPU issued an order approving the implementation of a revised Basic Service rate. However, the DPU instructed NSTAR Electric to 
reduce distribution rates by the increase in its Basic Service bad debt charge-offs. Such action would result in a further reduction to distribution 
rates from the adjustment NSTAR Electric made when it implemented the Settlement Agreement. This adjustment to NSTAR Electric’s 
distribution rates would eliminate the fully reconciling nature of the Basic Service bad debt adder.  

NSTAR Electric has not implemented the components of the June 28, 2007 DPU order. Implementation of this order would require NSTAR 
Electric to write-off a previously recorded regulatory asset related to its Basic Service bad debt costs. NSTAR Electric filed a Motion for 
Reconsideration of the DPU’s order on July 18, 2007. On December 14, 2007, the Motion for Reconsideration was granted and the DPU 
reopened the case to hear additional evidence. NSTAR Electric filed additional testimony in April 2008, an evidentiary hearing was held, and 
briefs were filed in June and early July 2008. NSTAR Electric believes its position is appropriate and that it is probable that it will ultimately 
prevail. However, in the event the DPU does not rule in its favor, NSTAR Electric intends to pursue all legal options. As of December 31, 2009, 
the potential impact to earnings of eliminating the bad debt adder would be approximately $20.8 million, pre-tax. NSTAR cannot predict the 
timing of this proceeding.  

FERC Transmission ROE  

Local Transmission Facilities  

For participating New England Transmission Owners, including NSTAR Electric, a base ROE on transmission facilities of 11.14% has been 
approved by FERC. NSTAR earns this ROE on all local transmission facility investments.  

Regional Transmission Facilities  

The FERC authorized an ROE on NSTAR’s regional transmission facilities of 11.64%.  

Additional Incentive Adders  

Additional incentive adders are available and are decided on a case by case basis in accordance with the FERC’s most recent national 
transmission incentive rules. The FERC may grant a variety of financial incentives,  
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including ROE basis point incentive adders for qualified investments made in new regional transmission facilities. This 100 basis point adder, 
when combined with the FERC’s approved ROEs described above, results in a 12.64% ROE for qualified regional investments. The incentive is 
intended to promote and accelerate investment in transmission projects that can significantly reduce congestion costs and enhance reliability in 
the region. NSTAR’s 345 kV Transmission Project completed in phases through December 2008, among others, has received this additional 
incentive adder.  

Other  

Energy Efficiency Plans  

NSTAR Electric and NSTAR Gas are required to administer demand-side management energy efficiency programs. The GCA directs electric 
and gas distribution companies to develop three-year energy efficiency plans. The first three-year plan effective in 2010 is expected to lead to a 
significant expansion of energy efficiency activity in Massachusetts. Like the historical programs, the new three-year plans may include financial 
incentives based on energy efficiency program performance. In addition, the DPU has stated that it will permit distribution companies that do not 
yet have rate decoupling mechanisms in place to implement lost base revenue rate adjustment mechanisms that will partially offset reduced 
distribution rate revenues as a result of successful energy efficiency programs.  

During 2009, NSTAR Electric incurred Energy Efficiency expenses of approximately $80.1 million, inclusive of program administrator 
incentives. NSTAR Electric has filed its 2010 Energy Efficiency Plan and anticipates that the program will amount to about $122 million in 
spending. The 2010 plan was approved by DPU on January 28, 2010.  

During 2009, NSTAR Gas incurred Energy Efficiency expenses of approximately $8.2 million, inclusive of program administrator incentives. 
NSTAR Gas has filed its 2010 Energy Efficiency Plan and anticipates that the program will amount to about $16.4 million in spending, subject 
to DPU approval. The 2010 plan was approved by DPU on January 28, 2010.  

American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (ARRA)  

The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (ARRA) provides resources for government-funded spending in several energy-related 
areas that have relevance to NSTAR, including energy efficiency, smart grid funding, renewable energy financing and transmission projects. 
These initiatives are largely directed through federal and state agencies and not-for-profit public agencies. NSTAR continues to evaluate the 
impact of this legislation on its business initiatives in these areas. Any action will require regulatory approval.  

In August 2009, NSTAR Electric applied for Federal grants for its Smart Grid Programs. The requested funding represents 50% of the estimated 
total project costs. On October 27, 2009 and November 25, 2009, NSTAR Electric received notice from the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) 
that it had been awarded grants of approximately $18 million for three projects related to distribution automation, smart metering and renewable 
energy inter-connections proposals. NSTAR Electric anticipates that most of the remaining costs not recovered through the grant process will be 
recovered from customers. These projects are anticipated to enhance information technology, communications and monitoring functions and 
improve reliability and efficiency on NSTAR Electric’s distribution network.  

Proposed Transmission Investment  

NSTAR, together with Northeast Utilities (NU) (collectively, the Petitioners), filed and received approval on a joint petition with the FERC for a 
declaratory judgment that would allow the Petitioners to enter into a bilateral transmission services agreement with Hydro Quebec (HQ) 
subsidiaries. Under this agreement, the Petitioners  
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would sell 1,200 MW of firm transmission service over a new, participant-funded transmission tie line connecting New England with the HQ 
system in order for HQ to sell and deliver this same amount of firm power from the HQ system to interested parties in New England for a term 
of no less than twenty years. This project would provide a competitive source of clean power that is favorable in comparison to current 
alternatives and provides for an expansion of New England’s transmission system without raising regional transmission rates.  

The Petitioners and HQ are negotiating:  
   

   

   

The transmission service agreement must be approved by the FERC and the Power Purchase Agreement between HQ, NSTAR and other 
interested New England entities must be approved by their appropriate state regulatory agencies. NSTAR anticipates that, if approved by the 
FERC and the DPU, construction will commence in the 2011 timeframe and is targeted for completion in 2015. NSTAR’s portion of the 
construction funding is estimated to be approximately $225 million. NSTAR and NU will finance and own this transmission line, while HQ will 
reimburse NSTAR and NU for the total costs of this project, including an investment return to NSTAR and NU.  

General Legal Matters  

In the normal course of its business, NSTAR and its subsidiaries are involved in certain legal matters, including civil litigation. Management is 
unable to fully determine a range of reasonably possible court-ordered damages, settlement amounts, and related litigation costs (legal liabilities) 
that would be in excess of amounts accrued and amounts covered by insurance. Based on the information currently available, NSTAR does not 
believe that it is probable that any such legal liabilities will have a material impact on its consolidated financial position. However, it is 
reasonably possible that additional legal liabilities that may result from changes in circumstances could have a material impact on its results of 
operations, cash flows or financial condition.  

Income Tax Matters  

RCN Corporation (RCN) Share Abandonment Tax Treatment  

On December 24, 2003, NSTAR exited its investment in RCN by formally abandoning its 11.6 million shares of RCN common stock. As a result 
of the RCN share abandonment, the Company claimed an ordinary loss on its 2003 tax return. In 2006, the IRS disallowed the classification of 
the deduction as an ordinary loss. NSTAR appealed this decision and is currently in negotiation with the IRS Appeals office.  

Prior to 2007, it was NSTAR’s tax accounting policy not to recognize tax benefits associated with an uncertain tax position until it was probable 
that such tax benefit would ultimately be realized. NSTAR determined that it was less than probable that the tax deduction related to the 
abandonment of its RCN investment would ultimately be sustained. Accordingly, NSTAR accrued a tax reserve so as to not recognize the 
earnings benefit of this uncertain tax position.  

As of January 1, 2007, the potential tax loss was approximately $39.6 million. NSTAR adopted an accounting standard regarding uncertain tax 
positions effective January 1, 2007 which established a tax accounting recognition standard of more-likely-than-not, which is a lower threshold 
than NSTAR’s previous tax benefit recognition policy. Upon the adoption of the standard, NSTAR recognized the entire amount plus interest as 
an increase to its January 1, 2007 retained earnings balance.  
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•   A joint development agreement for the design and construction of a 1,200 MW high-voltage direct current line over mostly existing 

rights-of-way in Northern New England to a point to be determined in Southern New Hampshire and are performing joint planning 
studies for this line;  

  •   A long-term bilateral transmission service agreement; and  

  
•   A Power Purchase Agreement for HQ to sell up to 1,200 MW of firm power to NSTAR, NU and other interested New England 

entities for a period of no less than twenty years.  
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Construction-related Costs - Simplified Service Cost Method (SSCM)  

In 2004, NSTAR amended its 2002 Federal income tax return to change its method of tax accounting for certain construction-related overhead 
costs previously capitalized to plant under a methodology prior to SSCM. Under SSCM, certain costs which were previously capitalized for tax 
purposes are deducted in the year incurred. NSTAR claimed additional deductions related to the tax accounting method change in its 2002-2004 
returns of $368.9 million. In 2005, NSTAR received formal notification from the IRS that the claim on its amended income tax return was 
denied. NSTAR did not receive the requested refund amount due.  

In August 2005, the IRS issued a Revenue Ruling and Treasury Regulations related to the SSCM to curtail these levels of construction-related 
cost deductions by utilities and others. Under this Regulation, the SSCM is not available for the majority of NSTAR’s constructed property for 
the years 2005 and forward. NSTAR was required to make a cash tax payment to the IRS of $129.1 million in late 2006 representing the 
disallowed SSCM deductions taken for 2002-2004 even though the tax refund was never received. This payment will be fully refunded with 
interest to NSTAR, once this tax position is resolved. This refund has been recorded as a current income tax receivable on the accompanying 
Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

IRS Appeals and Examinations  

As of December 31, 2009, the 2001 through 2007 Federal and state tax years remain open (including the SSCM and RCN Share Abandonment 
matters) and returns for those years are at the IRS Office of Appeals.  

NSTAR is negotiating with IRS Appeals in an attempt to settle all issues relating to years 2001 through 2007. To date, we have reached 
agreement on the SSCM issue with a closing agreement expected to be signed in the first quarter of 2010. Upon approval of the settlement by the 
U.S. Congress Joint Committee on Taxation, NSTAR expects receipt of the $129 million of its refundable income tax receivable, plus interest, 
by mid-2010. Potential settlement discussions related to the RCN matter are continuing, however, the timing of any final settlement is uncertain 
as well as whether an agreement can be reached at an amount that would be acceptable to NSTAR. If an agreement is reached, it is reasonably 
possible that a charge could be recognized. Such agreement would also require Joint Committee approval. In the event that NSTAR is 
unsuccessful in reaching a reasonable settlement agreement with the IRS Appeals, it will continue the current plan to litigate the RCN tax matter. 
This action would delay resolution of this tax matter beyond 2010.  

The 2008 Federal income tax return has been examined under the IRS Compliance Assurance Process (CAP) and NSTAR has received a “no 
change” letter. The 2009 Federal income tax return is being reviewed under CAP. This program accelerates the examination of the return in an 
attempt to resolve issues before the tax return is filed. The outcome of any potential audit adjustments and the timing are uncertain.  

2010 Earnings Outlook  

Earnings per share are expected to be in the $2.45 to $2.55 range. This range excludes the anticipated gain on the pending MATEP sale. Major 
assumptions supporting NSTAR’s earnings guidance for the year 2010 are as follows:  
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  •   Performance-based rate adjustment effective January 1, 2010 of 1.32%.  

  
•   Electric sales increase of about 2%, assuming a return to normal weather conditions and modestly improving economic conditions 

during the year.  
  •   An increase of about $15 million in operations and maintenance expense impacting net income  
  •   An increase of about $10 million in depreciation, amortization and property taxes.  
  •   Interest costs savings due to recent refinancing of long-term debt at lower interest rates.  
  •   Capital expenditures for the year of approximately $370 million, with about $90 million planned for various transmission projects.  
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Our expectations are based on our current assumptions described above, and are subject to risks and uncertainties (Refer to “ Cautionary 
Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information ” preceding Item 1 “ Business ” and Item 1A, “ Risk Factors ” of this Form 10-K for more 
information).  

Common Share Dividends  

On November 19, 2009, NSTAR’s Board of Trustees declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.40 per share for shareholders of record on 
January 8, 2010, payable February 1, 2010. NSTAR’s current annualized rate is $1.60 per share, a 6.7% increase over the previous rate of $1.50 
per share. NSTAR expects that the growth rate of its common dividend will continue to be in-line with the growth rate of its earnings per share. 
All future dividend decisions are subject to quarterly dividend declarations based on the Company’s financial position and other relevant 
considerations at the time.  

Results of Continuing Operations  

The following section of MD&A compares the results of continuing operations for each of the three fiscal years ended December 31, 2009, 
2008, and 2007 and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements and the accompanying Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this report.  

2009 compared to 2008  

Executive Summary  

NSTAR achieved earnings growth for 2009 during a very challenging year as a difficult economic climate and unfavorable weather conditions 
throughout the year negatively impacted its sales. NSTAR performance results in 2009 are as follows:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Earnings per common share were as follows:  
   

Net income attributable to common shareholders was $253.2 million for 2009 compared to $237.5 million for 2008. Major factors on an after-tax 
basis that contributed to the $15.7 million, or 6.6%, increase include:  
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  •   EPS increased $0.15 from $2.22 to $2.37, a 6.8% increase  

  
•   The Company’s common share dividend was increased in 2009 by 6.7% - the twelfth consecutive year the dividend rate has been 

increased  
  •   Cash flows from operations increased from $545 million to $637.7 million, or 17.0%  
  •   The total shareholder return (TSR) for 2009 was 5.6%  

  
•   NSTAR is the only company in the EEI Index and Fortune 1000 with a positive annual TSR for thirteen consecutive years and no 

company in the S&P 500 had this record of achievement  
  •   NSTAR, NSTAR Electric, and NSTAR Gas each maintained their S&P overall credit ratings at “A+/A” levels with a stable outlook  
  •   NSTAR completed long-term debt financing transactions at favorable interest rates  

     Years ended December 31,   

       2009    2008    % Change   
Basic and Diluted – Continuing operations     $ 2.28    $ 2.11    8.1    
Basic and Diluted – Discontinued operations       0.09      0.11    (18.2 )  

                 

Total     $ 2.37    $ 2.22    6.8    
                 

  
•   Lower operations and maintenance expense primarily due to lower storm-related costs and lower labor costs ($6.0 million). Also 

contributing were lower liability claims, lower advertising costs, lower outside services, and lower administrative and other operating 
costs ($11.0 million)  

WPD-6 
Screening Data Part 1 of 2 
Page 9131 of 9808



Table of Contents  

   

   

   

   

These positive earnings factors were partially offset by:  
   

   

   

   

Significant cash flow events during 2009 include the following:  
   

   

   

Electric and Gas Sales  

The following is a summary of retail electric and firm gas and transportation sales for the years indicated:  
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•   Lower net interest charges primarily due to decreases in short-term interest rates, increased interest income on income tax items and 

increased interest income on regulatory deferrals ($4.8 million)  
  •   Higher firm gas revenues ($1.3 million)  
  •   Higher transmission revenues as a result of increased transmission investment base ($4 million)  
  •   Higher circuit performance incentives ($0.9 million)  
  •   Increase in the cash surrender value of insurance policies ($3.0 million)  

  •   Lower electric distribution revenues due to a 3.1% decrease in sales offset by the annual inflation rate adjustment ($1.5 million)  

  
•   Higher depreciation, amortization, and property tax expenses in 2009 primarily related to higher regulated electric and gas plant 

investment and higher municipal property tax rates ($8.4 million)  
  •   The absence of income from an environmental settlement that occurred during the first half of 2008 ($2.9 million)  
  •   The absence of a cumulative impact in 2008 of implementing the March 29, 2008 FERC ROE order ($2.4 million)  

  

•   Cash flows from continuing operating activities provided approximately $611.2 million, an increase of $93.5 million, as compared to 
the same period in 2008. The increase is due to an increase in earnings driven primarily by decreased non-amortization related 
operations and maintenance costs ($30 million), lower income tax payments primarily related to higher bonus depreciation and 
higher pension and PBOP contributions made necessary by higher periodic cost ($33.2 million), and a decrease in accounts 
receivable balances resulting from lower relative energy supply costs ($60.3 million). These positive sources of cash were partially 
offset by a comparative under-collection of regulatory deferrals in 2009 ($25 million).  

  •   NSTAR invested approximately $375 million in capital projects to improve system reliability and capacity  

  
•   NSTAR issued $350 million of 4.5% debentures and NSTAR Electric issued $100 million of 5.625% debentures with an effective 

rate of 4.97%. NSTAR paid approximately $160 million in common share dividends and retired approximately $156 million in long-
term and securitized debt.  

     Years ended December 31,   

       2009    2008    
% Change  

Increase/(decrease)   

Retail Electric Sales - MWH           

Residential     6,462,562    6,560,573    (1.5 )  
Commercial, Industrial, and Other     14,509,355    15,087,472    (3.8 )  

             

Total retail sales     20,971,917    21,648,045    (3.1 )  
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NSTAR’s electric sales in 2009 decreased primarily due to a cooler summer during 2009 as compared to 2008. In addition, electric sales have 
been impacted by the downturn in the economy that has resulted in lost sales from commercial office and retail business vacancies, and by the 
impact of customer and NSTAR-sponsored conservation measures. The 0.3% decrease in firm gas and transportation sales is due to greater use 
of conservation measures or restrictions on the use of natural gas for all customer segments, and commercial and industrial customers relocating 
their businesses to less costly regions or closing due to difficult economic conditions. The reduction in sales resulted despite colder weather in 
the first quarter and near-normal weather in the fourth quarter of 2009.  

Weather, higher fuel costs, conservation measures, and economic conditions affect sales to NSTAR’s residential and small commercial 
customers. Economic conditions, higher fuel costs, and conservation measures affect NSTAR’s large commercial and industrial customers. In 
terms of customer sector characteristics, industrial sales are less sensitive to weather than residential and commercial sales, which are influenced 
by temperature extremes. Refer to the “Electric Revenues ” and “Gas Revenues” sections below for more detailed discussions.  

NSTAR Electric’s retail peak demand for 2009 was 4,507 MW measured on August 18, 2009 which was 9% less than the all-time high peak 
demand of 4,959 MW reached on August 2, 2006.  

Weather Conditions  

NSTAR forecasts its electric and natural gas sales based on normal weather conditions. Actual results may vary from those projected due to 
actual weather conditions, energy conservation, and other factors. Refer to the “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking 
Information” section preceding Item 1, “Business” of this Form 10-K.  

The demand for electricity and natural gas is affected by weather. Weather impacts electric sales primarily during the summer and, to a greater 
extent, gas sales during the winter season in NSTAR’s service area. Customer heating or cooling usage may not directly correlate with historical 
levels or with the level of degree-days that occur (as further discussed below), particularly when weather patterns experienced are consistently 
colder or warmer. Also, NSTAR’s electric and gas businesses are sensitive to variations in daily weather, are highly influenced by New 
England’s seasonal weather variations, and are susceptible to severe storm-related incidents that could adversely affect the Company’s ability to 
provide energy.  

Degree-days measure changes in daily mean temperature levels. A degree-day is a unit measuring how many degrees the outdoor daily mean 
temperature falls below (in the case of heating) or rises above (in the case of cooling) a base of 65 degrees. The comparative information below 
relates to heating and cooling degree-days for the years 2009 and 2008 and the number of heating and cooling degree-days in a “normal” year as 
presented by a 30-year average. NSTAR uses the “normal 30-year average” degree-days data to compare current temperature readings to a 
baseline or “normal” period, that is recalculated every ten years for the preceding 30 years (currently 1971-2000), as collected at the Worcester, 
Massachusetts airport and Boston’s Logan Airport for heating degree-day data and cooling degree-day data, respectively. As shown on the table 
below, weather conditions during the first three quarters of 2009 measured by heating degree-days were higher/colder for 2009  
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       Years ended December 31,   

     2009    2008    
% Change  

Increase/(decrease)   

Firm Gas Sales and Transportation - BBtu           

Residential     21,021    20,763    1.2    
Commercial and Industrial     21,598    22,134    (2.4 )  
Municipal     3,094    2,933    5.5    

             

Total firm sales     45,713    45,830    (0.3 )  
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as compared to 2008, favorably impacting gas revenues. The fourth quarter of 2009 was warmer than the same quarter in 2008, unfavorably 
impacting gas revenues. Weather conditions during the three summer months ended September 30, 2009 measured by cooling degree-days were 
11.4% lower/cooler for 2009 as compared to 2008, unfavorably impacting electric revenues. Refer to the “Electric Revenues” and “Gas 
Revenues” sections below for more detailed discussions.  

Heating Degree-Days  
   

Cooling Degree-Days  
   

Operating Revenues  

Operating revenues for 2009 decreased 4.9% from 2008 as follows:  
   

Electric Revenues  

NSTAR’s largest earnings sources are the revenues derived from distribution and transmission rates approved by the DPU and FERC. Electric 
retail distribution revenues primarily represent charges to customers for recovery of the Company’s capital investment, including a return 
component, and operation and maintenance costs related to its electric distribution infrastructure. The transmission revenue component 
represents charges to customers for the recovery of similar costs to move the electricity over high voltage lines from the generator to the 
Company’s distribution substations.  
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       Three Months Ended   
     March 31     June 30     Sept. 30     Dec. 31     Total   

2009     3,352      938      271      2,341      6,902    
2008     3,186      874      134      2,414      6,608    
Normal 30-Year Average     3,304      972      177      2,362      6,815    

Percentage that 2009 was (warmer) colder than 2008     5.2 %    7.3 %    102.2 %    (3.0 )%    4.4 %  
Percentage that 2009 was (warmer) colder than 30-year average     1.5 %    (3.5 )%    53.1 %    (0.1 )%    1.3 %  

       Three Months Ended   

       March 31    June 30     Sept. 30     Dec. 31    Total   
2009     —      79      512      —      591    
2008     —      210      578      1    789    
Normal 30-Year Average     —      176      593      8    777    

Percentage that 2009 was (cooler) than 2008     —      (62.4 )%    (11.4 )%    n/m    (25 )%  
Percentage that 2009 was (cooler) than 30-year average     —      (55.1 )%    (13.7 )%    n/m    (24 )%  

n/m- not meaningful               

                 Increase/(Decrease)   
(in millions)    2009    2008    Amount     Percent   
Electric revenues             

Retail distribution and transmission     $ 1,057.0    $ 963.3    $ 93.7      9.7 %  
Energy, transition, and other       1,494.6      1,676.3      (181.7 )    (10.8 )%  

                     
  

  

Total retail electric revenues       2,551.6      2,639.6      (88.0 )    (3.3 )%  
Gas revenues             

Firm and transportation       146.8      144.9      1.9      1.3 %  
Energy supply and other       335.3      408.8      (73.5 )    (18.0 )%  

                     
  

  

Total gas revenues       482.1      553.7      (71.6 )    (12.9 )%  

Unregulated operations revenues       16.3      15.0      1.3      8.7 %  
                     

  
  

Total operating revenues     $ 3,050.0    $ 3,208.3    $ (158.3 )    (4.9 )%  
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The increase of $93.7 million, or 9.7%, in retail distribution and transmission revenues primarily reflects:  
   

This increase was partially offset by:  
   

Energy, transition, and other revenues primarily represent charges to customers for the recovery of costs incurred by the Company in order to 
acquire the energy supply on behalf of its customers and a transition charge for recovery of the Company’s prior investments in generating plants 
and the costs related to long-term power contracts. The energy revenues relate to customers being provided energy supply under Basic Service. 
These revenues are fully reconciled to the costs incurred and have no impact on NSTAR’s consolidated net income. Energy, transition, and other 
revenues also reflect revenues related to the Company’s ability to effectively reduce stranded costs (incentive entitlements), rental revenue from 
electric property, and annual cost reconciliation true-up adjustments. The $181.7 million decrease in energy, transition, and other revenues is 
primarily attributable to lower energy costs. Uncollected transition costs as a result of the reductions in transition rates are deferred and collected 
through future rates with a carrying charge.  

Gas Revenues  

Firm and transportation gas revenues primarily represent charges to customers for the Company’s recovery of costs of its capital investment in 
gas infrastructure, including a return component, and for the recovery of costs for the ongoing operation and maintenance of that infrastructure. 
The transportation revenue component represents charges to customers for the recovery of costs to move the natural gas over pipelines from gas 
suppliers to take stations located within the Company’s service area. The $1.9 million increase in firm and transportation revenues is primarily 
attributable to colder weather conditions in the first quarter partially offset by customers reduced usage as a result of economic concerns. These 
factors resulted in the decrease in sales volumes of 0.3%.  

Energy supply and other gas revenues primarily represent charges to customers for the recovery of costs to the Company in order to acquire the 
natural gas in the marketplace and a charge for recovery of the Company’s gas supplier service costs. The energy supply and other revenues 
decrease of $73.5 million primarily reflects a decrease in the cost of gas supply. These revenues are fully reconciled with the cost currently 
recognized by the Company and, as a result, do not have an effect on NSTAR’s consolidated net income.  

Unregulated Operations Revenues  

Unregulated operating revenues are derived from NSTAR’s telecommunications operations. Unregulated operating revenues were $16.3 million 
through December 31, 2009 compared to $15.0 million in 2008, an increase of $1.3 million, or 8.7%. The increase in unregulated revenues is 
primarily the result of new contracts added over the past year.  

Operating Expenses  

Purchased power and transmission costs were $1,260.5 million in 2009 compared to $1,353.7 million in 2008, a decrease of $93.2 million, or 
6.9%. The decrease in expense reflects NSTAR Electric’s lower sales of 3.1%, as well as lower Basic Service and other energy costs of $140.6 
million. These decreases are partially offset by higher transmission costs of $47.4 million primarily due to an increase in regional network 
support costs. NSTAR Electric adjusts its rates to collect the costs related to energy supply from customers on a fully reconciling basis. Due to 
this rate adjustment mechanism, changes in the amount of energy supply expense have no impact on consolidated net income.  
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•   Increased transmission revenues primarily due to the recovery of a higher transmission investment base ($45.2 million) and recovery 

of higher regional network service and other costs ($51 million)  

  
•   Decreased sales of 3.1% due to the impact of weather conditions, economic conditions, and customer conservation measures, 

partially offset by increased electric revenues resulting from the annual inflation rate adjustment ($2.5 million)  
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Cost of gas sold , representing NSTAR Gas’ supply expense, was $297.9 million in 2009 compared to $372.4 million in 2008, a decrease of 
$74.5 million, or 20%. The decrease in cost reflects the slight 0.3% decrease in sales, as well as lower storage and supply costs due to the 
fluctuations in energy markets, partially offset by the higher settlement of cash flow hedging contracts during the current year that increased 
expenses by $31.3 million. NSTAR Gas adjusts its rates to collect costs related to gas supply from customers on a fully reconciling basis and 
therefore changes in the amount of energy supply expense have no impact on consolidated net income.  

Operations and maintenance expense was $409.5 million in 2009 compared to $438.2 million in 2008, a decrease of $28.7 million, or 6.5%. 
The primary factors were lower liability claims cost ($6.1 million), lower labor and labor-related costs ($5.4 million), lower storm-related costs 
($4.4 million), lower outside services and lower administrative and other operating costs ($11.9 million), and lower fuel costs due to declining 
prices ($2.1 million). In addition, there were lower pension and PBOP related PAM amortization costs ($5.8 million). Fluctuations in PAM 
amortization do not have an earnings impact as these costs are fully recovered through the pension adjustment mechanism. These factors are 
partially offset by higher bad debt expense of ($3.3 million).  

Depreciation and amortization expense was $370.1 million in 2009 compared to $369.8 million in 2008, an increase of $0.3 million or less 
than 1%. The increase primarily reflects higher depreciable distribution and transmission plant in-service partially offset by completion of the 
10-year amortization related to merger integration costs.  

DSM and renewable energy programs expense was $89.0 million in 2009 compared to $73.3 million in 2008, an increase of $15.7 million, or 
21.4%, which is consistent with the collection of conservation and renewable energy revenues. The increase reflects higher spending levels 
during 2009 required by the Green Communities Act (GCA). All costs are in accordance with program guidelines established by the DPU. DSM 
program costs are funded partially through proceeds from the Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative and through NSTAR’s participation in the 
Forward Capacity Market. The remaining costs are collected from customers on a fully reconciling basis, plus a performance incentive.  

Property and other taxes were $107.1 million in 2009 compared to $95.8 million in 2008, an increase of $11.3 million, or 11.8%, primarily 
reflecting higher overall property investments ($5.1 million) and higher municipal property tax rates ($6.3 million). NSTAR’s municipal 
property taxes are generally assessed based on net book value rather than assessed fair value.  

Interest charges (income):  

Long-term debt and transition property securitization certificate interest charges were $152.1 million in 2009 compared to $154.3 million 
in 2008, a decrease of $2.2 million, or 1.4%. The decrease in interest charges reflects:  
   

This decrease was partially offset by:  
   

   

Interest income and other, net were $24.4 million of net interest income in 2009 compared to $18 million of net interest income in 2008, an 
increase of $6.4 million, or 35.6%, due to increased interest income of $4.7 million related to higher regulatory deferrals and higher interest 
income on income tax matters of $2.2 million.  
   

38  

  •   Lower interest costs of $8.6 million on transition property securitization debt attributable to scheduled principal pay downs  

  •   Higher interest costs of $4.6 million associated with NSTAR Electric’s February 2009 $100 million issuance of 5.625% debentures  
  •   Higher interest costs of $1.9 million associated with NSTAR’s November 2009 $350 million issuance of 4.5% debentures  
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Short-term debt interest charges were $1.4 million in 2009 compared to $10.3 million in 2008, a decrease of $8.9 million, or 86.4%, due to the 
reduction of 198 basis points in the 2009 weighted average borrowing rate. The weighted average short-term interest rates including fees were 
0.41% and 2.39% in 2009 and 2008, respectively. The average level of borrowed funds in 2009 was nearly the same as in 2008.  

Other income (deductions):  

Other income was approximately $9.2 million in 2009 compared to $13.3 million in 2008, a decrease of $4.1 million. The decrease relates 
primarily to the absence of a favorable environmental settlement in 2008 ($4.8 million), the absence of company-owned life insurance proceeds 
received in 2008 ($1.3 million) and lower interest income in 2009 ($1.7 million). These amounts are partially offset by increases in the cash 
surrender value of insurance policies that occurred in 2009 ($4.3 million).  

Other deductions were approximately $3.7 million in 2009 compared to $5.0 million in 2008, a decrease of $1.3 million. The decrease in other 
deductions primarily reflects the absence of a $1.5 million decrease in the cash surrender value of life insurance policies that occurred in 2008.  

Income tax expense:  

Income tax expense was $146.9 million in 2009 compared to $140.7 million in 2008, an increase of $6.2 million, or 4.4%, primarily reflecting 
the higher pre-tax operating income in 2009.  

2008 compared to 2007  

Executive Summary  

NSTAR achieved several positive performance results in 2008:  
   

   

   

Earnings per common share were as follows:  
   

Net income attributable to common shareholders was $237.5 million for 2008 compared to $221.5 million for 2007. Major factors on an after tax 
basis that contributed to the $16.0 million, or 7.2%, increase include:  
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•   EPS increased $0.15 from $2.07 to $2.22. This 7.2% increase reflects increased distribution revenues, higher transmission revenues, 

and lower interest costs  
  •   The Company’s common share dividend was increased in 2008 by 7.1%  
  •   NSTAR, NSTAR Electric, and NSTAR Gas each maintained their S&P overall credit ratings at “A”  levels  

     Years ended December 31, 
     2008    2007    % Change 

Basic and Diluted - Continuing operations     $ 2.11    $ 1.99    6.0 
Basic and Diluted - Discontinued operations       0.11      0.08    37.5 

                 

Total     $ 2.22    $ 2.07    7.2 
                 

  •   Higher electric distribution revenues ($11.5 million)  
  •   Higher transmission revenues as a result of increased transmission investment base ($13.9 million)  
  •   Non-recurring cumulative impact of implementing the March 2008 FERC transmission order ($2.4 million)  
  •   Higher earnings from NSTAR’s unregulated businesses ($1.2 million)  
  •   Higher earnings from NSTAR’s discontinued operations ($3.1 million)  
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These positive earnings factors were partially offset by:  
   

   

   

   

Significant cash flow events during 2008 included the following:  
   

   

   

   

Electric and Gas Sales  

The following is a summary of retail electric and firm gas and transportation sales for the years indicated:  
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  •   Environmental insurance settlement ($2.9 million)  

  
•   Lower net interest expense primarily as a result of decreased interest rates and increased interest income related to higher regulatory 

asset balances ($7.0 million)  

  
•   Higher operations and maintenance expenses ($9.9 million) primarily relating to unplanned expenditures for litigation and claims 

($3.0 million), and higher storm-related costs ($1.8 million). The remaining increase relates to higher labor costs including union 
contract negotiations that concluded in January 2009  

  
•   Higher depreciation and amortization and property tax expenses in 2008 related to higher depreciable electric and gas distribution 

plant in-service ($9.1 million)  
  •   Lower firm gas revenues due to lower sales of 1.4% ($1.8 million)  
  •   Absence of the 2007 recognition of interest income on certain tax matters ($3.0 million)  

  

•   Cash flows from continuing operating activities provided approximately $517.7 million, an increase of $46.1 million as compared to 
the same period in 2007. The increase is due to an increase in operating income driven by increased electric distribution revenues, 
favorable changes in various working capital balances, and lower income tax payments. These items were offset by higher pension 
contributions ($70 million) during 2008  

  •   NSTAR invested approximately $415 million in capital projects to improve capacity and reliability of continuing operations  

  
•   NSTAR paid approximately $149.5 million in common share dividends and retired approximately $155.2 million in long-term and 

securitized debt  
  •   Short-term borrowings increased from $403.4 million to $582.9 million during 2008, an increase of $179.5 million  

     Years ended December 31,   

     2008    2007    
% Change  

Increase/(decrease)   

Retail Electric Sales - MWH           

Residential     6,560,573    6,598,282    (0.6 )  
Commercial, Industrial, and Other     15,087,472    15,056,966    0.2    

             

Total retail sales     21,648,045    21,655,248    0.0    
             

     Years ended December 31,   

     2008    2007    
% Change  

Increase/(decrease)   

Firm Gas Sales and Transportation - BBtu           

Residential     20,763    21,792    (4.7 )  
Commercial and Industrial     22,134    21,788    1.6    
Municipal     2,933    2,885    1.7    

             

Total firm sales     45,830    46,465    (1.4 )  
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NSTAR’s electric sales in 2008 were flat primarily due to the unfavorable weather conditions resulting from a cooler summer during 2008 as 
compared to 2007. In addition, electric sales were impacted by the downturn in the economy that resulted in lost sales from commercial office 
and retail business vacancies, and also by the impact of customer and NSTAR-sponsored conservation measures. The 1.4% decrease in firm gas 
and transportation sales was due to the milder winter weather that directly impacted residential sales offset by the shift of commercial and 
industrial customers converting to using natural gas from fuel oil. All gas customer segments were impacted by continued customer conservation 
efforts.  

Weather, higher fuel costs, conservation measures, and economic conditions affected sales to NSTAR’s residential and small commercial 
customers. Economic conditions, higher fuel costs, and conservation measures affected NSTAR’s large commercial and industrial customers. 
Refer to the “Electric Revenues ” and “Gas Revenues” sections below for more detailed discussions.  

NSTAR Electric’s retail peak demand for 2008 was 4,379 MW measured on July 9, 2008. This was 11.7% less than the all-time high peak 
demand of 4,959 MW reached on August 2, 2006.  

Weather Conditions  

Weather conditions during the three months ended March 31, 2008 and June 30, 2008 measured by heating degree-days were 4.3% and 14.1% 
lower/warmer for 2008 as compared to 2007, unfavorably impacting gas revenues. Weather conditions during the three months ended 
September 30, 2008 measured by cooling degree-days were 10.4% lower/cooler for 2008 as compared to 2007, unfavorably impacting electric 
revenues. Refer to the “Electric Revenues” and “Gas Revenues” sections below for more detailed discussions.  

Heating Degree-Days  
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     Three Months Ended   
     March 31     June 30     Sept. 30     Dec. 31     Total   

2008     3,186      874      134      2,414      6,608    
2007     3,330      1,017      161      2,274      6,782    
Normal 30-Year Average     3,339      972      177      2,362      6,850    

Percentage that 2008 was (warmer) colder than 2007     (4.3 )%    (14.1 )%    (16.8 )%    6.2 %    (2.6 )%  
Percentage that 2008 was (warmer) colder than 30-year average     (4.6 )%    (10.1 )%    (24.3 )%    2.2 %    (3.5 )%  

Cooling Degree-Days  
       
     Three Months Ended   
     March 31     June 30     Sept. 30     Dec. 31     Total   

2008     —        210      578      1      789    
2007     —        231      645      31      907    
Normal 30-Year Average     1      175      593      8      777    

Percentage that 2008 was (cooler) than 2007     n/m      (9.1 )%    (10.4 )%    n/m      (13.0 )% 
Percentage that 2008 was warmer (cooler) than 30-year average     n/m      20.0 %   (2.5 )%    n/m      1.5 %  

n/m - not meaningful             
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Operating Revenues  

Operating revenues for 2008 increased 2.3% from 2007 as follows:  
   

Electric Revenues  

NSTAR’s largest earnings sources are the revenues derived from distribution and transmission rates approved by the DPU and FERC. Electric 
retail distribution revenues primarily represent charges to customers for recovery of the Company’s capital investment, including a return 
component, and operation and maintenance costs related to its electric distribution infrastructure. The transmission revenue component 
represents charges to customers for the recovery of similar costs to move the electricity over high voltage lines from the generator to the 
Company’s substations.  

The increase of $6.3 million, or 0.7%, in retail distribution and transmission revenues primarily reflected:  
   

   

These increases were partially offset by:  
   

Energy, transition, and other revenues primarily represent charges to customers for the recovery of costs incurred by the Company in order to 
acquire the energy supply on behalf of its customers and a transition charge for recovery of the Company’s prior investments in generating plants 
and the costs related to long-term power contracts. The energy revenues relate to customers being provided energy supply under Basic Service. 
These revenues are fully reconciled to the costs incurred and have no impact on NSTAR’s consolidated net income. Energy, transition, and other 
revenues also reflect revenues related to the Company’s ability to effectively reduce stranded costs (incentive entitlements), rental revenue from 
electric property, and annual cost reconciliation true-up adjustments. The $70.4 million increase in energy, transition, and other revenues was 
primarily attributable to the increased recovery of energy supply costs. Uncollected transition charges as a result of the reductions in transition 
rates are being deferred and collected through future rates with a carrying charge.  
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               Increase/(Decrease)   
(in millions)    2008    2007    Amount     Percent   
Electric revenues             

Retail distribution and transmission     $ 963.3    $ 957.0    $ 6.3      0.7 %  
Energy, transition, and other       1,676.3      1,605.9      70.4      4.4 %  

                     
  

  

Total retail electric revenues       2,639.6      2,562.9      76.7      3.0 %  
Gas revenues             

Firm and transportation       144.9      152.0      (7.1 )    (4.7 )%  
Energy supply and other       408.8      408.4      0.4      0.1 %  

                     
  

  

Total gas revenues       553.7      560.4      (6.7 )    (1.2 )%  
Unregulated operations revenues       15.0      12.8      2.2      17.2 %  

                     
  

  

Total operating revenues     $ 3,208.3    $ 3,136.1    $ 72.2      2.3 %  
                     

  

  

  
•   Higher distribution revenues due to the impact of the annual inflation-adjustment to distribution rates. This annual inflation-

adjustment was offset by an equal and corresponding reduction in transition rates ($18.9 million)  
  •   Increased transmission revenues was primarily due to increased transmission investment base ($25.8 million)  

  
•   Decreased transmission revenues related to lower forecasted reliability must-run (RMR) payments to energy generators ($38.4 

million) that are fully recoverable from customers  
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Gas Revenues  

Firm and transportation gas revenues primarily represent charges to customers for the Company’s recovery of costs of its capital investment in 
gas infrastructure, including a return component, and for the recovery of costs for the ongoing operation and maintenance of that infrastructure. 
The transportation revenue component represents charges to customers for the recovery of costs to move the natural gas over pipelines from gas 
suppliers to take stations located within the Company’s service area. The $7.1 million decrease in firm and transportation revenues was primarily 
attributable to warmer winter weather conditions offset by customers converting to natural gas from alternate fuel sources as a result of higher 
energy price concerns. These factors resulted in the decrease in sales volumes of 1.4% through December 31, 2008.  

Energy supply and other gas revenues primarily represent charges to customers for the recovery of costs to the Company in order to acquire the 
natural gas in the marketplace and a charge for recovery of the Company’s gas supplier service costs. The energy supply and other revenues 
increase of $0.4 million primarily reflects an increase in the cost of gas supply offset by the lower sales demand. These revenues are fully 
reconciled with the costs currently recognized by the Company and, as a result, do not have an effect on the Company’s earnings.  

Unregulated Operations Revenues  

Unregulated operating revenues are derived from NSTAR’s telecommunications operations. Unregulated revenues were $15.0 million in 2008 
compared to $12.8 million in 2007, an increase of $2.2 million, or 17.2%. The increase in unregulated revenues was primarily the result of 2008 
license fee revenue exceeding 2007 due to the value of new contracts added over 2008 exceeding those that elapsed in 2008.  

Operating Expenses  

Purchased power and transmission costs were $1,353.7 million in 2008 compared to $1,318.3 million in 2007, an increase of $35.4 million, or 
2.7%. This increase in expense primarily reflects $34.8 million of higher transmission costs. NSTAR Electric adjusts its rates to collect the costs 
related to energy supply from customers on a fully reconciling basis. Due to this rate adjustment mechanism, changes in the amount of NSTAR 
Electric’s energy supply expense have no impact on earnings.  

Cost of gas sold , representing NSTAR Gas’ supply expense, was $372.4 million in 2008 compared to $375.8 million in 2007, a decrease of 
$3.4 million, or 0.9%. The decrease in this cost primarily reflects the 1.4% decrease in firm gas sales and the lower settlement of hedging 
contracts during the current year that decreased expenses by $14.8 million, partly offset by higher costs of gas supply. NSTAR Gas maintains a 
flexible resource portfolio consisting of gas supply contracts, transportation contracts on interstate pipelines, market area storage, and peaking 
services. NSTAR Gas adjusts its rates to collect costs related to gas supply from customers on a fully reconciling basis and therefore changes in 
the amount of energy supply expenses have no impact on earnings.  

Operations and maintenance expense was $438.2 million in 2008 compared to $427 million in 2007, an increase of $11.2 million, or 2.6%. 
This increase primarily relates to higher labor and labor related costs, higher than planned insurance and claims costs, higher advertising costs, 
and higher storm-related costs.  

Depreciation and amortization expense was $369.8 million in 2008 compared to $360.2 million in 2007, an increase of $9.6 million or 2.7%. 
The increase primarily reflects higher depreciable distribution and transmission plant in-service. The increase in transmission plant is primarily 
related to the in-service of NSTAR’s 345 kV project in December 2008.  

DSM and renewable energy programs expense was $73.3 million in 2008 compared to $70.9 million in 2007, an increase of $2.4 million, or 
3.4%, which is consistent with the collection of conservation and renewable energy revenues. These costs are in accordance with program 
guidelines established by the DPU and are collected from customers on a fully reconciling basis plus an incentive return.  
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Property and other taxes were $95.8 million in 2008 compared to $89.1 million in 2007, an increase of $6.7 million, or 7.5%, reflecting higher 
overall property investments and higher tax rates.  

Interest charges (income):  

Long-term debt and transition property securitization certificate interest charges were $154.3 million in 2008 compared to $147.5 million 
in 2007, an increase of $6.8 million, or 4.6%. The increase in interest charges reflects:  
   

This increase was partially offset by:  
   

Interest income and other, net were $18 million of net interest income in 2008 compared to $9.4 million of net interest income in 2007, an 
increase of $8.6 million, or 91.4%, due to increased interest income of $14.8 million related to higher regulated asset balances of uncollected 
transition charges that are deferred and will be collected through future rates. These amounts were offset by lower interest income on income tax 
matters of $4.5 million.  

Short-term debt interest charges were $10.3 million in 2008 compared to $25.5 million in 2007, a decrease of $15.2 million, or 59.6%, due to 
the reduction of 294 basis points in the 2008 weighted average borrowing rate. The weighted average short-term interest rate including fees was 
2.39% and 5.33% in 2008 and 2007, respectively. Also contributing to the lower costs in 2008 was an 8.6% reduction in the average level of 
borrowed funds as compared to 2007.  

AFUDC decreased $2.1 million in 2008 due to lower short-term borrowing rates.  

Other income (deductions):  

Other income was approximately $13.3 million in 2008 compared to $14.2 million in 2007, a decrease of $0.9 million. The decrease reflects 
lower earnings from the Company’s equity investments and lower interest and dividend income. These factors were partially offset by proceeds 
of $4.8 million in 2008 resulting from an environmental site insurance settlement.  

Other deductions was approximately $5 million in both 2008 and 2007.  

Income tax expense:  

Income tax expense was $140.7 million in 2008 compared to $129.2 million in 2007, an increase of $11.5 million, or 8.9%, primarily reflecting 
the higher pre-tax operating income in 2008.  

Liquidity, Commitments and Capital Resources  

Financial Market Impact  

Ongoing volatility and uncertainty in the financial markets may adversely impact the availability of credit and the cost of credit to NSTAR and 
its subsidiary companies. However, during 2009, NSTAR was able to successfully access capital markets to issue long-term debt and also to 
facilitate short-term financing for working capital  
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  •   $15.2 million in additional interest costs associated with NSTAR Electric’s $300 million Debentures issued in November 2007  

  
•   Lower interest costs on transition property securitization debt of $8 million resulting from redemptions of these securities. 

Securitization interest represents interest on securitization certificates of BEC Funding, BEC Funding II, and CEC Funding, and is 
collateralized by the future income stream associated primarily with NSTAR Electric’s stranded costs  
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needs. NSTAR and its subsidiaries utilize the commercial paper market to meet their short-term cash requirements. NSTAR and NSTAR Electric 
currently have Revolving Credit Agreements in place through December 2012. These Credit Agreements serve as a liquidity backup to the 
commercial paper program. Short-term commercial paper debt obligations are commonly refinanced to long-term obligations with fixed-rate 
bonds or notes as needed or when interest rates are considered favorable. Refer to the accompanying Item 1A, Risk Factors, for a further 
discussion.  

As a result of volatility in the financial markets and its impact on NSTAR’s Pension and PBOP Plan investments, NSTAR continues to evaluate 
the extent to which it may make additional cash contributions. Should NSTAR elect to increase its level of funding to these plans, NSTAR 
believes it has adequate access to capital resources to support its contributions.  

Working Capital  

NSTAR anticipates refinancing its current maturities of long-term debt obligations. NSTAR (Holding company) has a $500 million note due in 
February 2010. NSTAR Electric has a $125 million note due in May 2010. NSTAR and NSTAR Electric filed a joint Registration Statement on 
Form S-3 on October 9, 2009 in preparation for possible public debt offerings. On November 17, 2009, NSTAR issued $350 million in 4.50% 
Debentures due 2019 that was used to partially reduce short-term borrowings with the remainder invested on a short-term basis. The short-term 
borrowing capacity and short-term investments that resulted from the November 17, 2009 $350 million debenture issuance are expected to be 
utilized to help pay the $500 million note due in February 2010. On January 14, 2010, NSTAR Gas entered into a $125 million Bond Purchase 
Agreement with private investors on a 10-year First Mortgage Bond series at a coupon rate of 4.46%. Funding took place on January 28, 2010. 
NSTAR believes that it has adequate access to short-term credit markets to facilitate its working capital needs at favorable terms.  

Capital Expenditures and Contractual Obligations  

The most recent estimates of capital expenditures for 2010 and the years 2011-2014 are as follows:  
   

The amounts shown above exclude expenditures for NSTAR’s proposed transmission investment with Northeast Utilities and Hydro-Quebec as 
these costs will be incurred by an entity that will be created to hold these assets.  

Management continuously reviews its capital expenditure and financing programs. These programs and the estimates included in this Form 10-K 
are subject to revision due to changes in regulatory requirements, operating requirements, environmental standards, availability and cost of 
capital, interest rates and other assumptions.  
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(in millions)    2010    2011-2014 

Plant expenditures:        

Electric     $ 317    $ 1,130 
Gas       53      170 

              

   $ 370    $ 1,300 
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In addition to plant expenditures, NSTAR enters into a variety of contractual obligations and other commitments in the course of ordinary 
business activities. The following table summarizes NSTAR’s significant contractual cash obligations as of December 31, 2009:  
   

Transition property securitization payments reflect securities issued in 1999 by BEC Funding LLC, and in 2005, additional transition property 
securitization bonds issued through BEC Funding II, LLC and CEC Funding, LLC. These funding entities recover the principal and interest 
obligations for their transition property securitization bonds from customers of NSTAR Electric, through a component of NSTAR Electric’s 
transition charges and, as a result, these payment obligations do not affect NSTAR’s overall cash flow.  

Purchase obligations relate to transmission and distribution equipment, computer software and equipment, and various supplies.  

Management cannot estimate projected Pension and PBOP contributions beyond 2014. Refer to Note H, “Pension and Other Postretirement 
Benefits,” in the accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.  

Electric capacity and gas transportation and storage obligations reflect obligations for purchased power and the cost of gas, respectively, and are 
fully recoverable. As a result, these payment obligations do not affect NSTAR’s results of operations.  

Obligations related to the decommissioning of nuclear generating units are based on estimates from the Yankee Companies’ management and 
reflect the total remaining approximate cost for decommissioning and/or security or protection of the three units in which NSTAR Electric has 
equity investments. Decommissioning costs are fully recoverable from customers.  

The electric interconnection agreement relates to a single interconnection with a municipal utility for additional capacity into NSTAR Electric’s 
service territory.  
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(in millions)    2010    2011    2012    2013    2014    
Years  

Thereafter    Total 

Long-term debt maturities     $ 626    $ 2    $ 402    $ 2    $ 317    $ 1,038    $ 2,387 
Interest obligations on long-term debt       117      92      92      73      65      461      900 
Securitization obligations       58      84      84      44      —        —        270 
Interest obligations on transition property securitization       13      8      5      1      —        —        27 
Leases of property       7      7      7      7      5      6      39 
Leases of capital equipment       7      7      6      5      4      7      36 
Purchase obligations       14      3      1      —        —        —        18 
Pension and PBOP obligations       60      75      90      80      80      —        385 
Electric capacity obligations       2      2      2      2      3      12      23 
Gas transportation & storage agreements       66      70      55      35      31      139      396 
Decommissioning of nuclear generating units       8      9      9      8      8      7      49 
Electric interconnection agreement       3      3      3      3      3      45      60 
Purchase power buy-out obligations       140      75      32      27      31      41      346 

                                                 

Total obligations (a)     $ 1,121    $ 437    $ 788    $ 287    $ 547    $ 1,756    $ 4,936 
                                                 

  
(a) Management has not included its uncertain tax position liability as the timing of a payment, if any, cannot be reasonably estimated. As of 

December 31, 2009, $15 million has been recorded as an uncertain tax position liability. Refer to Note G, “Income Taxes,” in the 
accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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The purchase power buy-out obligation relates to NSTAR Electric’s execution of several agreements to buy-out or restructure certain long-term 
purchase power contracts. NSTAR Electric fully recovers these payments through its transition charge. These amounts represent payments by 
NSTAR Electric for these agreements.  

Current Cash Flow Activity  

NSTAR’s primary uses of cash in 2009 included capital expenditures, dividend payments, long-term and securitized debt redemptions and 
contributions to the Pension and PBOP plans. NSTAR’s primary sources of cash in 2009 included cash from electric and gas operations and 
issuance of $450 million in long-term debt.  

Operating Activities  

The net cash provided by continuing operating activities was $611.2 million in 2009, as compared to $517.7 million in 2008, an increase of 
approximately $93.5 million primarily due to an increase in earnings driven by decreased operations and maintenance costs and lower income 
tax payments related to higher bonus depreciation partially offset by higher contributions to the pension and postretirement plans.  

Investing Activities  

The net cash used in investing activities of continuing operations in 2009 was $375.7 million, compared to $404.7 million in 2008. The majority 
of these expenditures were for system reliability improvements and capacity improvements in the NSTAR service territory. The decrease in plant 
expenditures was primarily due to the completion of NSTAR’s 345kV Transmission Project in 2008.  

Financing Activities  

Net cash used in financing activities of continuing operations in 2009 was $118.1 million compared to $135.1 million in 2008. Uses of cash 
primarily reflect long-term and securitized debt redemptions of $155.7 million in 2009 compared to $155.2 million in 2008 and dividend 
payments of $162.2 million in 2009 compared to $151.5 million in 2008. In addition, NSTAR’s short-term debt decreased by $241.9 million to 
$341 million at December 31, 2009 compared to $582.9 million at December 31, 2008. Sources of cash during 2009 included proceeds from 
NSTAR Electric’s issuance of $100 million in long-term debt and NSTAR’s issuance of $350 million in long-term debt.  

Income Tax Payments  

During 2009 and 2008, NSTAR made income tax payments of $91.3 million and $124.5 million, respectively. Lower required income tax 
payments are primarily attributable to benefits from bonus depreciation on assets placed in-service during the year and also tax benefits from 
pension contributions during 2009.  

Refundable Income Tax  

The refundable income tax of $129.1 million related to the SSCM will be fully refunded to NSTAR including interest. Subject to timely 
completion of IRS appeals discussions this amount is expected by June 2010. Refer to Note G, “Income Taxes,” in the accompanying Notes to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional details  

Long-Term Financing Activities  

On February 13, 2009, NSTAR Electric sold, at a premium, $100 million of fixed rate (5.625%) Debentures due November 15, 2017 (effective 
rate of 4.976%). The Debentures form a single series and are fungible with NSTAR Electric’s 5.625% $300 million Debentures due 
November 15, 2017 issued on November 19, 2007.  
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On November 17, 2009, NSTAR sold, at a discount, $350 million of fixed rate (4.50%) Debentures due November 15, 2019.  

On January 14, 2010, NSTAR Gas entered into a $125 million Bond Purchase Agreement with a group of private investors for a 10 year, 4.46% 
series of First Mortgage Bonds. Funding took place on January 28, 2010.  

Short-Term Financing Activities  

NSTAR’s short-term debt decreased by $241.9 million to $341 million at December 31, 2009 compared to $582.9 million at December 31, 2008. 
The decrease resulted primarily from pay down of commercial paper with proceeds from long-term debt issuances.  

The banking arrangements in place require NSTAR and its subsidiaries to make daily cash transfers to fund vendor checks that are presented for 
payment. These banking arrangements do not permit the right of offset among the Company’s subsidiaries’ cash accounts. In the event of a 
credit book balance in any one of the Company’s cash accounts resulting from uncleared checks, the Company will adjust its disbursement cash 
account accordingly. Changes in the balances of the disbursement cash accounts are reflected in financing activities in the accompanying 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.  

Sources of Additional Capital and Financial Covenant Requirements  

With the exception of bond indemnity agreements, NSTAR has no financial guarantees, commitments, debt or lease agreements that would 
require a change in terms and conditions, such as acceleration of payment obligations, as a result of a change in its credit rating. However, in 
addition to the bond indemnity agreements, NSTAR’s subsidiaries could be required to provide additional security for energy supply contract 
performance obligations, such as a letter of credit for their pro-rata share of the remaining value of such contracts.  

NSTAR and NSTAR Electric have no financial covenant requirements under their respective long-term debt arrangements. Pursuant to a 
revolving credit agreement, NSTAR Electric must maintain a total debt to capitalization ratio no greater than 65% at all times, excluding 
Transition Property Securitization Certificates and excluding accumulated other comprehensive loss from common equity. NSTAR Gas was in 
compliance with its financial covenant requirements including a minimum equity requirement, under its long-term debt arrangements at 
December 31, 2009 and 2008. NSTAR’s long-term debt other than its secured debt, issued by NSTAR Gas and MATEP, is unsecured.  

NSTAR (Holding Company) currently has a $175 million revolving credit agreement that expires December 31, 2012. At December 31, 2009 
and 2008, there were no amounts outstanding under the revolving credit agreement. This credit facility serves as a backup to NSTAR’s $175 
million commercial paper program that, at December 31, 2009 and 2008, had zero and $175 million outstanding, respectively. Under the terms 
of the credit agreement, NSTAR is required to maintain a maximum total consolidated debt to total capitalization ratio of not greater than 65% at 
all times, excluding Transition Property Securitization Certificates, and excluding accumulated other comprehensive loss from common equity. 
Commitment fees must be paid on the total agreement amount. At December 31, 2009 and 2008, NSTAR was in full compliance with the 
aforementioned covenant as the ratios were 59.8% and 60.2%, respectively.  

On April 6, 2009, the DPU approved NSTAR Electric’s new two-year financing plan to issue an additional $500 million in long-term debt 
securities. On October 9, 2009, in connection with this filing, NSTAR and NSTAR Electric filed an unlimited joint registration statement on 
Form S-3 with the SEC to issue debt securities from time to time in one or more series. NSTAR and NSTAR Electric may use the proceeds from 
the prospective issuance of these securities for the redemption or repayment of outstanding long-term debt and short-term debt balances and/or 
general working capital purposes.  
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NSTAR Electric has approval from the FERC to issue short-term debt securities from time to time on or before October 22, 2010, with maturity 
dates no later than October 21, 2011, in amounts such that the aggregate principal does not exceed $655 million at any one time. NSTAR 
Electric has a five-year, $450 million revolving credit agreement that expires December 31, 2012. However, unless NSTAR Electric receives 
necessary approvals from the DPU, the credit agreement will expire 364 days from the date of the first draw under the agreement. At 
December 31, 2009 and 2008, there were no amounts outstanding under the revolving credit agreement. This credit facility serves as backup to 
NSTAR Electric’s $450 million commercial paper program that had $341 million and $354.6 million outstanding balances at December 31, 2009 
and 2008, respectively. Under the terms of the revolving credit agreement, NSTAR Electric is required to maintain a consolidated maximum 
total debt to capitalization ratio of not greater than 65% at all times, excluding Transition Property Securitization Certificates, and excluding 
accumulated other comprehensive loss from common equity. At December 31, 2009 and 2008, NSTAR Electric was in full compliance with its 
covenants in connection with its short-term credit facilities, as the ratios were 46.5% and 47.6%, respectively.  

NSTAR Gas has a $100 million line of credit. This line of credit is due to expire on December 10, 2010. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, 
NSTAR Gas had zero and $53.3 million outstanding, respectively.  

On November 9, 2009, NSTAR Gas received approval from the DPU to issue up to $125 million of long-term debt. On January 14, 2010, 
NSTAR Gas entered into a $125 million Bond Purchase Agreement with private investors on a 10-year First Mortgage Bond series at a coupon 
rate of 4.46%. Funding took place on January 28, 2010.  

Historically, NSTAR and its subsidiaries have had a variety of external sources of financing available, as previously indicated, at favorable rates 
and terms to finance its external cash requirements. However, the availability of such financing at favorable rates and terms depends heavily 
upon prevailing market conditions and NSTAR’s or its subsidiaries’ financial condition and credit ratings.  

NSTAR’s goal is to maintain a capital structure that preserves an appropriate balance between debt and equity. As of December 31, 2009, 
NSTAR’s subsidiaries could declare and pay dividends of up to approximately $1.3 billion of their total common equity (approximately $2.4 
billion) to NSTAR and remain in compliance with debt covenants. Based on NSTAR’s key cash resources available as previously discussed, 
management believes its liquidity and capital resources are sufficient to meet its current and projected requirements.  

Commitments and Contingencies  

NSTAR is exposed to uncertain tax positions and regulatory matters as discussed in this MD&A under the caption “Critical Accounting Policies 
and Estimates,” and as disclosed in Note O, “Commitments and Contingencies,” in the accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements.  

Performance Assurances from Electricity and Gas Supply Agreements  

Electric Agreements  

NSTAR Electric continuously enters into power purchase agreements to meet its entire Basic Service supply obligations. NSTAR Electric’s 
power suppliers are either investment grade companies or are subsidiaries of larger companies with investment grade or better credit ratings that 
guaranty the supplier’s obligations. In accordance with NSTAR’s Internal Credit Policy, and to minimize NSTAR Electric risk in the event the 
supplier encounters financial difficulties or otherwise fails to perform, NSTAR Electric evaluates the supplier’s credit and NSTAR Electric’s 
potential exposure (on a supplier default), and when necessary obtains letters of credit or other acceptable financial security instruments. In 
addition, under these agreements, if a supplier (or its parent guarantor) fails to maintain an investment grade credit rating, it is required to 
provide additional financial security for performance of its obligations. These agreements also include a reciprocal provision, where in the  
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event that NSTAR Electric is downgraded below investment grade, it would be required to provide additional security for performance, such as a 
letter of credit. In view of current volatility in the energy supply industry, NSTAR Electric is unable to determine whether its suppliers (or their 
parent guarantors) will become subject to financial difficulties, or whether these financial assurances and guarantees are sufficient. In the event 
the supplier (or its guarantor) does not provide the required additional financial security as required under the agreement, NSTAR Electric may 
then terminate the agreement and collect a liquidation payment from the defaulting supplier. In such event, NSTAR Electric may be required to 
secure alternative sources of supply at higher or lower prices (depending on prevailing market conditions) than provided under the terminated 
agreements.  

Gas Agreements  

NSTAR Gas continually evaluates the financial stability of current and prospective gas suppliers. Both parties are required to have and maintain 
investment grade credit ratings or financial assurances and guarantees that include both parental guarantees and letters of credit in place from the 
parent company of the supplier. The firm gas supply agreements allow either party to require financial assurance, or, if necessary, contract 
termination in the event that either party is downgraded below investment grade level and is unable to provide financial assurance acceptable to 
the other party. In addition, these agreements contain cross-default provisions that would allow NSTAR Gas and its counterparties to terminate 
and liquidate a gas hedge contract if either party is in default on other swap agreements with that same counterparty, or another unrelated 
agreement with that same counterparty in excess of stipulated threshold amounts.  

Virtually all of NSTAR Gas’ firm gas supply agreements are short-term (one year or less) and utilize market-based, monthly indexed pricing 
mechanisms so the financial risk to the Company would be minimal if a supplier were to fail to perform. However, in the event that a firm 
supplier does fail to perform under its firm gas supply agreement, the Company would be entitled to any positive difference between the monthly 
supply price and the cost of replacement supplies. The cost of gas procured for firm gas sales customers is recovered through a cost of gas 
adjustment mechanism which is updated semi-annually. Under DPU regulations, interim adjustments to the cost of gas are required when the 
actual costs of gas supply vary from projections by more than 5%.  

Financial and Performance Guarantees  

On a limited basis, NSTAR and certain of its subsidiaries may enter into agreements providing financial assurance to third parties. Such 
agreements include letters of credit, surety bonds, and other guarantees.  

At December 31, 2009, outstanding guarantees totaled $28.5 million as follows:  
   

Letter of Credit  

NSTAR has issued a $5.6 million letter of credit for the benefit of a third party, as trustee in connection with Advanced Energy System’s (AES) 
6.924% Notes. The letter of credit is available if the subsidiary has insufficient funds to pay the debt service requirements. As of December 31, 
2009, there have been no amounts drawn under its letter of credit. The letter of credit is to be cancelled and the related AES 6.924% Notes paid 
off at the time of the MATEP sale closing, which is anticipated towards the end of the first quarter or early second quarter of 2010.  
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(in thousands)      

Letter of Credit     $ 5,560 
Surety Bonds       17,727 
Other Guarantees       5,203 

       

Total Guarantees     $ 28,490 
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Surety Bonds  

As of December 31, 2009, certain of NSTAR’s subsidiaries have purchased a total of $1.5 million of performance surety bonds for the purpose 
of obtaining licenses, permits and rights-of-way in various municipalities. In addition, NSTAR and certain of its subsidiaries have purchased 
approximately $16.2 million in workers’ compensation self-insurer bonds. These bonds support the guarantee by NSTAR and certain of its 
subsidiaries to the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, required as part of the Company’s workers’ compensation self-insurance program. NSTAR 
and certain of its subsidiaries have indemnity agreements to provide additional financial security to its bond company in the form of a contingent 
letter of credit to be triggered in the event of a downgrade in the future of NSTAR’s Senior Note rating to below BBB+ by S&P and/or to below 
Baa1 by Moody’s. These Indemnity Agreements cover both the performance surety bonds and workers’ compensation bonds.  

Other  

NSTAR and its subsidiaries have also issued $5.2 million of residual value guarantees related to its equity interest in the Hydro-Quebec 
transmission companies, NEH and NHH.  

Management believes the likelihood that NSTAR would be required to perform or otherwise incur any significant losses associated with any of 
these guarantees is remote.  

Contingencies  

Environmental Matters  

NSTAR subsidiaries face possible liabilities as a result of involvement in several multi-party disposal sites, state-regulated sites or third party 
claims associated with contamination remediation. NSTAR generally expects to have only a small percentage of the total potential liability for 
the majority of these sites. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, NSTAR had liabilities of approximately $0.8 million for these environmental 
sites. This estimated recorded liability is based on an evaluation of all currently available facts with respect to these sites.  

NSTAR Gas is participating in the assessment or remediation of certain former MGP sites and alleged MGP waste disposal sites to determine if 
and to what extent such sites have been contaminated and whether NSTAR Gas may be responsible to undertake remedial action. The DPU 
permits recovery of costs associated with MGP sites over a 7-year period, without carrying costs. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, NSTAR 
had a liability of approximately $14 million and $13.3 million, respectively, as an estimate for site cleanup costs for several MGP sites for which 
NSTAR Gas was identified as a potentially responsible party. A corresponding regulatory asset was recorded that reflects the future rate 
recovery for these costs.  

Estimates related to environmental remediation costs are reviewed and adjusted as further investigation and assignment of responsibility occurs 
and as either additional sites are identified or NSTAR’s responsibilities for such sites evolve or are resolved. NSTAR’s ultimate liability for 
future environmental remediation costs may vary from these estimates. Based on NSTAR’s current assessment of its environmental 
responsibilities, existing legal requirements, and regulatory policies, NSTAR does not believe that these environmental remediation costs will 
have a material adverse effect on NSTAR’s consolidated results of operations, financial position, or cash flows.  

Fair Value of Financial Instruments  

Carrying amounts and fair values of long-term indebtedness (excluding notes payable, including current maturities) as of December 31, 2009 and 
2008 were as follows:  
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     2009    2008 

(in thousands)    
Carrying  
Amount    Fair Value    

Carrying  
Amount    Fair Value 

Long-term indebtedness of continuing operations (including current maturities)     $ 2,649,681    $ 2,755,110    $ 2,353,185    $ 2,392,600 
Indebtedness of discontinued operations     $ 84,163    $ 85,290    $ 88,515    $ 82,360 
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As discussed in the following section, NSTAR’s exposure to financial market risk results primarily from fluctuations in interest rates.  

   

Risk Management  

NSTAR’s Energy Procurement Policy governs all energy-related transactions for its regulated electric and gas subsidiaries. This Policy is 
reviewed annually and is administered by NSTAR’s Risk Committee. The Committee is chaired by NSTAR’s chief executive officer and 
includes other senior officers. Items covered by this Policy and approved by the Committee are all new energy supply transactions, authorization 
limits, energy related derivative and hedging transactions, and counter-party credit profiles.  

Commodity and Credit Risk  

Although NSTAR has material energy commodity purchase contracts, any potential market risk, including counter-party credit risk, should not 
have an adverse impact on NSTAR’s results of operations, cash flows, or financial position. NSTAR’s electric and gas distribution subsidiaries 
have rate-making mechanisms that allow for the recovery of energy supply costs from those customers who make commodity purchases from 
NSTAR’s electric and gas subsidiaries rather than from the competitive market supplier. All energy supply costs incurred by NSTAR Electric 
and NSTAR Gas in providing energy to their retail customers are recovered on a fully reconciling basis.  

In addition, NSTAR has minimal cash flow risk due to the short-term nature of these contracts and the rate-making mechanisms that permit 
recovery of these costs in a timely manner. The majority of NSTAR’s electric and gas commodity purchase contracts range in term from three to 
twelve months. NSTAR Electric has the ability to seek cost recovery and adjust its rates as frequently as every three months for its large 
commercial and industrial customers and every six months for its residential customers. NSTAR Gas has the ability to seek cost recovery as 
required if costs exceed 5% of the current projected cost recovery level. Both NSTAR Electric and NSTAR Gas earn a carrying charge on under-
collected commodity balances that would mitigate any incremental short-term borrowings costs. NSTAR believes it is unlikely that it would be 
exposed to a liquidity risk resulting from significant market price increases based on the recovery mechanisms currently in place.  

To mitigate the cash flow and cost variability related to the commodity price risk on approximately one-third of its natural gas purchases, 
NSTAR Gas purchases financial futures contracts on behalf of its customers. NSTAR Gas has a rate-making mechanism that provides for 
recovery of the actual settlement value of these contracts on a fully reconciling basis. Refer to the accompanying Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements, Note F, “Derivative Instruments - Hedging Agreements,” for a further discussion.  

Interest Rate Risk  

NSTAR believes its interest risk primarily relates to short-term debt obligations and anticipated future long-term debt financing requirements to 
fund its capital programs. These short-term debt obligations are typically refinanced with fixed-rate long-term notes as needed and when market 
interest rates are favorable. The Company is exposed to changes in interest rates primarily based on levels of short-term commercial paper 
outstanding. The weighted average interest rates, including fees for short-term indebtedness, were 0.4% and 2.4% for 2009 and 2008, 
respectively. On a long-term basis, NSTAR mitigates its interest rate risk through the issuance of mostly fixed rate debt of various maturities.  
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NSTAR  
Consolidated Statements of Income  

   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.  
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 

     Years ended December 31,   

     2009     2008     2007   

     (in thousands, except per share amounts)   
Operating revenues:         

Electric     $ 2,551,581      $ 2,639,637      $ 2,562,850    
Gas       482,136        553,680        560,478    
Unregulated       16,327        15,004        12,757    

       
  

      
  

      
  

Total operating revenues       3,050,044        3,208,321        3,136,085    
       

  
      

  
      

  

Operating expenses:         

Purchased power and transmission       1,260,510        1,353,747        1,318,327    
Cost of gas sold       297,864        372,389        375,839    
Operations and maintenance       409,459        438,175        427,018    
Depreciation and amortization       370,082        369,800        360,169    
Demand side management and renewable energy programs       88,954        73,269        70,877    
Property and other taxes       107,073        95,812        89,103    

       
  

      
  

      
  

Total operating expenses       2,533,942        2,703,192        2,641,333    
       

  
      

  
      

  

Operating income       516,102        505,129        494,752    
       

  
      

  
      

  

Interest charges (income):         

Long-term debt       132,599        126,187        111,236    
Transition property securitization       19,540        28,120        36,287    
Interest income and other, net       (24,368 )      (18,035 )      (9,396 )  
Short-term debt       1,373        10,259        25,525    
AFUDC       (508 )      (1,841 )      (3,881 )  

       
  

      
  

      
  

Total interest charges       128,636        144,690        159,771    
       

  
      

  
      

  

Other income (deductions):         

Other income       9,164        13,264        14,181    
Other deductions       (3,739 )      (5,002 )      (4,987 )  

       
  

      
  

      
  

Total other income       5,425        8,262        9,194    
       

  
      

  
      

  

Income from continuing operations before income taxes       392,891        368,701        344,175    
Income taxes       146,916        140,745        129,159    

       
  

      
  

      
  

Net income from continuing operations       245,975        227,956        215,016    
       

  
      

  
      

  

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax       10,150        11,551        8,459    
Transaction costs on discontinued operations, net of tax       917        —          —      

       
  

      
  

      
  

Net income       255,208        239,507        223,475    
Preferred stock dividends of subsidiary to the noncontrolling interest       1,960        1,960        1,960    

       
  

      
  

      
  

Net income attributable to common shareholders     $ 253,248      $ 237,547      $ 221,515    
       

  

      

  

      

  

Weighted average common shares outstanding:         

Basic       106,808        106,808        106,808    
Diluted       106,996        107,045        107,122    

Earnings per common share - Basic and Diluted:         

Continuing operations     $ 2.28      $ 2.11      $ 1.99    
Discontinued operations       0.09        0.11        0.08    

       
  

      
  

      
  

Total earnings     $ 2.37      $ 2.22      $ 2.07    
       

  

      

  

      

  

Dividends declared per common share     $ 1.525      $ 1.425      $ 1.325    
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NSTAR  
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income  

   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.  

NSTAR  
Consolidated Statements of Retained Earnings  

   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.  
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     Years ended December 31,   

     2009     2008     2007   

     (in thousands)   

Net income attributable to common shareholders     $ 253,248      $ 237,547      $ 221,515    
Other comprehensive loss from continuing operations, net:         

       

Pension and postretirement costs       (1,032 )      (1,534 )      (504 )  
Deferred income taxes benefit       383        634        151    

       
  

      
  

      
  

Total other comprehensive loss from continuing  
operations, net       (649 )      (900 )      (353 )  

       
  

      
  

      
  

Comprehensive income from continuing operations       252,599        236,647        221,162    

Other comprehensive loss from discontinued operations, net:         

Postretirement costs       (251 )      (51 )      (363 )  
Deferred income taxes benefit       97        19        141    

       
  

      
  

      
  

Total other comprehensive loss from discontinued  
operations, net       (154 )      (32 )      (222 )  

       
  

      
  

      
  

Comprehensive income     $ 252,445      $ 236,615      $ 220,940    
       

  

      

  

      

  

     Years ended December 31, 
     2009    2008    2007 
     (in thousands) 
Balance at the beginning of the year, as previously reported     $ 876,271    $ 790,926    $ 664,323 
Adoption of accounting standard - Uncertain Tax Positions       —        —        46,610 

                     

Adjusted balance at the beginning of the year       876,271      790,926      710,933 
Add:           

Net income attributable to common shareholders       253,248      237,547      221,515 
                     

Subtotal       1,129,519      1,028,473      932,448 
                     

Deduct:           

Dividends declared:           

Common shares       162,883      152,202      141,522 
                     

Balance at the end of the year     $ 966,636    $ 876,271    $ 790,926 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.  
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     December 31, 
     2009    2008 
     (in thousands) 
Assets       

Current assets:        

Cash and cash equivalents     $ 143,449    $ 12,384 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $32,545 and $32,859, respectively       248,094      311,688 
Accrued unbilled revenues       67,159      61,892 
Regulatory assets       337,172      439,914 
Inventory, at average cost       59,307      87,983 
Refundable income taxes       129,120      129,120 
Other       39,069      32,501 
Assets of discontinued operations held for sale       167,857      175,493 

              

Total current assets       1,191,227      1,250,975 
              

Utility plant:        

Electric and gas plant in-service, at original cost       6,031,853      5,694,537 
Less: accumulated depreciation       1,525,248      1,418,428 

              

Net electric and gas plant in-service       4,506,605      4,276,109 
Construction work in progress       68,582      122,385 

              

Net utility plant       4,575,187      4,398,494 
              

Other property and investments:        

Unregulated property in-service, at original cost, net       18,571      20,877 
Electric equity investments       4,683      6,701 
Other investments       75,931      72,475 

              

Total other property and investments       99,185      100,053 
              

Deferred debits:        

Regulatory assets       2,228,243      2,466,018 
Other deferred debits       50,944      53,949 

              

Total deferred debits and other assets       2,279,187      2,519,967 
              

Total assets     $ 8,144,786    $ 8,269,489 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.  
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     December 31,   

     2009     2008   

     (in thousands)   

Liabilities and Capitalization      

Current liabilities:       

Long-term debt     $ 625,687      $ 688    
Transition property securitization       57,553        92,580    
Notes payable       341,000        582,883    
Income taxes       62,809        87,578    
Accounts payable       245,720        280,164    
Power contract obligations       132,128        155,815    
Accrued interest       32,676        31,073    
Dividends payable       43,050        40,380    
Accrued expenses       20,337        19,251    
Other       78,233        77,139    
Liabilities of discontinued operations held for sale       89,956        93,888    

       
  

      
  

Total current liabilities       1,729,149        1,461,439    
       

  
      

  

Deferred credits and other liabilities:       

Accumulated deferred income taxes       1,230,992        1,155,702    
Unamortized investment tax credits       16,795        18,437    
Power contract obligations       214,684        345,993    
Pension and other postretirement liability       625,476        743,572    
Regulatory liability - cost of removal       269,603        264,959    
Other       176,040        188,315    

       
  

      
  

Total deferred credits and other liabilities       2,533,590        2,716,978    
       

  
      

  

Capitalization:       

Long-term debt liabilities:       

Long-term debt       1,754,236        1,928,708    
Transition property securitization       212,205        331,209    

       
  

      
  

Total long-term debt liabilities       1,966,441        2,259,917    
       

  
      

  

Noncontrolling interest - preferred stock of subsidiary       43,000        43,000    
       

  
      

  

Common equity:       

Common shares, par value $1 per share, 200,000,000 shares authorized, 106,808,376 issued and 
outstanding  

   

  106,808    
  

  106,808         

Premium on common shares       813,490        818,601    
Retained earnings       966,636        876,271    
Accumulated other comprehensive loss       (14,328 )      (13,525 )  

       
  

      
  

Total common equity       1,872,606        1,788,155    
       

  
      

  

Total capitalization       3,882,047        4,091,072    
       

  
      

  

Commitments and contingencies       

Total liabilities and capitalization     $ 8,144,786      $ 8,269,489    
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    Years ended December 31,   

    2009     2008     2007   

    (in thousands)   

Operating activities:        

Net income    $ 255,208      $ 239,507      $ 223,475    
Less: Income from discontinued operations, net of tax      10,150        11,551        8,459    
Add: Transaction costs on discontinued operations, net of tax      917        —          —      
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:        

Depreciation and amortization      370,082        369,800        360,169    
Debt amortization      5,608        6,261        6,183    
Deferred income taxes      59,962        8,737        (5,155 )  
Noncash stock-based compensation      8,495        9,773        8,910    

Net changes in:        

Accounts receivable and accrued unbilled revenues      56,683        (3,624 )      (22,664 )  
Inventory, at average cost      28,676        27,808        6,184    
Other current assets      (6,009 )      (147,542 )      1,687    
Accounts payable      (9,832 )      (23,262 )      (1,665 )  
Other current liabilities      (20,471 )      (20,328 )      101,802    

Regulatory assets      (17,322 )      (17,815 )      85,832    
Long-term power contract obligations      (123,776 )      (113,965 )      (152,633 )  
Net change from other miscellaneous operating activities      13,099        193,865        (132,054 )  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations      611,170        517,664        471,612    
Cash provided by operating activities of discontinued operations      26,576        27,384        21,115    

      
  

      
  

      
  

Net cash provided by operating activities      637,746        545,048        492,727    
      

  
      

  
      

  

Investing activities:        

Plant expenditures (including AFUDC)      (375,164 )      (414,986 )      (352,155 )  
Proceeds from sale of properties      2,074        2,175        —      
Net change in other investment activities      (2,595 )      8,072        (1,160 )  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Cash used in investing activities of continuing operations      (375,685 )      (404,739 )      (353,315 )  
Cash used in investing activities of discontinued operations      (3,971 )      (12,881 )      (4,290 )  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Net cash used in investing activities      (379,656 )      (417,620 )      (357,605 )  
      

  
      

  
      

  

Financing activities:        

Long-term debt issuance      450,000        —          300,000    
Premium (discount) on issuance of long-term debt      1,637        —          (1,306 )  
Debt issuance costs      (3,429 )      —          (2,301 )  
Transition property securitization redemptions      (154,031 )      (153,579 )      (151,932 )  
Long-term debt redemptions      (1,629 )      (1,582 )      (80,804 )  
Net change in notes payable      (241,883 )      179,483        (33,000 )  
Common share dividends paid      (160,213 )      (149,532 )      (138,851 )  
Preferred stock dividends of subsidiary to the noncontrolling interest      (1,960 )      (1,960 )      (1,960 )  
Change in disbursement accounts      1,475        (1,963 )      6,921    
Cash received for exercise of equity compensation      5,065        4,846        10,948    
Cash used to settle equity compensation      (13,616 )      (11,585 )      (23,247 )  
Windfall tax effect of settlement of equity compensation      464        744        2,538    

      
  

      
  

      
  

Cash used in financing activities of continuing operations      (118,120 )      (135,128 )      (112,994 )  
Cash used in financing activities of discontinued operations      (4,756 )      (4,437 )      (4,139 )  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Net cash used in financing activities      (122,876 )      (139,565 )      (117,133 )  
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NSTAR  
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows  

(continued)  
   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.  
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    Years ended December 31,   

    2009     2008     2007   

    (in thousands)   

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents      135,214        (12,137 )      17,989    
Adjustment for discontinued operations, net of dividends      (4,149 )      3,434        (12,686 )  
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year      12,384        21,087        15,784    

      
  

      
  

      
  

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year    $ 143,449      $ 12,384      $ 21,087    
      

  

      

  

      

  

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:        

Continuing operations - Cash paid during the year for:        

Interest, net of amounts capitalized    $ 141,586      $ 159,915      $ 171,432    
Income taxes    $ 91,281      $ 124,478      $ 151,619    

Continuing operations - Non-cash investing activity:        

Plant additions included in accounts payable    $ 26,841      $ 52,359      $ 47,369    

Discontinued operations - Cash paid during the year for interest    $ 6,369      $ 6,708      $ 7,068    
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

Note A. Business Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

1. About NSTAR  

NSTAR (or the Company) is a holding company engaged through its subsidiaries in the energy delivery business serving approximately 
1.4 million customers in Massachusetts, including approximately 1.1 million electric distribution customers in 81 communities and 
approximately 300,000 natural gas distribution customers in 51 communities. NSTAR’s retail electric and transmission and distribution utility 
subsidiaries are NSTAR Electric and NSTAR Gas, respectively. Harbor Electric Energy Company, a wholly-owned subsidiary of NSTAR 
Electric, provides distribution service and ongoing support to its only customer, the Massachusetts Water Resources Authority. NSTAR’s 
nonutility, unregulated operations include telecommunications operations (NSTAR Com) and a liquefied natural gas service company 
(Hopkinton). Utility operations accounted for approximately 99% of consolidated operating revenues in 2009, 2008, and 2007.  

NSTAR consolidates three-wholly owned special purpose subsidiaries, BEC Funding LLC, BEC Funding II, LLC and CEC Funding, LLC. 
These entities were created to complete the sale of electric rate reduction certificates to a special purpose trust created by two Massachusetts 
state agencies. These financing transactions securitized the costs incurred related to the divestiture of generation assets and long-term power 
contracts.  

2. Basis of Consolidation and Accounting  

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements reflect the results of operations, comprehensive income, retained earnings, financial 
position and cash flows of NSTAR and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Certain 
immaterial reclassifications have been made to prior year amounts to conform to the current year’s presentation.  

NSTAR’s utility subsidiaries follow accounting policies prescribed by the FERC and the DPU. In addition, NSTAR and its subsidiaries are 
subject to the accounting and reporting requirements of the SEC. The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements conform to accounting 
principles in conformity with GAAP. NSTAR’s utility subsidiaries are subject to the application of ASC 980, Regulated Operations that 
considers the effects of regulation resulting from differences in the timing of their recognition of certain revenues and expenses from those of 
other businesses and industries. The distribution and transmission businesses are subject to rate-regulation that is based on cost recovery and 
meets the criteria for application of ASC 980. Refer to Note E , “Regulatory Assets,” for more information.  

3. Use of Estimates  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management of NSTAR and its subsidiaries to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.  

4. Revenues  

Electric and gas revenues are based on authorized rates approved by the DPU and the FERC. Estimates of distribution and transition revenues for 
electricity and natural gas delivered to customers but not yet billed are accrued at the end of each accounting period.  

Revenues for NSTAR’s nonutility subsidiaries are recognized when services are rendered. Revenues are based, for the most part, on long-term 
contractual rates.  
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NSTAR records sales taxes collected from its customers on a net basis (excluded from operating revenues).  

5. Utility Plant  

Utility plant is stated at original cost. The cost of replacements of property units is capitalized. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. 
The original cost of property retired, net of salvage value, is charged to accumulated depreciation. The incurred related cost of removal is 
charged against the Deferred credits and other liabilities: Regulatory liability - cost of removal in the accompanying Consolidated Balance 
Sheets. The following is a summary of utility property and equipment, at cost, at December 31:  
   

6. Unregulated Property  

Unregulated property is stated at cost or its net realizable value. The following is a summary of nonutility property, plant and equipment, at cost 
less accumulated depreciation, at December 31:  
   

7. Depreciation and Amortization  

Depreciation of utility plant is computed on a straight-line basis using composite rates based on the estimated useful lives of the various classes 
of property. The composite rates are subject to the approval of the DPU and the FERC. The overall composite depreciation rates for utility 
property were 3.07%, 3.03%, and 3.03% in 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively. The rates include a cost of removal component, which is 
collected from customers during the service life of the property. Depreciation and amortization expense of utility plant for 2009, 2008, and 2007 
was $176.7 million, $168.8 million, and $159.3 million, respectively.  

Depreciation and amortization of telecommunications equipment is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated life of the asset, 
typically 15 years. Depreciation and amortization expense on telecommunications equipment was $2.5 million, $2.3 million, and $2.1 million, 
for 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively.  

8. Allowance for Borrowed Funds Used During Construction (AFUDC)  

AFUDC represents the estimated costs to finance utility plant construction. In accordance with regulatory accounting, AFUDC is included as a 
cost of utility plant and a reduction of current interest charges. Although AFUDC is not a current source of cash income, the costs are recovered 
from customers over the service life of  
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(in thousands)    2009    2008 

Electric -        

Distribution     $ 3,822,900    $ 3,640,778 
Transmission       1,234,003      1,117,464 
General       199,839      212,556 

              

Electric utility plant       5,256,742      4,970,798 
              

Gas -        

Transmission and distribution       676,526      631,321 
General       98,585      92,418 

              

Gas utility plant       775,111      723,739 
              

Total utility plant in-service     $ 6,031,853    $ 5,694,537 
              

(in thousands)    2009     2008   

Land     $ 4,783      $ 4,783    
Telecommunications equipment       39,410        39,241    
Buildings and improvements       3,464        3,464    
Less: accumulated depreciation       (29,086 )      (26,611 )  

       
  

      
  

Total unregulated property, net     $ 18,571      $ 20,877    
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the related plant in the form of increased revenues collected as a result of higher depreciation expense. Average AFUDC rates in 2009, 2008, and 
2007 were 0.50%, 2.38%, and 5.27%, respectively, and represented only the costs of short-term debt. The 2009 and 2008 rate decreases are 
directly related to decreases in short-term borrowing rates.  

9. Cash and Cash Equivalents  

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at December 31, 2009 and 2008 are comprised of liquid securities with maturities of 90 days or less 
when purchased.  

NSTAR’s banking arrangements provide for daily cash transfers to its disbursement accounts as vendor checks are presented for payment. These 
banking arrangements do not permit the right of offset amongst subsidiaries’ cash accounts. As a result, credit balances of certain subsidiary 
disbursement accounts in the amounts of $21.2 million and $19.7 million, respectively, at December 31, 2009 and 2008 are included in Current 
liabilities: Accounts payable on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. Changes in the balances of the disbursement accounts are 
reflected in financing activities in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.  

10. Use of Fair Value  

NSTAR uses a fair value hierarchy that gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets, and is applicable to fair value measurements 
of derivative contracts and other instruments that are subject to mark-to-market accounting. Refer to Note L, “Fair Value ,” for more 
information.  

The fair value of financial instruments is estimated based on market trading information, where available. Absent published market values for an 
instrument or other assets, management uses observable market data to arrive at its estimates of fair value. For its long-term debt, management 
estimates are based in part on quotations from broker/dealers or interest rate information for similar instruments. The carrying amount of cash 
and temporary investments, accounts receivable, accounts payable, short-term borrowings and other current liabilities approximates fair value 
because of the short maturity and/or frequent repricing of those instruments.  

In addition, the Company applies fair value recognition provisions to estimate the fair value of its stock-based compensation.  

11. Income Taxes  

Income tax expense includes the current tax obligation or benefit and the change in deferred income tax liability for the period. Deferred income 
taxes result from temporary differences between financial and tax bases of certain assets and liabilities. Income tax benefits associated with 
uncertain tax positions are recognized when the company determines that it is more-likely-than-not that the tax position will be ultimately 
sustained. Refer to Note G, “Income Taxes,” for more information.  

12. Equity Method of Accounting  

NSTAR uses the equity method of accounting for investments in corporate joint ventures in which it does not have a controlling interest. Under 
this method, it records as income or loss the proportionate share of the net earnings or losses of the joint ventures with a corresponding increase 
or decrease in the carrying value of the investment. The investment is reduced as cash dividends are received. NSTAR participates in several 
corporate joint ventures in which it has investments, principally its 14.5% equity investment in two companies that own and operate transmission 
facilities to import electricity from the Hydro-Quebec System in Canada, and its equity investments ranging from 4% to 14% in three regional 
nuclear facilities (CY, MY, and YA), all of which have been decommissioned in accordance with the federal NRC procedures.  
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13. Interest Income and Other, Net  

Major components of interest income and other, net were as follows:  
   

Other interest expense includes interest on life insurance policies, loan facility charges, and interest on customer deposits.  

14. Other Income (Deductions)  

Major components of other income were as follows:  
   

Major components of other deductions were as follows:  
   

15. Purchase and Sales Transactions with ISO-NE  

NSTAR Electric has several remaining long-term power contracts that it sells through ISO-NE at daily market prices and the contracts are not 
used to satisfy its Basic Service energy requirements. NSTAR Electric is required by DPU to credit all proceeds from these energy sales back to 
its customers. NSTAR Electric may not execute new long-term energy supply agreements without approval of the DPU. During 2009, 2008, and 
2007, NSTAR recorded the proceeds from the sales of these contracts as a reduction to Purchased power and transmission expense of $147.1 
million, $251.9 million, and $212.8 million, respectively, on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income.  

   

Variable Interest Entities  

Amended consolidation guidance applicable to variable interest entities will be effective for NSTAR beginning in fiscal year 2010. The 
Company does not anticipate that this authoritative guidance will have an effect on the Company’s existing contractual and business 
relationships and how they are reported in the consolidated financial statements.  
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     Years ended December 31,   
(in thousands)    2009     2008     2007   

Interest on regulatory assets, including transition deferral     $ 21,708      $ 17,012      $ 2,216    
Income tax deficiencies       6,825        4,607        9,114    
Other interest expense       (4,165 )      (3,584 )      (1,934 )  

       
  

      
  

      
  

Total interest income and other, net     $ 24,368      $ 18,035      $ 9,396    
       

  

      

  

      

  

     Years ended December 31, 
(in thousands)    2009    2008    2007 

Equity earnings, dividends, and other investment income     $ 891    $ 820    $ 1,495 
Interest, dividend, and rental income       5,258      6,612      9,226 
Environmental settlement proceeds       —        4,750      —   
Increase in cash surrender value of life insurance policies       2,786      —        479 
Miscellaneous other income       229      1,082      2,981 

                     

Total other income     $ 9,164    $ 13,264    $ 14,181 
                     

     Years ended December 31,   
(in thousands)    2009     2008     2007   

Charitable contributions     $ (2,728 )    $ (860 )    $ (1,730 )  
Decrease in cash surrender value of life insurance policies       —          (1,486 )      —      
Miscellaneous other deductions       (1,011 )      (2,656 )      (3,257 )  

       
  

      
  

      
  

Total other deductions     $ (3,739 )    $ (5,002 )    $ (4,987 )  
       

  

      

  

      

  

16. New Accounting Standards Updates 
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Management has reviewed subsequent events and concluded that no material subsequent events have occurred that are not accounted for in the 
accompanying financial statements or disclosed in the accompanying notes.  

Note B. Discontinued Operations  

On December 21, 2009, NSTAR announced an agreement to sell its wholly-owned subsidiary, Medical Area Total Energy Plant, Inc. (MATEP). 
MATEP provides steam, chilled water service, and electricity under long-term contracts to several hospitals, medical research and biotechnology 
centers, and teaching institutions in the Longwood Medical Area of Boston. The sale is at a price of approximately $320 million in cash and is 
subject to certain federal and local regulatory approvals. The purchase price is subject to certain closing adjustments related to changes in 
working capital, interest, and other adjustments. In connection with the sale, NSTAR will retire MATEP’s debt.  

MATEP’s principal asset is a cogeneration plant that produces electricity, steam and chilled water, and a distribution system that delivers these 
products to its customers. MATEP has approximately 85 employees.  

The sale is expected to close towards the end of the first quarter or early part of the second quarter of 2010. Net proceeds from the transaction are 
anticipated to be used to reduce NSTAR’s capitalization.  

The operating results of MATEP have been separately classified and reported as discontinued operations on the accompanying Consolidated 
Statements of Income. A summary of discontinued operations is as follows:  
   

The results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2009 exclude depreciation and amortization expense of approximately $0.5 million 
incurred after December 21, 2009.  

The components of assets and liabilities held for sale consisted of the following:  
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17. Subsequent Events 

       Years ended December 31, 
(in thousands)    2009    2008    2007 

Operating revenues     $ 116,887    $ 137,066    $ 125,699 
Operating expenses       94,452      112,197      106,190 
Interest charges       6,892      7,251      7,631 
Other income       72      296      818 
Income taxes       5,465      6,363      4,237 

                     

Income from discontinued operations       10,150      11,551      8,459 
Transaction costs from sale, net of tax       917      —        —   

                     

Net income from discontinued operations     $ 9,233    $ 11,551    $ 8,459 
                     

       December 31,   
(in thousands)    2009     2008   

Cash, including restricted cash     $ 20,000      $ 19,181    
Accounts receivable       12,521        20,777    
Inventory and other current assets       6,222        5,921    
Unregulated property, net       118,762        118,795    
Deferred debits       10,352        10,819    

       
  

      
  

Assets of discontinued operations held for sale     $ 167,857      $ 175,493    
       

  

      

  

Accounts payable and other current liabilities (a)     $ 13,727      $ 22,674    
Deferred credits: PBOP liability       7,180        6,202    
Deferred credits: Other       1,788        1,762    
Deferred tax asset (b)       (16,902 )      (25,265 )  
Long-term debt, including current maturities       84,163        88,515    

       
  

      
  

Liabilities of discontinued operations held for sale     $ 89,956      $ 93,888    
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The total assets and liabilities of MATEP have been classified as current assets and current liabilities of discontinued operations held for sale on 
the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2009 and 2008.  

Note C. Earnings Per Common Share  

Basic EPS is calculated by dividing net income attributable to common shareholders, which includes a deduction for preferred dividends of a 
subsidiary, by the weighted average common shares outstanding during the respective period. Diluted EPS is similar to the computation of basic 
EPS except that the weighted average common shares are increased to include the impact of potential (nonvested) shares and stock options 
granted (stock-based compensation) in accordance with NSTAR’s Long Term Incentive Plan.  

The following table summarizes the reconciling amounts between basic and diluted EPS:  
   

The following table summarizes potential common shares that are excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS as their effect would be anti-
dilutive:  
   

Note D. Asset Retirement Obligations and Cost of Removal  

The fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation (ARO) is recorded in the period in which it is incurred. When the liability is 
initially recorded, the entity capitalizes the cost by increasing the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. Over time, the liability is 
accreted to its present value each period, and the capitalized cost is depreciated over the useful life of the related asset. Upon settlement of the 
liability, an entity either settles the obligation for its recorded amount or incurs a gain or loss upon settlement.  
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(a) Other current liabilities exclude the current portion of long-term debt of $5.1 million and $4.8 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively. 

These amounts are included with the long-term debt amounts. 

(b) The deferred tax asset is shown as an offset to the liabilities of MATEP due to the presentation of a net deferred income tax liability on the 
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2009 and 2008. 

(in thousands, except per share amounts)    2009    2008    2007 

Net income attributable to common shareholders     $ 253,248    $ 237,547    $ 221,515 
Earnings per common share - Basic and Diluted:           

Continuing operations     $ 2.28    $ 2.11    $ 1.99 
Discontinued operations       0.09      0.11      0.08 

                     

Total earnings     $ 2.37    $ 2.22    $ 2.07 
                     

Weighted average common shares outstanding for basic EPS       106,808      106,808      106,808 
Effect of dilutive shares:           

Weighted average dilutive potential common shares       188      237      314 
                     

Weighted average common shares outstanding for diluted EPS       106,996      107,045      107,122 
                     

(in thousands)    2009    2008    2007 

Deferred shares     199    97    151 
Stock options     1,013    706    306 
Performance shares     —      —      N/A 
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The recognition of an ARO within NSTAR’s regulated utility businesses has no impact on its earnings. For its rate-regulated utilities, NSTAR 
establishes a regulatory asset to recognize future recoveries through depreciation rates for the recorded ARO. NSTAR has certain plant assets in 
which this condition exists and is related to both plant assets containing hazardous materials and legal requirements to undertake remediation 
efforts upon retirement.  

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, NSTAR had a recorded asset retirement cost liability of $30 million and $23 million, respectively, which 
approximates the current cost for NSTAR to liquidate its legal or contractual obligations to perform actions at some point after the retirement of 
an asset. This amount is included in Deferred credits and other liabilities: Other on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

For NSTAR’s regulated utility businesses, the ultimate cost to remove utility plant from service (cost of removal) is recognized as a component 
of depreciation expense in accordance with approved regulatory treatment. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, the estimated amount of the cost 
of removal included in regulatory liabilities was approximately $270 million and $265 million, respectively, based on the estimated cost of 
removal component in current depreciation rates. This represents the cumulative amounts collected from customers for cost of removal, but not 
yet expended.  

Note E. Regulatory Assets  

Regulatory assets represent costs incurred that are probable of recovery from customers through future rates in accordance with agreements with 
regulators. These costs are expensed when the corresponding revenues are received in order to appropriately match revenues and expenses.  

Regulatory assets consisted of the following:  
   

Under the traditional revenue requirements model, electric and gas rates are based on the cost of providing energy delivery service. Under ASC 
980, NSTAR Electric and NSTAR Gas follow accounting policies that are not applicable to other businesses and industries in general. ASC 980 
requires companies to defer the recognition of certain costs when incurred if future rate recovery of these costs is probable. This is applicable to 
NSTAR’s electric and gas distribution and transmission operations.  

Amortization expense recorded to Depreciation and amortization on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income on certain regulatory 
assets for 2009, 2008, and 2007 was $190.9 million, $198.7 million, and $198.8 million, respectively. The amortization of other regulatory assets 
is recorded to Purchased power and transmission expense on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income.  
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     December 31,   
(in thousands)    2009     2008   

Energy contracts (including Yankee units)     $ 346,812      $ 501,808    
Goodwill       598,060        618,220    
Securitized and other energy-related costs       580,927        637,803    
Retiree benefit costs       916,287        946,682    
Income taxes, net       26,877        29,235    
Purchased energy costs over collection       (90,692 )      (17,257 )  
Redemption premiums       23,243        25,737    
Other       163,901        163,704    

       
  

      
  

Total current and long-term regulatory assets     $ 2,565,415      $ 2,905,932    
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Energy contracts  

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively, $296.6 million and $412.7 million represent the contract termination liability related to certain 
purchase power contract buy-out agreements that NSTAR Electric executed in 2004 and their future recovery through NSTAR Electric’s 
transition charges. Refer to Note N, “Contracts for the Purchase of Energy,” for further details. Since no cash outlay was incurred by NSTAR, 
NSTAR recognized this regulatory asset as a result of recording the contract termination liability. NSTAR does not earn a return on this 
regulatory asset. The contracts’ termination payments will occur over time and will be collected from customers through NSTAR’s transition 
charge over the same time period. The cost recovery period of these terminated contracts is through September, 2016.  

In addition, the unamortized balance of the costs to decommission the CY, YA, and MY nuclear power plants was $48.5 million and $56.2 
million at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. All three nuclear units were notified by the NRC that their respective former plant sites 
were decommissioned in accordance with NRC procedures and regulations. NSTAR’s liability for CY decommissioning and its recovery ends at 
the earliest in 2015, for YA in 2014, and for MY in 2013. However, should the actual costs exceed current estimates, NSTAR could have an 
obligation beyond these periods that would be fully recoverable. These costs are recovered through NSTAR Electric’s transition charge. NSTAR 
does not earn a return on decommissioning costs, but a return is included in rates charged to NSTAR by these plants. Refer to Note O , 
“Commitments and Contingencies,” for further discussion.  

The remaining balances at December 31, 2009 and 2008 of $1.7 million and $32.9 million, respectively, represent the recognition of the future 
recoverability of a derivative liability recorded related to contracts structured to hedge a portion of NSTAR Gas’ future supply purchases. 
NSTAR Gas does not earn a return on these balances. Refer to Note F, “Derivative Instruments,” for further details. Settled amounts would be 
refunded or collected from customers no later than 18 months from the settlement date.  

Goodwill  

The Company’s goodwill originated from the merger that created NSTAR in 1999. As a result of a rate order from the DPU approving the 
merger, the Company is recovering goodwill from its customers and, therefore, NSTAR has determined that this rate structure allows for 
amortization of goodwill over the collection period. Goodwill along with related deferred income taxes is being amortized over 40 years, through 
2039, without a carrying charge.  

Securitized and other energy-related costs  

A portion of these energy-related regulatory assets are collateralized with the Transition Property Securitization Certificates held by NSTAR 
Electric’s subsidiaries, BEC Funding LLC, BEC Funding II, LLC and CEC Funding, LLC. The collateralized amounts at December 31, 2009 
and 2008 were $281.1 million and $434 million, respectively. The certificates are non-recourse to NSTAR Electric.  

Also included are other costs related to purchase power contract divestitures and certain costs related to NSTAR Electric’s former generation 
business that are recovered with a return through the transition charge and amounted to $276.2 million and $164.8 million at December 31, 2009 
and 2008, respectively.  

These cost recoveries primarily occur through September, 2016 for NSTAR Electric and are subject to adjustment by the DPU.  

The remaining energy-related regulatory assets consist of other transition costs and other recoverable charges of $23.6 million and $39 million at 
December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  
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Retiree benefit costs  

The retiree benefit regulatory asset at December 31, 2009 and 2008 is $916.3 million and $946.7 million, respectively. (Refer to Note H , 
“Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits,” for further details.) During 2009, the funded status of NSTAR’s Pension and PBOP plans 
improved. This change in funded status resulted in a decrease to the liability which was offset by a corresponding decrease in the retiree benefit 
costs regulatory asset. The remaining balance reflects the deferred pension and PBOP expenses. In accordance with the PAM, these amounts are 
amortized and collected from or returned to customers over three years. At December 31, 2009, a deferred under-recovery of costs amounted to 
$34 million compared to a deferred over-recovery of costs of $23.8 million at December 31, 2008. NSTAR recovers its qualified pension and 
PBOP expenses through this reconciling rate mechanism, thereby removing the volatility of these expenses from the consolidated financial 
statements. NSTAR earns a carrying charge on the excess cumulative contributions over what it recovers in rates. At December 31, 2009, this 
balance was $424.6 million of the retiree benefit regulatory asset under the PAM regulatory mechanism.  

Income taxes, net  

The principal holder of this regulatory asset is NSTAR Electric. This regulatory asset balance reflects deferred tax reserve deficiencies that are 
currently being recovered from customers and excludes a return component. Partially offsetting these amounts is a regulatory liability associated 
with unamortized investment tax credits relating to NSTAR Electric and NSTAR Gas.  

Purchased energy costs  

The purchased energy costs at December 31, 2009 and 2008 relate to deferred electric Basic Service and gas supply costs. Basic Service is the 
electricity that is supplied by NSTAR Electric when a customer has chosen not to receive service from a competitive supplier. The market price 
for Basic Service and gas supply costs may fluctuate based on the average market price for energy. Amounts incurred for Basic Service and cost 
of gas supply are recovered on a fully reconciling basis without a return. The over-collected position of purchased energy costs is presented as a 
reduction of regulatory assets rather than as a regulatory liability. This is because the amount of the over-collected Basic Service and CGAC 
positions is exceeded by regulatory assets that will be collected from the same classes of retail electric and gas customers that these over-
collected Basic Service and CGAC positions will be returned to.  

Redemption premiums  

These amounts reflect the unamortized balance of redemption premiums on NSTAR Electric Debentures that are amortized and recovered over 
the life of the respective debentures pursuant to DPU approval. The decrease reflects the amortization of these redemption premiums. There is no 
return recognized on this balance.  

Other  

Amounts included consist of deferred transmission costs, other DPU costs, and merger-related costs. Deferred transmission costs represent the 
difference between the level of billed transmission revenues and the current period costs incurred to provide transmission-related services that 
will be recovered over a subsequent twelve-month period with carrying charges. The costs associated with a DPU-approved safety and reliability 
program and clean up costs related to former gas manufacturing sites that are recovered over a seven-year period without a return.  

Note F. Derivative Instruments  

Energy Contracts  

NSTAR has determined that its electricity supply contracts qualify for, and NSTAR has elected, the normal purchases and sales exception. As a 
result, these agreements are not reflected on the accompanying Consolidated  
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Balance Sheets. NSTAR has only one significant gas supply contract. This contract is an all-requirements portfolio asset management contract 
that expires in October, 2011. This contract contains market based pricing terms and therefore no financial statement adjustments are required. 
Gas supply costs incurred related to this contract were $177 million, $259 million, and $224 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 
2008, and 2007, respectively, and have been recorded to Cost of gas sold on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income. Refer to the 
accompanying Item 7A, “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk,” for a further discussion.  

Gas Hedging Agreements  

In accordance with a DPU order, NSTAR Gas purchases financial contracts based upon NYMEX natural gas futures in order to reduce cash flow 
variability associated with the purchase price for approximately one-third of its natural gas purchases. This practice attempts to minimize the 
impact of fluctuations in prices to NSTAR’s firm gas customers. These financial contracts do not procure gas supply. These contracts qualify as 
derivative financial instruments. Accordingly, the fair value of these instruments is recognized on the accompanying Consolidated Balance 
Sheets as an asset or liability representing amounts due from or payable to the counter parties of NSTAR Gas, as if such contracts were settled as 
of the balance sheet date. All actual costs incurred or benefits realized are included in the CGAC of NSTAR Gas. As a result, NSTAR Gas 
records a regulatory asset or liability for the market price changes, in lieu of recording an adjustment to Other Comprehensive Income. 
Currently, these derivative contracts extend through April 2011. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, NSTAR had recorded a liability and a 
corresponding regulatory asset of $1.7 million and $32.9 million, respectively, to reflect the fair value of these contracts. During the years ended 
December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007, $47 million, $16 million, and $30 million, respectively, of these financial contracts were settled and were 
recognized as additional charges to Cost of gas sold on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income.  

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities  

The following disclosures summarize the fair value of NSTAR Gas’ hedging agreements, the asset and liability positions of these hedging 
agreements and related settlements:  
   

   

As of December 31, 2009, these gas hedging agreements, representing fourteen individual contracts, hedged approximately 11,530 BBtu. The 
settlement of these contracts may have a short-term cash flow impact. Over the long-term any such effects are mitigated by a regulatory recovery 
mechanism for those costs.  
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     December 31, 
(in thousands)    2009    2008 

Gas Hedging Agreements        

Consolidated Balance Sheet Account:        

Current liabilities - power contract obligations     $ 1,604    $ 32,275 
Deferred credits and other liabilities - power contract obligations       51      600 

              

Total potential liability for derivative instruments     $ 1,655    $ 32,875 
              

     
Amount of Gain or (Loss)  

Recognized   

       Years Ended December 31,   
Settlement of Gas Hedging Agreements    2009     2008     2007   

Consolidated Statement of Income Account:         

(Increase) decrease to Cost of gas sold     $ (46,988 )    $ (15,661 )    $ (30,427 )  
Increase (decrease) to revenues reflecting recovery of or return of settlements to customers       46,988        15,661        30,427    

       
  

      
  

      
  

Net earnings impact     $ —        $ —        $ —      
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Potential counterparty credit risk is minimized by collateral requirements as specified in credit support agreements to the contracts that are based 
on the credit rating of the counterparty and the fair value exposure under each contract’s term. In the event of a downgrade in the credit rating of 
either party, these agreements may require that party to immediately collateralize, by either cash payment, letter of credit, or other qualifying 
security instrument, any exposure that exists for obligations in excess of specified threshold amounts.  

NSTAR Gas is also subject to this credit risk-related contingent feature. Based on market conditions at the time of a downgrade, NSTAR Gas 
could be required to post collateral in an amount that could be equal to or less than the fair value of the liability at the time of the downgrade. As 
of December 31, 2009, NSTAR Gas has an A+ Standard & Poors Credit Issuer rating. Collateral obligations are required in the event of a 
downgrade below an A rating by Standard & Poors and/or if the fair value of the contract exceeds established credit thresholds. Based on 
NSTAR Gas’ liability position with its gas hedge contract counterparties as of December 31, 2009, should NSTAR Gas’ credit rating be 
downgraded the following collateral obligations would result:  
   

In addition, these agreements contain cross-default provisions that would allow NSTAR Gas and its counterparties to terminate and liquidate a 
gas hedge contract if either party is in default on other swap agreements with that same counterparty, or another unrelated agreement with that 
same counterparty in excess of stipulated threshold amounts.  

Note G. Income Taxes  

NSTAR recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts and the tax 
basis of assets and liabilities. Net regulatory assets of $27 million and $29.2 million and corresponding net increases in accumulated deferred 
income taxes were recorded as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The regulatory assets represent the additional future revenues to be 
collected from customers for deferred income taxes.  
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Credit Ratings Downgraded to:    

Level Below 

 
“A” Rating    

Incremental 

 
Obligations    

Cumulative 

 
Obligations 

(in thousands)           

A-/A3     1    $ —      $ —   
BBB+/Baa1     2      —        —   
BBB/Baa2     3      —        —   
BBB-/Baa3, or below investment grade     4      1,655      1,655 
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Accumulated deferred income taxes and unamortized investment tax credits consisted of the following:  
   

Investment tax credits are amortized over the estimated remaining lives of the property that generated the credits.  

Components of income tax expense were as follows:  
   

The effective income tax rates reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements and the reasons for their differences from the 
statutory federal income tax rate were as follows:  
   

Uncertain Tax Positions  

NSTAR recognizes income tax benefits associated with uncertain tax positions when the company determines that it is more-likely-than-not that 
the tax position will be ultimately sustained.  
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     December 31, 
(in thousands)    2009    2008 

Deferred tax liabilities:        

Depreciation     $ 783,384    $ 703,889 
Goodwill       234,589      242,497 
Power contracts       112,191      147,620 
Purchased power       95,465      88,039 
Transition costs       5,553      32,510 
Pension expense       114,634      98,229 
Other       63,501      64,265 

              

Total deferred tax liabilities       1,409,317      1,377,049 
              

Deferred tax assets:        

Postretirement benefits       13,383      31,336 
Other       95,130      103,178 

              

Total deferred tax assets       108,513      134,514 
              

Net accumulated deferred income taxes       1,300,804      1,242,535 
Accumulated unamortized investment tax credits       16,795      18,437 

              

Net deferred tax liabilities and investment tax credits     $ 1,317,599    $ 1,260,972 
              

(in thousands)    2009     2008     2007   

Continuing operations:         

Current income tax expense     $ 86,954      $ 132,008      $ 134,309    
Deferred income tax expense (benefit)       61,604        10,400        (3,465 )  
Investment tax credit amortization       (1,642 )      (1,663 )      (1,685 )  

       
  

      
  

      
  

Income taxes from continuing operations       146,916        140,745        129,159    
       

  
      

  
      

  

Discontinued operations:         

Current income tax (benefit) expense       (3,588 )      2,127        6,146    
Deferred income tax expense (benefit)       8,460        4,236        (1,909 )  

       
  

      
  

      
  

Income taxes from discontinued operations       4,872        6,363        4,237    
       

  
      

  
      

  

Total income tax expense     $ 151,788      $ 147,108      $ 133,396    
       

  

      

  

      

  

     2009     2008     2007   
Statutory tax rate     35 %    35 %    35 %  
State income tax, net of federal income tax benefit     4      5      5    
Investment tax credits     (1 )    (1 )    (1 )  
Other     —        (1 )    (1 )  

     
  

    
  

    
  

Effective tax rate     38 %    38 %    38 %  
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In 2007, upon the adoption, and in accordance with an accounting interpretation, NSTAR recognized the cumulative effect of approximately 
$46.6 million as an increase to its beginning retained earnings related to the deduction from the loss on the abandonment of NSTAR’s 
investment in the stock of RCN Corporation (RCN) and the deduction of construction-related costs. This adjustment consisted primarily of $39.6 
million related to the net unrecognized benefit of the RCN share abandonment. This adjustment also included the reversal of previously accrued 
interest expense on the RCN deduction and interest income accrued on the deduction of construction-related costs, as discussed further in this 
Note, which combined netted to $7 million after tax. NSTAR’s assessment of the RCN tax position has consistently been that it is more-likely-
than-not of prevailing.  

The following is a reconciliation of the unrecognized tax benefits that have been recognized as uncertain tax position liabilities on the 
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets included in Deferred credits and other liabilities: Other:  
   

As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, there were no unrecognized tax benefits of a permanent tax nature that if recognized would have an impact 
on the Company’s effective tax rate.  

RCN Corporation (RCN) Share Abandonment Tax Treatment  

On December 24, 2003, NSTAR exited its investment in RCN by formally abandoning its 11.6 million shares of RCN common stock. As a result 
of the RCN share abandonment, the Company claimed an ordinary loss on its 2003 tax return. In 2006, the IRS disallowed the classification of 
the deduction as an ordinary loss. NSTAR appealed this decision and is currently in negotiation with the IRS Appeals office.  

Prior to 2007, it was NSTAR’s tax accounting policy not to recognize tax benefits associated with an uncertain tax position until it was probable 
that such tax benefit would ultimately be realized. NSTAR determined that it was less than probable that the tax deduction related to the 
abandonment of its RCN investment would ultimately be sustained. Accordingly, NSTAR accrued a tax reserve so as to not recognize the 
earnings benefit of this uncertain tax position.  

As of January 1, 2007, the potential tax loss was approximately $39.6 million. NSTAR adopted an accounting standard regarding uncertain tax 
positions effective January 1, 2007 which established a tax accounting recognition standard of more-likely-than-not, which is a lower threshold 
than NSTAR’s previous tax benefit recognition policy. Upon the adoption of the standard, NSTAR recognized the entire $39.6 million amount 
plus interest as an increase to its January 1, 2007 retained earnings balance.  

Construction-related Costs - Simplified Service Cost Method (SSCM)  

In 2004, NSTAR amended its 2002 Federal income tax return to change its method of tax accounting for certain construction-related overhead 
costs previously capitalized to plant under a methodology prior to SSCM. Under SSCM, certain costs which were previously capitalized for tax 
purposes are deducted in the year incurred. NSTAR claimed additional deductions related to the tax accounting method change in its 2002-2004 
returns of $368.9 million. In 2005, NSTAR received formal notification from the IRS that the claim on its amended income tax return was 
denied. NSTAR did not receive the requested refund amount due.  

In August 2005, the IRS issued a Revenue Ruling and Treasury Regulations related to the SSCM to curtail these levels of construction-related 
cost deductions by utilities and others. Under this Regulation, the SSCM is not available for the majority of NSTAR’s constructed property for 
the years 2005 and forward. NSTAR was  
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(in millions)    2009    2008 

Balance at beginning of year     $ 15    $ 15 
Changes for current year tax positions  

     
—
        

—
   

              

Balance at end of year     $ 15    $ 15 
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required to make a cash tax payment to the IRS of $129.1 million in late 2006 representing the disallowed SSCM deductions taken for 2002-
2004 even though the tax refund was never received. This payment will be fully refunded with interest to NSTAR, once this tax position is 
resolved. This refund has been recorded as a current refundable income tax on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

IRS Appeals and Examinations  

As of December 31, 2009, the 2001 through 2007 federal and state tax years remain open (including the SSCM and RCN Share Abandonment 
matters) and all years are at the IRS Office of Appeals.  

NSTAR is negotiating with IRS Appeals in an attempt to settle all issues relating to years 2001 through 2007. To date, we have reached 
agreement on the SSCM issue with a closing agreement expected to be signed in the first quarter of 2010. Upon approval of the settlement by the 
U.S. Congress Joint Committee on Taxation, NSTAR expects receipt of the $129 million of its refundable income tax receivable, plus interest, 
by mid-2010. Potential settlement discussions related to the RCN matter are continuing, however, the timing of any final settlement is uncertain 
as well as whether an agreement can be reached at an amount that would be acceptable to NSTAR. If an agreement is reached, it is reasonably 
possible that a charge could be recognized. Such agreement would also require Joint Committee approval. In the event that NSTAR is 
unsuccessful in reaching a reasonable settlement agreement with the IRS Appeals, it will continue the current plan to litigate the RCN tax matter. 
This action would delay resolution of this tax matter beyond 2010.  

The 2008 Federal income tax return has been examined under the IRS Compliance Assurance Process (CAP) and NSTAR has received a “no 
change” letter. The 2009 Federal income tax return is being reviewed under CAP. This program accelerates the examination of the return in an 
attempt to resolve issues before the tax return is filed. The outcome of any potential audit adjustments and the timing are uncertain.  

Interest on Tax Positions  

NSTAR recognizes interest accrued related to uncertain tax positions in Interest charges: Interest income and other, net and related penalties, if 
applicable, in Other deductions, on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income. This accounting policy is consistent with the 
recognition of these items prior to the adoption of the accounting standard for uncertain tax positions. For the years ended December 31, 2009, 
2008 and 2007, the amount of interest income recognized on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income was $6.8 million, $4.6 
million, and $9.1 million, respectively, and the total amount of accrued interest receivable on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets 
was $24.6 million and $17.8 million at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. No penalties were recognized during 2009 and 2008.  

In addition to its uncertain tax position liability, NSTAR has unrecognized benefits associated with interest on construction-related uncertain tax 
positions. These unrecognized benefits were $4 million and $9 million as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. As a result of the 
settlement agreement reached with IRS Appeals on SSCM, it is unlikely that additional benefits will be recognized on this issue. The agreement 
reached with the IRS is subject to approval by Joint Committee.  

Note H. Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits  

NSTAR accounts for its Pension and PBOP Plans in accordance with the provisions of an accounting standard that requires an employer with a 
defined benefit plan or other postretirement plan to recognize an asset or liability on its balance sheet for the funded status of its plan. The 
pension asset or liability is the difference between the fair value of the plan’s assets and the projected benefit obligation as of year-end. For other 
postretirement benefit plans, the asset or liability is the difference between the fair value of the plan’s assets and the accumulated postretirement 
benefit obligation as of year-end. As a result of NSTAR’s approved regulatory rate mechanism for recovery of pension and postretirement costs, 
NSTAR has recognized a regulatory asset for the majority of its pension and postretirement costs in lieu of taking a charge to AOCI.  
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1. Pension  

NSTAR provides a defined benefit retirement plan, the NSTAR Pension Plan (the Plan), that covers substantially all employees. Retirement 
benefits are based on various final average pay formulae. NSTAR also maintains a non-qualified supplemental retirement plan for certain 
management employees.  

The Plans use December 31 for the measurement date to determine their projected benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets for the 
purposes of determining the Plans’ funded status and the net periodic benefit costs for the following year.  

The following tables for NSTAR’s Pension benefit plans present the change in benefit obligation, change in the Plans’ assets, the funded status, 
the components of net periodic benefit cost and key assumptions used:  
   

Source of change in other comprehensive income:  
   

The entire difference between the actual and expected return on Plan assets is reflected as a component of unrecognized actuarial net gain or 
loss.  
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     Years Ended December 31,   
(in thousands)    2009     2008   

Change in benefit obligation:       

Benefit obligation, beginning of the year     $ 1,068,392      $ 1,057,406    
Service cost       22,147        21,273    
Interest cost       64,316        63,642    
Plan participants’  contributions       19        24    
Actuarial loss/(gain)       50,179        (7,663 )  
Settlement payments       (9,934 )      (11,669 )  
Benefits paid       (54,215 )      (54,621 )  

       
  

      
  

Benefit obligation, end of the year     $ 1,140,904      $ 1,068,392    
       

  

      

  

     Years Ended December 31,   
(in thousands)    2009     2008   

Change in Plan assets:       

Fair value of Plan assets, beginning of the year     $ 716,710      $ 1,049,378    
Actual return on Plan assets, net       82,108        (338,990 )  
Employer contribution       127,350        72,588    
Plan participants’  contributions       19        24    
Settlement payments       (9,934 )      (11,669 )  
Benefits paid       (54,215 )      (54,621 )  

       
  

      
  

Fair value of Plan assets, end of the year     $ 862,038      $ 716,710    
       

  

      

  

Funded status, end of year - under funded     $ (278,866 )    $ (351,682 )  
       

  

      

  

     
Years Ended  
December 31,   

( in thousands )    2009     2008   

Net loss arising during period     $ (2,840 )    $ (2,320 )  
Amortization:       

Prior service cost       35        1,005    
Actuarial loss       1,337        872    

       
  

      
  

Total other comprehensive loss recognized during the year     $ (1,468 )    $ (443 )  
       

  

      

  

st 
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Amounts recognized in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets consisted of:  
   

The estimated prior service credit and net actuarial loss that will be amortized from AOCI and regulatory assets into net periodic benefit cost in 
2010 are $708,000 and $50.9 million, respectively.  

The accumulated benefit obligation for the qualified pension plan as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 were $1,035.4 million and $969.6 million, 
respectively.  

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets for the non-qualified retirement plan were $49.2 
million, $45 million, and $0, respectively, as of December 31, 2009 and were $46 million, $42.1 million, and $0, respectively, as of 
December 31, 2008.  

Weighted average assumptions were as follows:  
   

The Plans’ discount rates are based on a rate modeling of a bond portfolio that approximates the Plan liabilities. The Plans’ expected long-term 
rates of return are based on past performance and economic forecasts for the types of investments held in the Plans as well as the target 
allocation of the investments over a long-term period. Actuarial assumptions also include an assumed rate for administrative expenses and 
investment expenses, which have averaged approximately 0.6% for 2009, 2008, and 2007.  

Components of net periodic benefit cost were as follows:  
   

Employer contributions in 2009 of $125 million were made to the qualified plan and $2.4 million of contributions in the form of benefit 
payments to the non-qualified plan. NSTAR anticipates making contributions to its qualified Pension Plan in 2010 of approximately $25 million. 
   

74  

     December 31,   
(in thousands)    2009     2008   

Current liabilities - other     $ (2,500 )    $ (2,500 )  
Deferred credits and other liabilities - pension and other postretirement liability       (276,366 )      (349,182 )  

       
  

      
  

   $ (278,866 )    $ (351,682 )  
       

  

      

  

Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic benefit cost and included in AOCI and regulatory asset:       

Prior service credit     $ 1,992      $ 2,698    
Accumulated actuarial loss       (660,840 )      (688,885 )  
Cumulative employer contributions in excess of net periodic benefit cost       379,982        334,505    

       
  

      
  

Net unrecognized periodic pension benefit cost reflected on the accompanying Consolidated Balance 
Sheets     $ (278,866 )    $ (351,682 )  

       

  

      

  

     2009     2008     2007   
Discount rate at the end of the year     5.85 %    6.25 %    6.25 %  
Expected return on Plan assets for the year     9.0 %    9.0 %    9.0 %  
Rate of compensation increase at the end of the year     4.0 %    4.0 %    4.0 %  

     Years ended December 31,   
(in thousands)    2009     2008     2007   

Service cost     $ 22,147      $ 21,273      $ 21,530    
Interest cost       64,316        63,642        62,154    
Expected return on Plan assets       (58,120 )      (86,278 )      (83,434 )  
Amortization of prior service (credit) cost       (706 )      20        20    
Recognized actuarial loss       54,236        16,199        21,133    

       
  

      
  

      
  

Net periodic benefit cost     $ 81,873      $ 14,856      $ 21,403    
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The estimated benefit payments for the next 10 years are as follows:  
   

2. Postretirement Benefits Other than Pension (PBOP)  

NSTAR provides health care and other benefits to retired employees who meet certain age and years of service eligibility requirements. Under 
certain circumstances, eligible retirees are required to contribute to the costs of postretirement benefits. Postretirement benefits provided to 
employees of the discontinued operations of MATEP are not included in the following disclosures. The benefit obligation related to the 
discontinued operations amounted to $7.2 million and $6.2 million at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  

NSTAR’s other postretirement benefits are not vested and the Company has the right to modify any benefit provision, including contribution 
requirements, with respect to any current or former employee, dependent or beneficiary.  

NSTAR provides prescription drug benefits to retirees that are at least actuarially equivalent to the benefits provided under Medicare Part D. 
NSTAR receives subsidies to provide prescription drug programs for eligible former employees age 65 and over, in the form of direct tax-
exempt cash payments. The subsidy reduces service cost and interest cost when it is recognized as a component of net periodic postretirement 
benefits cost, and it reduced NSTAR’s net periodic postretirement benefit cost by approximately $7.6 million and $12 million in 2009 and 2008, 
respectively. However, as a result of the PAM, these reductions do not have a material impact on reported earnings.  

NSTAR’s PBOP plan uses December 31 for the measurement date to determine its benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets for the 
purposes of determining the plan’s funded status and the net periodic benefit costs for the following year.  

The following tables for NSTAR’s PBOP plan presents the change in benefit obligation, change in the plan’s assets, the funded status, the 
components of net periodic benefit cost and key assumptions used for continuing operations:  
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(in thousands)      

2010     $ 70,386 
2011       74,521 
2012       78,362 
2013       74,535 
2014       75,907 
2015 - 2019       398,583 

       

Total     $ 772,294 
       

     Years ended December 31,   
(in thousands)    2009     2008   

Change in benefit obligation:       

Benefit obligation, beginning of the year     $ 622,808      $ 590,170    
Service cost       5,861        5,608    
Interest cost       35,744        35,940    
Plan participants’  contributions       2,578        2,839    
Actuarial (gain)/loss       (5,634 )      17,995    
Benefits paid       (31,752 )      (32,173 )  
Federal subsidy       2,290        2,429    

       
  

      
  

Benefit obligation, end of the year     $ 631,895      $ 622,808    
       

  

      

  

st 
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The plan’s funded status was as follows:  
   

   

Source of change in other comprehensive income:  
   

The estimated transition obligation, prior service credit and net actuarial loss that will be amortized from AOCI and regulatory assets into net 
periodic benefit costs in 2010 are $0.8 million, $1.5 million, and $19.2 million, respectively.  

Weighted average assumptions were as follows:  
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     Years ended December 31,   
(in thousands)    2009     2008   

Change in the plan’s assets:       

Fair value of the plan’s assets, beginning of the year     $ 228,418      $ 360,188    
Actual return on plan’s assets       53,541        (117,436 )  
Employer contribution       30,000        15,000    
Plan participants’  contributions       2,578        2,839    
Benefits paid       (31,752 )      (32,173 )  

       
  

      
  

Fair value of the plan’s assets, end of the year     $ 282,785      $ 228,418    
       

  

      

  

     Years ended December 31,   
(in thousands)    2009     2008   

Funded status, end of year - under funded     $ (349,110 )    $ (394,390 )  
       

  

      

  

Amounts recognized in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet:       

Deferred credits - pension and other postretirement liabilities     $ (349,110 )    $ (394,390 )  
       

  

      

  

     Years ended December 31,   

       2009     2008   

Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic benefit cost and included in AOCI and regulatory assets:      

Transition obligation     $ (2,443 )    $ (3,254 )  
Prior service credit       9,088        10,560    
Accumulated actuarial loss       (251,752 )      (312,196 )  
Cumulative net periodic benefit costs in excess of employee contributions       (104,003 )      (89,500 )  

       
  

      
  

Net amount recognized in statement of financial position     $ (349,110 )    $ (394,390 )  
       

  

      

  

     Years ended December 31,   
(in thousands)        2009             2008       
Net loss arising during period     $ (41 )    $ (1,237 )  
Amortization:       

Transition obligation       6        5    
Prior service credit       15        (105 )  
Actuarial loss       205        195    

       
  

      
  

Total other comprehensive gain (loss) recognized during the year     $ 185      $ (1,142 )  
       

  

      

  

     2009     2008     2007   
Discount rate at the end of the year     6.00 %    6.10 %    6.25 %  
Expected return on the plans’  assets for the year     9.0 %    9.0 %    9.0 %  
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For measurement purposes, an 8.0% weighted annual rate increase in per capita cost of covered medical claims was assumed for 2009. This rate 
is assumed to decrease gradually to 5% in 2015 and remain at that level thereafter. Dental claims are assumed to increase at a weighted annual 
rate of 4%.  

A 1% change in the assumed health care cost trend rate would have the following effects:  
   

Components of net periodic benefit cost were as follows:  
   

NSTAR anticipates making contribution of approximately $35 million to its other postretirement benefit plan in 2010.  

The estimated future cash flows for the years after 2009 are as follows:  
   

3. Pension and PBOP Plan Assets  

Investment objectives:  

The primary investment goal of the Pension Plan is to achieve a total annualized return of 9% (before expenses) over the long-term. Risk is 
regularly evaluated, compared and benchmarked to plans with a similar investment strategy. The Plan also attempts to minimize risk by not 
having any single security or class of securities with a disproportionate impact on the Plan. NSTAR currently uses over 20 asset managers to 
manage its plans’ assets. As a guideline, assets are diversified by asset classes (Equity, Fixed Income, Real Estate, Alternative Investments) and 
within these classes (i.e., economic sector, industry), such that, for each asset manager:  
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     One-Percentage-Point   
(in thousands)    Increase    Decrease   
Effect on total service and interest cost components for 2009     $ 6,633    $ (5,269 )  
Effect on December 31, 2009 postretirement benefit obligation     $ 88,270    $ (72,046 )  

     Years ended December 31,   
(in thousands)    2009     2008     2007   

Service cost     $ 5,861      $ 5,608      $ 5,547    
Interest cost       35,744        35,940        35,312    
Expected return on plan’s assets       (17,940 )      (28,482 )      (28,186 )  
Amortization of prior service cost       (1,472 )      (1,472 )      (1,472 )  
Amortization of transition obligation       811        811        812    
Recognized actuarial loss       19,209        8,776        10,952    

       
  

      
  

      
  

Net periodic benefit cost     $ 42,213      $ 21,181      $ 22,965    
       

  

      

  

      

  

(in thousands)    
Gross estimated 
benefit payments    

Estimated expected 
 

cash inflows from  
Medicare subsidy 

2010     $ 32,245    $ 2,102 
2011       34,041      2,231 
2012       35,109      2,399 
2013       36,570      2,543 
2014       37,876      2,693 
2015 - 2019       213,213      14,703 

              

Total     $ 389,054    $ 26,671 
              

  •   No more than 6% of an asset manager’s equity portfolio market value may be invested in one company  
  •   Each equity portfolio should be invested in at least 20 different companies in different industries  
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The PBOP Plan’s primary investment goal is to earn returns comparable to peers and appropriate benchmarks.  

Investment Valuation of Pension and PBOP Assets:  

Investments stated at fair value as determined by quoted market prices for identical assets (Level 1) include:  
   

   

   

   

Investments stated at estimated fair value using significant observable inputs (Level 2) include:  
   

   

   

   

Investments valued at estimated fair value using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) include:  
   

   

Significant Investment Risks of Level 3 Investments:  

Certain real estate limited partnerships have long-term lock-up provisions (7-10 years) that are intended to allow for an orderly investment and 
dissolution of the partnership as the underlying properties are sold. Certain hedge funds have instituted temporary redemption restrictions as of 
December 31, 2009. Others have monthly, quarterly or annual restraints on redemptions or may require advance notice for a redemption. 
Management does not believe that these liquidity restrictions impair the Plan’s ability to transact redemptions at NAV, which the Plans utilize 
for fair value for those investments.  

The Pension Plan also had $59 million of unfunded investment commitments to real estate limited partnerships at December 31, 2009. These 
commitments must be fulfilled by June 2012.  
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  •   No more than 50% of each equity portfolio’s market value may be invested in one industry sector, and  

  
•   No more than 5% of a fixed income manager’s portfolio may be invested in the security of an issuer, except the U.S. Government 

and its agencies.  

  
•   Shares of registered investment companies valued at fair value as determined by quoted market prices, based upon net asset value 

(NAV)  

  
•   Domestic and foreign common equity securities and real estate investment trusts valued using quoted market prices of a national 

securities exchange  
  •   U.S. Government securities valued on an active trading market  
  •   Futures contracts valued at the last settlement price at the end of each day on the exchange upon which they are traded  

  •   Interest bearing cash in an institutional short-term investment vehicle valued daily  

  

•   Fixed income investments consisting of domestic and foreign corporate bonds, collateralized mortgage obligations and other 
securitized vehicles are valued on the basis of valuations furnished by a pricing service, which determines valuations using methods 
based on market transactions for comparable securities and various relationships between securities, which are generally recognized 
by institutional traders  

  •   Domestic preferred equity securities valued by a pricing service  
  •   Common/collective trusts valued at NAV without adjustment  

  •   Hedge funds and limited partnerships valued at NAV without adjustment.  
  •   An immediate participation guarantee contract with an insurance company stated at contract value, which approximates fair value.  
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The fair value of NSTAR’s Pension Plan assets at December 31, 2009 by asset category, are as follows:  
   

The assets of NSTAR’s Pension Plan include a 401(h) account that has been allocated to provide health and welfare postretirement benefits 
under the PBOP Plan. The Pension Plan 401(h) account is a subset of the Pension Plan assets and is not reflected as a component of the Pension 
Plan net assets.  

The following reflects the weighted average asset allocation percentage of the fair value of the Pension Plan’s assets for each major type of asset 
as of December 31 as well as the targeted ranges:  
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(in millions) 

   

Total   

  
Fair Value Measurements at  

December 31, 2009   

     

Active  
Market 
Prices  

(Level 1)     

Significant 
Observable 

 
Inputs  

(Level 2)     

Significant  
Unobservable 

 
Inputs  

(Level 3)   

Asset category           

Equity securities (37% of total):           

Domestic – common and preferred     $ 71      $ 70      $ 1      $ —      
Foreign – common       33        33        —          —      
Common/collective trusts       189        —          189        —      
Hedge funds       41        —          —          41    

       
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Total equity securities       334        103        190        41    
       

  
      

  
      

  
      

  

Fixed income securities (31% of total):           

Domestic and foreign corporate bonds       88        —          88        —      
Interest bearing cash       27        —          27        —      
Common/collective trusts       86        —          86        —      
Registered investment companies       80        52        28        —      
Guaranteed investment contract       4        —          —          4    

       
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Total fixed income securities       285        52        229        4    
       

  
      

  
      

  
      

  

Real estate investments (9% of total):           

Real estate investment trusts       1        1        —          —      
Common/collective trusts       7        —          7        —      
Limited partnerships       78        —          —          78    
Hedge funds       3        —          —          3    

       
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Total real estate       89        1        7        81    
       

  
      

  
      

  
      

  

Alternative investments (23% of total):           

Hedge funds       215        —          —          215    
       

  
      

  
      

  
      

  

Total alternative investments       215        —          —          215    
       

  
      

  
      

  
      

  

Total (prior to 401(h) allocation)       923        156        426        341    
       

  
      

  
      

  
      

  

Allocation of 401(h) account       (61 )      (10 )      (28 )      (23 )  
       

  
      

  
      

  
      

  

Net assets of Pension Plan     $ 862      $ 146      $ 398      $ 318    
       

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

Asset Category 
   Plan Assets     Target 

Ranges   
  

Typical Benchmark    2009     2008       

Equity securities  
   37 %    29 %    

20% -
 40 %    MSCI ACWI 

Debt securities  
   31      28      

20% -
 40 %    Barclays Aggregate 

Real Estate  
   9      20      

10% -
 20 %    NCREIF Property Index 

Alternative  
   23      23      

20% -
 30 %    HFRI Fund of Funds Composite Index 

     
  

    
  

    

Total     100 %    100 %      
     

  

    

  

    

st 
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The fair values of NSTAR’s PBOP Plan assets at December 2009 by asset category, are as follows:  
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(in millions) 

   
Fair Value Measurements Using Significant  

Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)   

   

Hedge 
 

Funds     
Limited  

Partnerships     

Guaranteed 
 

Investment 
Contract    Total   

Beginning balance at December 31, 2008     $ 289     $ 163     $ 4    $ 456   
Actual return on plan assets:            

Relating to assets still held at the reporting date       74       (34 )      —        40   
Relating to assets sold during the period       (17 )      (2 )      —        (19 )  

Purchases, sales, and settlements       (87 )      (49 )      —        (136 )  
Transfers in and/or out of Level 3       —          —          —        —      

       
  

      
  

             
  

Ending balance at December 31, 2009     $ 259     $ 78     $ 4    $ 341   
       

  

      

  

             

  

(in millions) 

   

Total 

   
Fair Value Measurements at  

December 31, 2009 

      

Active  
Market  
Prices  

(Level 1)    

Significant 
Observable 

 
Inputs  

(Level 2)    

Significant  
Unobservable 

 
Inputs  

(Level 3) 

Asset Category              

Equity securities (50% of total):              

Foreign - common     $ 24    $ 24    $ —      $ —   
Registered investment companies       1      1      —        —   
Common/collective trusts       70      —        70      —   
Limited partnerships       16      —        —        16 

                            

Total equity securities       111      25      70      16 
                            

Fixed income securities (34% of total):              

U.S. Government securities       1      1      —        —   
Interest bearing cash       7      —        7      —   
Common/collective trusts       40      —        40      —   
Domestic corporate bonds       27      —        27      —   
Asset backed securities       2      —        —        2 

                            

Total fixed income securities       77      1      74      2 
                            

Real estate investments (7% of total):              

Limited partnerships       14      —        —        14 
                            

Total real estate       14      —        —        14 
                            

Alternative investments (9% of total):              

Hedge funds       20      —        —        20 
                            

Total alternative investments       20      —        —        20 
                            

Total (prior to 401(h) allocation)     $ 222    $ 26    $ 144    $ 52 
                            

Allocation of 401(h) account       61      10      28      23 
                            

Net assets of PBOP Plan     $ 283    $ 36    $ 172    $ 75 
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The following reflects the weighted average asset allocation percentages of the fair value of the PBOP Plan assets for each major type of assets 
as of December 31 as well as the targeted ranges:  
   

   

4. Savings Plan  

NSTAR also provides a defined contribution 401(k) plan for substantially all employees. Matching contributions (which are equal to 50% of the 
employees’ deferral up to 8% of eligible base and cash incentive compensation subject to statutory limits) included in the accompanying 
Consolidated Statements of Income amounted to $9.3 million, $9.4 million, and $8.9 million in 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively. The election 
available to participants to reinvest dividends paid on the NSTAR Common Share Fund or receive the dividends in cash is subject to a freeze 
period beginning seven days prior to the date any dividend is paid. During this period, participants cannot change their election. NSTAR 
dividends are paid to this plan four times a year in February, May, August, and November.  

Note I. Stock-Based Compensation  

The NSTAR 2007 Long Term Incentive Plan (the 2007 Plan) permits a variety of stock and stock-based awards, including stock options, 
deferred stock awards, and performance share units granted to key employees. The aggregate number of common shares that are available for 
award under the 2007 Plan is 3.5 million. The Plan limits the terms of awards to ten years and prohibits the granting of awards beyond ten years 
after its effective date. In general, stock options and deferred shares vest over a three-year period from date of grants. Performance share units 
vest only at the end of a three year performance period if performance conditions are met. The Executive Personnel Committee (EPC) of the 
Board of Trustees approves stock-based awards for all executives and other key employees. However, the Chief Executive Officer’s (CEO) 
award must also be approved by the independent members of the Board of Trustees. The EPC and Board of Trustees established that the date of 
grant for annual stock-based awards under the Plan is the date each year on which the Board of Trustees approves the CEO’s stock award. This 
date is when all participants are notified of their awards. Options are granted at the full market price of the common shares on the date of grant. 
The aggregate remaining number of common shares available for award under the Plan as of December 31, 2009 is 1,928,263.  
   

81  

Asset Category 
   Plan Assets     Target 

Ranges   
  

Typical Benchmark    2009     2008       

Equity securities  
   50 %    38 %    

40% -
 60 %    MSCI ACWI 

Debt securities  
   34      29      

25% -
 35 %    Barclays Aggregate 

Real Estate  
   7      16      

5% -
 15 %    NCREIF Property Index 

Alternative  
   9      17      

5% -
 15 %    HFRI Fund of Funds Composite Index 

     
  

    
  

    

Total     100 %    100 %      
     

  

    

  

    

(in millions) 

   
Fair Value Measurements Using Significant  

Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)   

   

Hedge 
 

Funds     

Corporate 
 

Bonds     
Limited  

Partnerships     

Asset  
Backed  

Securities    Total   
Beginning balance at December 31, 2008     $ 25     $ 1     $ 62     $ 1    $  89   
Actual return on plan assets:              

Relating to assets still held at the reporting date       3       —          10       —        13   
Relating to assets sold during the period  

     
—
          —          (1 )      —        (1 )  

Purchases, sales, and settlements       (8 )      (1 )      (41 )      1      (49 )  
Transfers in and/or out of Level 3  

     
—
          —          —          —        

—
      

       
  

      
  

      
  

             
  

Ending balance at December 31, 2009     $ 20     $ —        $ 30     $ 2    $ 52   
       

  

      

  

      

  

             

  

st 
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Stock-based compensation activities of the Plans were as follows:  

Stock Options:  
   

Summarized information regarding stock options outstanding at December 31, 2009:  
   

There were 1,756,677, 1,567,304, and 1,287,092, stock options exercisable as of December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively. As of 
December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007, the associated weighted average exercise price of these exercisable options is $27.85, $26.59, and $22.38, 
respectively. The total intrinsic value (the market price of the common shares on the date exercised, less the option exercise prices) of options 
exercised during the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007 was $1.4 million, $1.4 million, and $5.3 million, respectively.  

The stock options granted in 2009, 2008 and 2007 have a grant date fair value of $3.64, $3.76, and $4.79, respectively. The fair value was 
estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model that uses the assumptions in the table below. The expected option lives are based on the 
average historical time frame that options are expected to remain unexercised. Expected volatilities are based on the historical performance of 
NSTAR’s stock price. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury Strip in effect on grant date. The fair values were computed using 
the following range of assumptions for NSTAR’s stock options for the years ended December 31:  
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2009  

Activity     

2009  
Weighted 

 
Average  
Exercise 

Price    
2008  

Activity     

2008  
Weighted 

 
Average  
Exercise 

Price 

Options outstanding at January 1     2,327,034      $ 28.71    2,234,202      $ 28.06 
Options granted     352,000      $ 34.02    329,000      $ 32.45 
Options exercised     (180,667 )   $ 25.08    (185,334 )    $ 26.15 
Options forfeited     (44,000 )    $ 34.67    (50,834 )    $ 33.82 

     
  

       
  

  

Options outstanding at December 31     2,454,367      $ 29.63    2,327,034      $ 28.71 
     

  

       

  

  

Exercise Prices 

   Options Outstanding    Options Exercisable (Vested) 

   
Number  

Outstanding    

Weighted  
Average  

Remaining 
Contractual 

 
Life (Years)    

Weighted 
 

Average  
Exercise 

Price    

Aggregate 
 

Intrinsic  
Value  
(000’s)    

Number  
Exercisable    

Weighted  
Average  

Remaining 
Contractual 

 
Life (Years)    

Weighted 
 

Average  
Exercise 

Price    

Aggregate 
 

Intrinsic  
Value  
(000’s) 

$22.19     4,200    0.40    $ 22.19    $ 61    4,200    0.40    $ 22.19    $ 61 
$22.67     42,000    2.30    $ 22.67    $ 594    42,000    2.30    $ 22.67    $ 594 
$21.60     267,000    3.33    $ 21.60    $ 4,058    267,000    3.33    $ 21.60    $ 4,058 
$24.21     351,000    4.33    $ 24.21    $ 4,421    351,000    4.33    $ 24.21    $ 4,421 
$29.60     414,667    5.44    $ 29.60    $ 2,986    414,667    5.44    $ 29.60    $ 2,986 
$27.73     364,000    6.32    $ 27.73    $ 3,301    364,000    6.32    $ 27.73    $ 3,301 
$36.89     380,500    7.34    $ 36.89      —      241,240    7.34    $ 36.89      —   
$32.45     293,000    8.08    $ 32.45    $ 1,275    72,570    8.08    $ 32.45    $ 316 
$34.02     338,000    9.08    $ 34.02    $ 940    —      —        —        —   

                                    

   2,454,367    6.23    $ 29.63    $ 17,636    1,756,677    5.36    $ 27.85    $ 15,737 
                                    

     2009     2008     2007   
Expected life (years)     6.0      6.0      6.0    
Risk-free interest rate     1.89 %    3.17 %    4.56 %  
Volatility     20.0 %    16.4 %    14.6 %  
Dividends     4.43 %    3.81 %    3.85 %  
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Deferred Shares:  
   

The fair value of deferred shares vested during 2009 and 2008 was $10.3 million and $6.2 million, respectively.  

Performance Share Units:  
   

Performance share unit awards under the 2007 Plan contain performance criteria that affect the number of shares that ultimately vest. 
Restrictions on performance share unit awards lapse after a three-year period contingent on achievement of certain earnings growth performance 
measures. These awards grant the right to receive, at the end of the performance period, a variable number of shares based on the level of 
NSTAR’s earnings growth and a total shareholder return that is compared to companies in the EEI Index. This variable range extends from 0% 
to 170% of the granted awards. The 2009 and 2008 performance awards grant date fair values were estimated to be $33.85 and $32.70, 
respectively for the targeted performance levels using a binomial option-pricing model.  

Management evaluates the probability of meeting the performance criteria at each balance sheet date and related compensation cost is amortized 
over the performance period on a straight-line basis. If the performance is not achieved, no compensation cost is recognized and any previously 
recognized compensation cost is reversed. No performance share units vested during 2009.  

Total Stock-Based Compensation  

As of December 31, 2009, the total stock-based compensation cost related to nonvested stock options, deferred share awards and performance 
share units not yet recognized was $9 million. The remaining weighted average period over which total stock-based compensation will be 
recognized is 1.65 years.  

Total stock-based compensation cost recognized in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income in 2009, 2008 and 2007 was $8.5 
million, $9.7 million, and $8.9 million, respectively. Approximately $1.6 million, $1.9 million, and $1.7 million of costs related to stock options 
are included in the 2009, 2008 and 2007 stock-based compensation totals, respectively.  
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2009  

Activity     

2009  
Weighted 

 
Average  
Grant  

Date Fair 
 

Value  
Price    

2008  
Activity     

2008  
Weighted 

 
Average  
Grant  

Date Fair 
 

Value  
Price 

Nonvested deferred shares at January 1     463,213      $ 31.76    544,063      $ 31.39 
Deferred shares granted     134,050      $ 34.02    125,250      $ 32.45 
Deferred shares vested     (328,174 )    $ 30.72    (187,934 )    $ 31.02 
Deferred shares forfeited     (10,067 )    $ 34.17    (18,166 )    $ 33.06 

     
  

       
  

  

Nonvested deferred shares at December 31     259,022      $ 34.15    463,213      $ 31.76 
     

  

       

  

  

     
2009  

Activity     

Weighted 
 

Average  
Grant  

Date Fair 
 

Value  
Price    

2008  
Activity     

Weighted 
 

Average  
Grant  

Date Fair 
 

Value  
Price 

Performance share units at January 1     67,137      $ 32.70    —        $ —   
Performance share units granted     78,750      $ 33.85    70,350      $ 32.70 
Performance share units vested     —        $ —      —        $ —   
Performance share units forfeited     (3,741 )    $ 33.47    (3,213 )    $ 32.70 

     
  

       
  

  

Nonvested performance share units outstanding at December 31     142,146      $ 33.32    67,137      $ 32.70 
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2010 Awards  

On January 28, 2010, NSTAR granted awards, under the terms of the 2007 Plan, of 289,000 stock options, 142,450 deferred shares, and 81,150 
performance based share units to executives and senior managers.  

Stock options, deferred shares and performance share units granted on January 28, 2010 have a grant date fair value of $4.87, $35.28 and $37.69, 
respectively. The grant date fair value of deferred shares and the exercise price of stock options are equal to the closing price of the Company’s 
common shares on January 28, 2010.  

Note J. Capital Stock and Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income  

NSTAR’s Board of Trustees declared dividends per common share of $1.525, $1.425, and $1.325 in 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively.  

Common Shares  

Common share and accumulated other comprehensive income activity in 2009 and 2008 was as follows:  
   

Cumulative Preferred Stock of Subsidiary  

Non-mandatory redeemable series:  

Par value $100 per share, 2,890,000 shares authorized and 430,000 shares issued and outstanding:  
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(in thousands)    
Number  
of Shares    

Total Par  
Value    

Premium on 
 

Common  
Shares     

Accumulated  
Other  

Comprehensive 
 

Income   

Balance at December 31, 2007     106,808    $ 106,808    $ 818,674      $ (12,593 )  
Continuing operations activities:             

Equity compensation plans (Note I)     —        —        (73 )      —      
Pension and postretirement benefit costs, net     —        —        —          (900 )  

                   
  

      
  

Total continuing operations activities     —        —        (73 )      (900 )  
Discontinued operations activity:             

Postretirement benefit costs, net     —        —        —          (32 )  
                   

  
      

  

Total activity     —        —        (73 )      (932 )  
                   

  
      

  

Balance at December 31, 2008     106,808      106,808      818,601        (13,525 )  
                   

  
      

  

Continuing operations activities:             

Equity compensation plans (Note I)     —        —        (5,111 )      —      
Pension and postretirement benefit costs, net     —        —        —          (649 )  

                   
  

      
  

Total continuing operations activities     —        —        (5,111 )      (649 )  
Discontinued operations activity:             

Postretirement benefit costs, net     —        —        —          (154 )  
                   

  
      

  

Total activity     —        —        (5,111 )      (803 )  
                   

  
      

  

Balance at December 31, 2009     106,808    $ 106,808    $ 813,490      $ (14,328 )  
                   

  

      

  

(in thousands, except per share amounts)      

Series     

Current 
Shares  

Outstanding    

Redemption 
Price/  
Share    

December 31, 

 
2009    

December 31, 

 
2008 

4.25%     180,000    $ 103.625    $ 18,000    $ 18,000 
4.78%     250,000    $ 102.80        25,000      25,000 

                    

Total non-mandatory redeemable series     $ 43,000    $ 43,000 
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NSTAR Electric has two outstanding series of non-mandatory redeemable preferred stock. Both series are part of a class of NSTAR Electric’s 
Cumulative Preferred Stock. Upon any liquidation of NSTAR Electric, holders of the Cumulative Preferred stock are entitled to receive the 
liquidation preference for their shares before any distribution to the holder of the common stock. The liquidation preference for each outstanding 
series of Cumulative Preferred Stock is equal to the par value ($100.00 per share), plus accrued and unpaid dividends.  

Note K. Indebtedness  

Long-Term Debt  

NSTAR’s long-term debt consisted of the following:  
   

The agreement to sell MATEP for approximately $320 million in cash allows NSTAR to retire MATEP’s outstanding long-term debt with a 
portion of the proceeds from sale. At December 31, 2009, $84.2 million net of  
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     December 31,   
(in thousands)    2009     2008   

Mortgage Bonds, collateralized by property of operating subsidiary:       

NSTAR Gas      

7.04%, due September 2017     $ 25,000      $ 25,000    
9.95%, due December 2020       25,000        25,000    
7.11%, due December 2033       35,000        35,000    

NSTAR      

Notes:       

8.0%, due February 2010       500,000        500,000    
Debentures:       

4.50%, due November 2019       350,000        —      

NSTAR Electric      

Debentures:       

7.80%, due May 2010       125,000        125,000    
4.875%, due October 2012       400,000        400,000    
4.875%, due April 2014       300,000        300,000    
5.625%, due November 2017       400,000        300,000    
5.75%, due March 2036       200,000        200,000    

Bonds:       

Massachusetts Industrial Finance Agency (MIFA) bonds       

5.75%, due February 2014       15,000        15,000    

HEEC      

7.375% Sewage facility revenue bonds, due through 2015       8,358        9,988    

Funding Companies      

Transition Property Securitization Certificates:       

7.03%, due through March 2010       6,817        75,554    
4.13%, due through September 2011       118,170        203,475    
4.40%, due through September 2013       144,771        144,771    

       
  

      
  

     2,653,116        2,358,788    
Unamortized debt discount       (7,528 )      (5,603 )  
Unamortized debt premium       4,093        —      
Amounts due within one year       (683,240 )      (93,268 )  

       
  

      
  

Total long-term debt     $ 1,966,441      $ 2,259,917    
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unamortized debt discount was outstanding and not included in the table above. MATEP will continue to make required payments related to this 
debt in the period leading up to the sale closing date expected towards the end of the first quarter or early part of the second quarter of 2010.  

Consistent with the recovery in utility rates, discounts, redemption premiums and related costs associated with the issuance and redemption of 
long-term debt of NSTAR Electric and NSTAR Gas are deferred and amortized as an addition to interest expense over the life of the original or 
replacement debt.  

On August 9, 2007, NSTAR Electric received DPU approval to issue up to $400 million of long-term debt securities from time to time through 
December 31, 2008 and a registration statement on Form S-3 was filed with the SEC. On November 19, 2007, NSTAR Electric sold $300 
million of ten-year fixed rate (5.625%) Debentures. On November 25, 2008, the DPU allowed NSTAR Electric to extend the period of its 
financing plan with additional time to issue the remaining $100 million in long-term debt securities to no later than December 31, 2009. On 
February 13, 2009, NSTAR Electric sold, at a premium, $100 million of fixed rate (5.625%) Debentures due November 15, 2017 (effective rate 
of 4.976%). The Debentures form a single series and are fungible with the Debentures issued on November 19, 2007. NSTAR Electric used the 
proceeds from the issuance of these securities to finance its capital expenditures, for repayment of short-term debt, and for general working 
capital purposes.  

On April 6, 2009, the DPU approved NSTAR Electric’s new two-year financing plan to issue an additional $500 million in long-term debt 
securities. On October 9, 2009, in connection with this filing, NSTAR and NSTAR Electric filed a registration statement on Form S-3 with the 
SEC to issue debt securities from time to time in one or more series. On November 17, 2009, NSTAR sold, at a discount, $350 million of fixed 
rate (4.5%) Debentures due November 15, 2019. NSTAR used the proceeds from the issuance of these securities for the repayment of 
outstanding short-term debt balances and general working capital purposes.  

The 5.75% tax-exempt unsecured MIFA bonds due 2014 are currently redeemable at par.  

Sewage facility revenue bonds are tax-exempt, subject to annual mandatory sinking fund redemption requirements and mature through 2015. 
Scheduled redemptions of $1.65 million were made in 2009 and 2008. The interest rate of the bonds was 7.375% for both 2009 and 2008.  

The Transition Property Securitization Certificates held by NSTAR Electric’s subsidiaries, BEC Funding LLC, BEC Funding II, LLC and CEC 
Funding, LLC (Funding companies), are each collaterized with separate securitized regulatory assets with combined balances of $281.1 million 
and $434 million as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. NSTAR Electric, as servicing agent for the Funding companies, collected 
$173.5 million and $179.9 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively. Funds collected from the companies’ respective customers are transferred to 
each Funding companies’ Trust on a daily basis. These Certificates are non-recourse to NSTAR Electric.  

The aggregate principal amounts of NSTAR’s long-term debt (including securitization certificates and sinking fund requirements) due in the five 
years subsequent to 2009 are approximately $684 million in 2010, $86 million in 2011, $486 million in 2012, $46 million in 2013, $317 million 
in 2014 and $1.04 billion thereafter.  

Financial Covenant Requirements and Lines of Credit  

NSTAR and NSTAR Electric have no financial covenant requirements under their respective long-term debt arrangements. NSTAR Gas has 
financial covenant requirements including a minimum equity requirement under its long-term debt arrangements and was in compliance at 
December 31, 2009 and 2008. NSTAR’s long-term debt other than the secured debt of NSTAR Gas and the long-term debt of its discontinued 
operation subsidiary, MATEP, is unsecured.  

NSTAR currently has a $175 million revolving credit agreement that expires December 31, 2012. At December 31, 2009 and 2008, there were 
no amounts outstanding under the revolving credit agreement. This credit facility serves as a backup to NSTAR’s $175 million commercial 
paper program that, at December 31,  
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2009 and 2008, had zero and $175 million, respectively. Under the terms of the credit agreement, NSTAR is required to maintain a maximum 
total consolidated debt to total capitalization ratio of not greater than 65% at all times, excluding Transition Property Securitization Certificates, 
and excluding accumulated other comprehensive loss from common equity. Commitment fees must be paid on the total agreement amount. At 
December 31, 2009 and 2008, NSTAR was in full compliance with the aforementioned covenant as the ratios were 59.8% and 60.2%, 
respectively.  

On April 6, 2009, the DPU approved NSTAR Electric’s new two-year financing plan to issue an additional $500 million in long-term debt 
securities. On October 9, 2009, in connection with this filing, NSTAR and NSTAR Electric filed a registration statement on Form S-3 with the 
SEC to issue debt securities from time to time in one or more series. NSTAR and NSTAR Electric may use the proceeds from the prospective 
issuance of these securities for the redemption or repayment of outstanding long-term debt and short-term debt balances and/or general working 
capital purposes.  

NSTAR Electric has approval from the FERC to issue short-term debt securities from time to time on or before October 22, 2010, with maturity 
dates no later than October 21, 2011, in amounts such that the aggregate principal does not exceed $655 million at any one time. NSTAR 
Electric has a five-year, $450 million revolving credit agreement that expires December 31, 2012. However, unless NSTAR Electric receives 
necessary approvals from the DPU, the credit agreement will expire 364 days from the date of the first draw under the agreement. At 
December 31, 2009 and 2008, there were no amounts outstanding under the revolving credit agreement. This credit facility serves as backup to 
NSTAR Electric’s $450 million commercial paper program that had $341 million and $354.6 million outstanding balances at December 31, 2009 
and 2008, respectively. Under the terms of the revolving credit agreement, NSTAR Electric is required to maintain a consolidated maximum 
total debt to capitalization ratio of not greater than 65% at all times, excluding Transition Property Securitization Certificates, and excluding 
accumulated other comprehensive loss from common equity. At December 31, 2009 and 2008, NSTAR Electric was in full compliance with its 
covenants in connection with its short-term credit facilities, as the ratios were 46.5% and 47.6%, respectively.  

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, NSTAR Gas had a $100 million line of credit which is due to expire on December 10, 2010. As of 
December 31, 2009 and 2008, NSTAR Gas had zero and $53.3 million outstanding, respectively.  

On November 9, 2009, NSTAR Gas received approval from the DPU to issue up to $125 million of long-term debt. On January 14, 2010, 
NSTAR Gas entered into a $125 million Bond Purchase Agreement with private investors on a 10-year First Mortgage Bond series at a coupon 
rate of 4.46%. Funding took place on January 28, 2010.  

Historically, NSTAR and its subsidiaries have had a variety of external sources of financing available, as indicated above, at favorable rates and 
terms to finance its external cash requirements. However, the availability of such financing at favorable rates and terms depends heavily upon 
prevailing market conditions and NSTAR’s or its subsidiaries’ financial condition and credit ratings.  

NSTAR’s goal is to maintain a capital structure that preserves an appropriate balance between debt and equity. Based on NSTAR’s key cash 
resources available as discussed above, management believes its liquidity and capital resources are sufficient to meet its current and projected 
requirements.  

Interest rates on the outstanding short-term borrowings generally are money market rates and averaged 0.31% and 2.31% in 2009 and 2008, 
respectively. In aggregate, short-term borrowings totaled $341.0 million and $582.9 million at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  
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Note L. Fair Value  

Fair Value Measurements  

NSTAR discloses fair value measurement pursuant to the application of an amended accounting standard that defines fair value, establishes a 
framework for measuring fair value in accordance with GAAP, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. The Company 
prospectively adopted this new accounting guidance on January 1, 2008, with no impact to its results of operations, financial position, or cash 
flows.  

NSTAR follows a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to determine fair value and requires the Company to classify assets and 
liabilities carried at fair value based on the observability of these inputs. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are:  

Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the reporting date. Financial assets utilizing 
Level 1 inputs include active exchange-traded equity securities.  

Level 2 - Quoted prices available in active markets for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in 
inactive markets, inputs other than quoted prices that are directly observable, and inputs derived principally from market data.  

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs from objective sources. These inputs may be based on entity-specific inputs. Level 3 inputs include all inputs that 
do not meet the requirements of Level 1 or Level 2.  

The following represents the fair value hierarchy of NSTAR’s financial assets and liabilities that were recognized at fair value on a recurring 
basis as of December 31, 2009. Financial assets and liabilities are classified based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement.  

Recurring Fair Value Measures  
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     December 31, 2009 
(in millions)    Level 1    Level 2    Total 

Assets:           

Government Money Market Securities (a)     $ 147    $ —      $ 147 
Deferred Compensation Assets (b)       27      —        27 
Investments (b)       12      —        12 

                     

Total     $ 186    $ —      $ 186 
                     

Liabilities:           

Gas Hedges (c)     $ —      $ 2    $ 2 
                     

Total     $ —      $ 2    $ 2 
                     

     December 31, 2008 
     Level 1    Level 2    Total 

Assets:           

Government Money Market Securities (a)     $ 10    $ —      $ 10 
Deferred Compensation Assets (b)       27      —        27 
Investments (b)       13      —        13 

                     

Total     $ 50    $ —      $ 50 
                     

Liabilities:           

Gas Hedges (c)     $ —      $ 33    $ 33 
                     

Total     $ —      $ 33    $ 33 
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments  

The carrying amounts for cash and cash equivalents, net accounts receivable, other current assets, certain current liabilities, and notes payable as 
of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively, approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these securities.  

The fair values of long-term indebtedness (excluding notes payable) are based on the quoted market prices of similar issues. Carrying amounts 
and fair values as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 were as follows:  
   

Note M. Segment and Related Information  

For the purpose of providing segment information, NSTAR’s principal operating segments, are its traditional core businesses of electric and 
natural gas retail transmission and distribution utilities that provide energy delivery services in 107 cities and towns in Massachusetts. The 
unregulated operating segment engages in business activities that include telecommunications and a liquefied natural gas service. Amounts 
related to discontinued operations have been excluded from the data presented. Amounts shown on the following table for 2009, 2008 and 2007 
include the allocation of NSTAR’s (Holding Company) results of operations (primarily interest costs) and assets to each business segment, net of 
inter-company transactions that primarily consist of interest charges and investment assets, respectively. The allocation of Holding Company 
charges is based on an indirect allocation of the Holding Company’s investment relating to these various business segments.  
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(a)    - Included in “Cash and cash equivalents”  on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets 

(b)    - Included in “Other investments”  on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets 

(c)    - Included in “Current liabilities: Power contract obligations”  and “Deferred credits and other liabilities: Power contract obligations”  on 
the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets 

(in thousands) 

   2009    2008 

   
Carrying  
Amount    Fair Value    

Carrying  
Amount    Fair Value 

Long-term indebtedness of continuing operations (including current maturities)     $ 2,649,681    $ 2,755,110    $ 2,353,185    $ 2,392,600 
Indebtedness of discontinued operations     $ 84,163    $ 85,290    $ 88,515    $ 82,360 
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Financial data for the segments of continuing operations were as follows:  
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(in thousands)    2009    2008    2007 

Operating revenues           

Electric utility operations     $ 2,551,581    $ 2,639,637    $ 2,562,850 
Gas utility operations       482,136      553,680      560,478 
Unregulated operations       16,327      15,004      12,757 

                     

Consolidated total     $ 3,050,044    $ 3,208,321    $ 3,136,085 
                     

Depreciation and amortization           

Electric utility operations     $ 338,632    $ 339,236    $ 330,325 
Gas utility operations       27,224      26,494      26,144 
Unregulated operations       4,226      4,070      3,700 

                     

Consolidated total     $ 370,082    $ 369,800    $ 360,169 
                     

Equity income in investments accounted for by the equity method (a)           

Electric utility operations     $ 891    $ 820    $ 1,495 
                     

Interest charges           

Electric utility operations     $ 113,895    $ 128,247    $ 137,693 
Gas utility operations       14,475      16,170      21,676 
Unregulated operations       266      273      402 

                     

Consolidated total     $ 128,636    $ 144,690    $ 159,771 
                     

Income tax expense           

Electric utility operations     $ 131,475    $ 124,967    $ 117,432 
Gas utility operations       12,043      11,946      9,547 
Unregulated operations       3,398      3,832      2,180 

                     

Consolidated total     $ 146,916    $ 140,745    $ 129,159 
                     

Segment net income           

Electric utility operations     $ 219,546    $ 201,220    $ 191,535 
Gas utility operations       21,586      21,159      19,143 
Unregulated operations       4,843      5,577      4,338 

                     

Consolidated total     $ 245,975    $ 227,956    $ 215,016 
                     

Expenditures for property           

Electric utility operations     $ 319,461    $ 366,398    $ 320,234 
Gas utility operations       54,332      46,399      30,647 
Unregulated operations       1,371      2,189      1,274 

                     

Consolidated total     $ 375,164    $ 414,986    $ 352,155 
                     

Segment assets           

Electric utility operations     $ 7,134,090    $ 7,216,520    $ 6,764,497 
Gas utility operations       819,446      854,139      797,266 
Unregulated operations       23,393      23,337      26,807 

                     

Consolidated total     $ 7,976,929    $ 8,093,996    $ 7,588,570 
                     

  
(a) The equity income from equity investments is included in other income on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income. 
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Note N. Contracts for the Purchase of Energy  

NSTAR Electric Purchase Power Agreements  

As a Massachusetts distribution company, NSTAR Electric is required to obtain and resell power to retail customers through Basic Service for 
those who choose not to buy energy from a competitive energy supplier. Basic Service rates are reset every six months (every three months for 
large commercial and industrial customers). The price of Basic Service is intended to reflect the average competitive market price for power. For 
Basic Service power supply, NSTAR Electric makes periodic market solicitations consistent with DPU regulations. NSTAR Electric enters into 
short-term power purchase agreements to meet its Basic Service supply obligation, ranging in term from three to twelve months. NSTAR 
Electric fully recovers its payments to suppliers through DPU-approved rates billed to customers.  

The Rate Settlement Agreement required NSTAR Electric to design a policy for the procurement of Basic Service supply for residential 
customers effective July 1, 2006, permitting NSTAR Electric to execute energy supply contracts for one, two and three-years procuring fifty, 
twenty-five and twenty-five percent, respectively, of its total energy load requirements for residential customers.  

NSTAR Gas Firm Transportation and Storage Agreements  

NSTAR Gas purchases transportation, storage, and balancing services from Tennessee Gas Pipeline Company and Algonquin Gas Transmission 
Company, as well as other upstream pipelines that transport gas from major producing regions in the U.S., Gulf of Mexico, and Canada to the 
final delivery points in the NSTAR Gas service area. NSTAR Gas purchases all of its natural gas supply from third-party vendors. Most of the 
supplies are purchased under a firm portfolio management contract with a term of one year, which has a maximum quantity of 139,606 
MMBtu/day. NSTAR Gas has one multiple year contract, which is used for the purchase of its 4,500 Mmbtu/day of Canadian supplies.  

NSTAR Gas has various contractual agreements covering the transportation of natural gas and underground natural gas storage facilities, which 
are recoverable from customers under the DPU-approved CGAC. Most contracts expire at various times from 2011 to 2017. One new 20-year 
contract was signed in 2009. NSTAR Gas’ firm contract demand charges associated with firm pipeline transportation and storage capacity 
contracts in 2009, 2008, and 2007 were approximately $54.4 million, $51.5 million, and $51.8 million, respectively. Refer to Note O, 
“Commitments and Contingencies,” “Energy Supply” section for NSTAR Gas’ firm contract demand charges at current rates under these 
contracts for the years after 2009.  

Note O. Commitments and Contingencies  

Service Quality Indicators  

SQI are established performance benchmarks for certain identified measures of service quality relating to customer service and billing 
performance, safety and reliability and DPU Consumer Division statistics performance for all Massachusetts utilities. NSTAR Electric and 
NSTAR Gas are required to report annually to the DPU concerning their performance as to each measure and are subject to maximum penalties 
of up to two and one-half percent of total transmission and distribution revenues should performance fail to meet the applicable benchmarks.  

NSTAR monitors its service quality continuously to determine if a liability has been triggered. If it is probable that a liability has been incurred 
and is estimable, a liability is accrued. Annually, each NSTAR utility subsidiary makes a service quality performance filing with the DPU. Any 
settlement or rate order that would result in a different liability level from what has been accrued would be adjusted in the period that the DPU 
issues an order determining the amount of any such liability.  
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NSTAR Electric filed its 2007 Service Quality Reports with the DPU that demonstrated the Company achieved sufficient levels of service 
performance. On January 13, 2010 the DPU issued an order that approved the 2007 Service Quality Report that agreed performance levels were 
sufficient and no penalties were assessed.  

Service Quality reports for both NSTAR Gas and NSTAR Electric for 2008 have been filed with the DPU. The NSTAR Gas report has been 
approved and the NSTAR Electric report is under review. Based on the reports no penalties were assessable for the performance year.  

NSTAR Electric and NSTAR Gas service quality performance levels for 2009 were not in a penalty situation and the final performance reports 
are anticipated to be filed during the first quarter of 2010.  

Contractual Commitments  

Leases  

NSTAR has leases for facilities and equipment, including agreements for use of transmission facilities of other providers. The estimated 
minimum rental commitments under non-cancellable operating leases for the years after 2009 are as follows:  
   

The total expense for both leases and transmission agreements was $23.7 million in 2009, $26.7 million in 2008, and $24.7 million in 2007, net 
of capitalized expenses of $2.6 million in 2009, $2.6 million in 2008, and $2.4 million in 2007.  

Transmission  

As a member of ISO-NE, NSTAR Electric is subject to the terms and conditions of the ISO-NE tariff through February 1, 2012, as NSTAR 
Electric is obligated to remain a member through this period. NSTAR Electric must pay for regional network services through that period to 
support the pooled transmission facilities requirements of other New England transmission owners whose facilities are used by NSTAR Electric. 
These payments were $182.6 million, $134.6 million, and $130.2 million, in 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively. NSTAR Electric must along 
with other transmission owners and market participants, fund a proportionate share of the RTO’s operating and capital expenditures.  

Energy Commitments  

NSTAR is currently recovering payments it is making to suppliers from its customers. NSTAR has financial and performance assurances and 
financial guarantees in place with those suppliers to protect NSTAR from risk in the unlikely event any of its suppliers encounter financial 
difficulties or fail to maintain an investment grade credit rating. This condition principally relates to NSTAR Electric’s energy supply contract to 
provide Basic Service to its customers. In connection with certain of these agreements, in the event NSTAR Electric should receive a credit 
rating below investment grade, it would be required to obtain certain financial commitments, including but not limited to, letters of credit. Refer 
to Note N , “Contracts for the Purchase of Energy” for a further discussion.  
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(in thousands)      

2010     $ 13,883 
2011       14,007 
2012       13,130 
2013       12,142 
2014       8,755 
Years thereafter       13,003 

       

Total lease commitments     $ 74,920 
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The following represents NSTAR’s long-term energy related contractual commitments:  
   

Electric capacity obligations represent remaining capacity costs of long-term contracts that reflect NSTAR Electric’s proportionate share of 
capital and fixed operating costs of certain generating units. These contracts expire in 2012 and 2019. In 2009 and 2008, these costs were 
attributed to 47.9 MW of capacity purchased. Energy costs are paid to generators based on a price per kWh actually received into NSTAR 
Electric’s distribution system and are in addition to the costs above.  

Gas transportation and storage obligations represent agreements covering the transportation of natural gas and underground natural gas storage 
facilities that are recoverable from customers under the DPU-approved CGAC. These contracts expire at various times from 2011 through 2029.  

Purchase power buy-out obligations represent the buy-out/restructuring agreements for contract termination costs that reduce the amount of 
above-market costs that NSTAR Electric will collect from its customers through its transition charges. These agreements require NSTAR 
Electric to make monthly payments through September, 2016.  

The electric interconnection agreement relates to a single interconnection with a municipal utility for additional capacity into NSTAR Electric’s 
service territory.  

Electric Equity Investments  

NSTAR Electric has an equity investment of approximately 14.5% in two companies, NEH and NHH, that own and operate transmission 
facilities to import electricity from the Hydro-Quebec system in Canada. As an equity participant, NSTAR Electric is required to guarantee, in 
addition to its own share, the obligations of those participants who do not meet certain credit criteria. NEH and NHH have agreed to use their 
best efforts to limit their equity investment to 40% of their total capital during the time NEH and NHH have outstanding debt in their capital 
structure.  

NSTAR Electric has an equity ownership of 14% in CY, 14% in YA, and 4% in MY, (collectively, the Yankee Companies). CY, YA and MY 
plant sites have been decommissioned in accordance with NRC procedures. Amended licenses continue to apply to the ISFSI’s where spent 
nuclear fuel is stored at these sites. CY, YA and MY remain responsible for the security and protection of the ISFSI and are required to maintain 
radiation monitoring programs at the sites.  

The accounting for decommissioning and/or security or protection costs of these three decommissioned nuclear power plants involves estimates 
from Yankee Companies’ management and reflect total remaining costs of approximately $49 million to be incurred for CY, YA and MY. 
Changes in these estimates will not affect NSTAR’s results of operations or cash flows because these costs will be collected from customers 
through NSTAR Electric’s transition charge filings with the DPU.  

Yankee Companies Spent Fuel Litigation  

In October 2006, the U.S. Court of Federal Claims issued a judgment in a spent nuclear fuel litigation, of $34.2 million, $32.9 million, and $75.8 
million for Connecticut Yankee Atomic Power Company (CY), Yankee Atomic Electric Company (YA), and Maine Yankee Atomic Power 
Company (MY), respectively. This judgment in favor  
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(in millions)    2010    2011    2012    2013    2014    
Years  

Thereafter    Total 

Electric capacity obligations     $ 2    $ 2    $ 2    $ 2    $ 3    $ 12    $ 23 
Gas transportation and storage obligations       66      70      55      35      31      139      396 
Purchase power buy-out obligations       140      75      32      27      31      41      346 
Electric interconnection agreement       3      3      3      3      3      45      60 

                                                 

   $ 211    $ 150    $ 92    $ 67    $ 68    $ 237    $ 825 
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of the Yankee Companies relates to the alleged failure of the Department of Energy (DOE) to provide for a permanent facility to store spent 
nuclear fuel for years prior to 2001 for CY and YA, and prior to 2002 for MY (DOE Phase I Damages). NSTAR Electric’s portion of the Phase I 
judgments amounts to $4.8 million, $4.6 million, and $3 million, respectively. On July 1, 2009, the Yankee Companies filed for additional 
damages related to the alleged failure of the DOE to provide for a permanent facility to store spent nuclear fuel for the years from January 2002 
through December 2008 for CY and YA, and from January 2003 through December 2008 for MY (DOE Phase II Damages). This phase of the 
spent nuclear fuel litigation specifies damages in the amounts of $135.4 million, $86.1 million, and $43 million for CY, YA, and MY, 
respectively. Claim amounts applicable to NSTAR Electric are $19 million, $12 million, and $1.7 million, respectively.  

NSTAR cannot predict the ultimate outcome of these pending decisions for trial, appeal or the potential subsequent complaints. However, should 
the Yankee Companies ultimately prevail, NSTAR Electric’s share of the proceeds received would be refunded to its customers.  

Financial and Performance Guarantees  

On a limited basis, NSTAR and certain of its subsidiaries may enter into agreements providing financial assurance to third parties. Such 
agreements include letters of credit, surety bonds, and other guarantees.  

At December 31, 2009, outstanding guarantees totaled $28.5 million as follows:  
   

Letter of Credit  

NSTAR has issued a $5.6 million letter of credit for the benefit of a third party, as trustee in connection with Advanced Energy System’s (AES) 
6.924% Notes. The letter of credit is available if the subsidiary has insufficient funds to pay the debt service requirements. As of December 31, 
2009, there have been no amounts drawn under its letter of credit. The letter of credit is to be cancelled and the related AES 6.924% Notes paid 
off at the time of the MATEP sale closing date expected towards the end of the first quarter or early part of the second quarter of 2010.  

Surety Bonds  

As of December 31, 2009, certain of NSTAR’s subsidiaries have purchased a total of $1.5 million of performance surety bonds for the purpose 
of obtaining licenses, permits and rights-of-way in various municipalities. In addition, NSTAR and certain of its subsidiaries have purchased 
approximately $16.2 million in workers’ compensation self-insurer bonds. These bonds support the guarantee by NSTAR and certain of its 
subsidiaries to the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, required as part of the Company’s workers’ compensation self-insurance program. NSTAR 
and certain of its subsidiaries have indemnity agreements to provide additional financial security to its bond company in the form of a contingent 
letter of credit to be triggered in the event of a downgrade in the future of NSTAR’s Senior Note rating to below BBB by S&P and/or to below 
Baa1 by Moody’s. These Indemnity Agreements cover both the performance surety bonds and workers’ compensation bonds.  

Hydro-Quebec Guarantees  

NSTAR Electric has issued approximately $5.2 million of residual value guarantees related to its equity interest in the Hydro-Quebec 
transmission companies, NEH and NHH.  
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(in thousands)      

Letter of Credit     $ 5,560 
Surety Bonds       17,727 
Hydro-Quebec Guarantees       5,203 

       

Total Guarantees     $ 28,490 
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Management believes the likelihood that NSTAR would be required to perform or otherwise incur any significant losses associated with any of 
these guarantees is remote.  

Environmental Matters  

NSTAR subsidiaries face possible liabilities as a result of involvement in several multi-party disposal sites, state-regulated sites or third party 
claims associated with contamination remediation. NSTAR generally expects to have only a small percentage of the total potential liability for 
the majority of these sites. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, NSTAR had liabilities of approximately $0.8 million for these environmental 
sites. This estimated recorded liability is based on an evaluation of all currently available facts with respect to these sites.  

NSTAR Gas is participating in the assessment or remediation of certain former MGP sites and alleged MGP waste disposal sites to determine if 
and to what extent such sites have been contaminated and whether NSTAR Gas may be responsible to undertake remedial action. The DPU 
permits recovery of costs associated with MGP sites over a 7-year period, without carrying costs. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, NSTAR 
had a liability of approximately $14 million and $13.3 million, respectively, as an estimate for site cleanup costs for several MGP sites for which 
NSTAR Gas was identified as a potentially responsible party. A corresponding regulatory asset was recorded that reflects the future rate 
recovery for these costs.  

Estimates related to environmental remediation costs are reviewed and adjusted as further investigation and assignment of responsibility occurs 
and as either additional sites are identified or NSTAR’s responsibilities for such sites evolve or are resolved. NSTAR’s ultimate liability for 
future environmental remediation costs may vary from these estimates. Based on NSTAR’s current assessment of its environmental 
responsibilities, existing legal requirements, and regulatory policies, NSTAR does not believe that these environmental remediation costs will 
have a material adverse effect on NSTAR’s consolidated results of operations, financial position, or cash flows.  

Regulatory and Legal Proceedings  

DPU Rate Settlement Agreement  

The DPU approved a seven-year Rate Settlement Agreement (Rate Settlement Agreement) between NSTAR, the AG, and several interveners. 
For 2006, the Rate Settlement Agreement required NSTAR Electric to lower its transition rates by $20 million, effective January 1, 2006, and by 
an additional $30 million, effective May 1, 2006, from what would otherwise have been billed in 2006. Effective May 1, 2006, NSTAR Electric 
increased its distribution rates by $30 million. Beginning January 1, 2007 and continuing through 2012, the Rate Settlement Agreement 
establishes annual inflation-adjusted distribution rate increases (SIP of 1.32%, 1.74%, 2.68%, and 2.64% effective January 1, 2010, 2009, 2008, 
and 2007, respectively). These increases are generally offset by an equal and corresponding reduction in transition rates. Uncollected transition 
charges as a result of the reductions in transition rates are deferred and collected through future rates with a carrying charge. The Rate Settlement 
Agreement implemented a 50% / 50% earnings sharing mechanism based on NSTAR Electric’s distribution return on equity (excluding 
incentives) should it exceed 12.5% or fall below 8.5%. Should the return on equity fall below 7.5%, NSTAR Electric may file a request for a 
general rate increase. NSTAR Electric did not exceed the 12.5%, or fall below the 8.5% distribution return on equity during 2009, 2008 or 2007.  

Wholesale Power Cost Savings Initiatives  

The Rate Settlement Agreement includes incentives to encourage NSTAR Electric to continue its efforts to advocate on behalf of customers at 
the FERC to mitigate wholesale electricity cost inefficiencies that would be borne by regional customers. As a result of its role in two RMR 
cases, NSTAR Electric had sought to collect $9.8 million annually for three years and began collecting some of these incentive revenues from its 
customers effective January 1, 2007, subject to final DPU approval. Through December 31, 2009, approximately $18.9 million had been 
collected from customers for the Wholesale Power Cost Savings Initiatives.  
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On November 30, 2009, DPU denied NSTAR Electric’s petition. NSTAR Electric must refund the $18.9 million already collected from 
customers. The DPU order had no impact on earnings as the Company did not reflect the amounts collected in revenues.  

DPU Safety and Reliability Programs (CPSL)  

As part of the Rate Settlement Agreement, NSTAR Electric is allowed to recover incremental spending for the double pole inspection, 
replacement/restoration and transfer program and the underground electric safety program, which includes stray-voltage remediation and 
manhole inspections, repairs, and upgrades. Recovery of these Capital Program Scheduling List (CPSL) costs is subject to DPU review and 
approval. NSTAR Electric incurred incremental costs of $11 million, $13 million, and $15 million in 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively. This 
includes incremental operations and maintenance and revenue requirements on capital investments. The final reconciliation of 2006 and 2007 
CPSL costs recovery is currently under review by the DPU. The incremental costs for the year 2009 are currently under review by the Company 
and are estimated to be approximately $16 million. NSTAR awaits the results of the 2006 and 2007 filings from the DPU prior to submitting the 
final 2008 and 2009 CPSL cost recovery reconciliations with the DPU. NSTAR cannot predict the timing of a DPU order related to these 
pending filings. Should an adverse decision be issued which disallows a significant portion of CPSL cost recovery, it could have a material 
adverse impact to NSTAR’s results of operations, financial position, and cash flows.  

Basic Service Bad Debt Adder  

On July 1, 2005, in response to a generic DPU order that required electric utilities in Massachusetts to recover the energy-related portion of bad 
debt costs in their Basic Service rates, NSTAR Electric increased its Basic Service rates and reduced its distribution rates for those bad debt 
costs. In furtherance of this generic DPU order, NSTAR Electric included a bad debt cost recovery mechanism as a component of its Rate 
Settlement Agreement. This recovery mechanism (bad debt adder) allows NSTAR Electric to recover its Basic Service bad debt costs on a fully 
reconciling basis. These rates were implemented, effective January 1, 2006, as part of NSTAR Electric’s Rate Settlement Agreement.  

On February 7, 2007, NSTAR Electric filed its 2006 Basic Service reconciliation with the DPU proposing an adjustment related to the increase 
of its Basic Service bad debt charge-offs. This proposed rate adjustment was anticipated to be implemented effective July 1, 2007. On June 28, 
2007, the DPU issued an order approving the implementation of a revised Basic Service rate. However, the DPU instructed NSTAR Electric to 
reduce distribution rates by the increase in its Basic Service bad debt charge-offs. Such action would result in a further reduction to distribution 
rates from the adjustment NSTAR Electric made when it implemented the Settlement Agreement. This adjustment to NSTAR Electric’s 
distribution rates would eliminate the fully reconciling nature of the Basic Service bad debt adder.  

NSTAR Electric has not implemented the directives of the June 28, 2007 DPU order. Implementation of this order would require NSTAR 
Electric to write-off a previously recorded regulatory asset related to its Basic Service bad debt costs. NSTAR Electric filed a Motion for 
Reconsideration of the DPU’s order on July 18, 2007. On December 14, 2007, the Motion for Reconsideration was granted and the DPU 
reopened the case to hear additional evidence. NSTAR Electric filed additional testimony in April 2008, an evidentiary hearing was held, and 
briefs were filed in June and early July 2008. NSTAR Electric believes its position is appropriate and that it is probable that it will ultimately 
prevail. However, in the event the DPU does not rule in its favor, NSTAR Electric intends to pursue all legal options. As of December 31, 2009, 
the potential impact to earnings of eliminating the bad debt adder would be approximately $20.8 million, pre-tax. NSTAR cannot predict the 
timing of this proceeding.  
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Legal Matters  

In the normal course of its business, NSTAR and its subsidiaries are involved in certain legal matters, including civil litigation. Management is 
unable to fully determine a range of reasonably possible court-ordered damages, settlement amounts, and related litigation costs (legal liabilities) 
that would be in excess of amounts accrued and amounts covered by insurance. Based on the information currently available, NSTAR does not 
believe that it is probable that any such legal liabilities will have a material impact on its consolidated financial position. However, it is 
reasonably possible that additional legal liabilities that may result from changes in circumstances could have a material impact on its results of 
operations, cash flows or financial condition.  
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

To Shareholders and Trustees of NSTAR:  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the index appearing under Item 15(a)(1) present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of NSTAR and its subsidiaries (the Company) at December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the results of their operations and their 
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2009 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedules listed in the index appearing under Item 15(a)(2) present 
fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements. Also 
in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009, 
based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for these financial statements and financial statement schedules, for 
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial 
reporting, included in Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility 
is to express opinions on these financial statements, on the financial statement schedules, and on the Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting based on our integrated audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all 
material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall 
financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control 
over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of 
internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the 
circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.  

As discussed in Note G to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for uncertain tax 
positions in 2007.  

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A 
company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in 
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and 
directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.  

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that 
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

/s/ PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP  

Boston, Massachusetts  
February 5, 2010  
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No event that would be described in response to this item 9 has occurred with respect to NSTAR or its subsidiaries.  

   

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures  

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we 
conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined under Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act). Based on this evaluation, our principal executive officer and our principal 
financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this annual report.  

NSTAR is continuously seeking to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of its operations and of its internal controls. This results in 
modifications to its processes throughout the Company. However, there has been no change in its internal control over financial reporting that 
occurred during the Company’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting.  

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in the 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) . A system of internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles.  

Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including the principal executive officer and the principal financial officer, 
NSTAR management has evaluated the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009 based on the 
criteria established in a report entitled “Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission” and the Interpretive Guidance issued by the SEC in Release 34-55929. Based on this evaluation, NSTAR management 
has evaluated and concluded that NSTAR’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2009.  

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the consolidated financial statements included in 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, has also audited the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009, as 
stated in their report which appears on page 98.  

   

None  
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Part III  

The information required by Part III (Items 10(a), 11, 12, 13, and 14) will be included in NSTAR’s 2010 Proxy Statement (as specified below) to 
be filed in connection with the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 6, 2010 and is incorporated herein by reference. NSTAR’s 
Proxy Statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on or about March 12, 2010.  

   

The information with respect to Trustees of NSTAR, information with respect to compliance with the reporting obligations under Section 16(a) 
of the Exchange Act, information concerning NSTAR’s code of ethics applicable to senior management, information on NSTAR’s compliance 
with corporate governance regulations, and information on NSTAR’s Board of Trustees’ Audit Committee, is incorporated herein by reference 
from disclosures contained in NSTAR’s Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2010 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 6, 2010 
under the captions “Information about the NSTAR Board, Nominees and Incumbent Trustees,” “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting 
Compliance,” and “Governance of the Company.” Information regarding NSTAR’s executive officers found in the section captioned “ Executive 
Officers of the Registrant” in Item 4A of Part 1 of this Report is also incorporated herein by reference into this Item 10.  

   

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference from disclosures contained in NSTAR’s Definitive Proxy Statement 
for the 2010 Annual Meeting of Shareholders under the caption “Executive Compensation,” including NSTAR’s “ Compensation Discussion and 
Analysis” and “Executive Personnel Committee Report.”  

   

Information regarding securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans located in Item 5, Section (d) of Part II hereof is also 
incorporated by reference into this Item 12. Other information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference from disclosures 
contained in NSTAR’s Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2010 Annual Meeting of Shareholders under the captions “2009 Trustee 
Compensation,” “Beneficial Ownership Table,” and “Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control.”  

   

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference from disclosures contained in NSTAR’s Definitive Proxy Statement 
for the 2010 Annual Meeting of Shareholders under the captions “Governance of the Company - Board Independence” and “NSTAR Policy on 
Related Persons Transactions.”  

   

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference from disclosures contained in NSTAR’s Definitive Proxy Statement 
for the 2010 Annual Meeting of Shareholders under the captions “Audit and Related Fees.”  
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Part IV  
   

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Form 10-K:  
   

   

Incorporated herein by reference unless designated otherwise:  

NSTAR and its subsidiaries  
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Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 

1. Financial Statements: 

     Page 

Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007     53 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007     54 
Consolidated Statements of Retained Earnings for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007     54 
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2009 and 2008     55-56 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007     57-58 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements     59 
Selected Quarterly Consolidated Financial Data (Unaudited)     20-21 
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm     98 

2.      Financial Statement Schedules:     

Schedule I - Condensed Holding Company Financial Statements For the years ended December  31, 2009, 2008, and 2007     106 
Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007     110 

3.      Exhibits:     101 
Refer to the exhibits listing beginning below.     

Exhibit 3    

Articles of Incorporation and By-
Laws 

3.1  
   

Declaration of Trust of NSTAR (dated as of April 20, 1999, as amended April 28, 2005 and April 30, 2009) (NSTAR Form 10-
Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2009, File No. 001-14768) 

3.2  
   

Bylaws of NSTAR, dated as of April 20, 1999, as amended as of September 24, 2009 (NSTAR Form 8-K (Exhibit 3.2) dated 
September 24, 2009, File No. 001-14768) 

3.3  
   

NSTAR Electric Company, f.k.a. Boston Edison Company, Restated Articles of Organization (Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
June 30, 1994, File No. 001-02301) 

3.4  

   

NSTAR Electric Company, f.k.a. Boston Edison Company, Bylaws dated April 19, 1977, as amended January 22, 1987, 
January 28, 1988, May 24, 1988, November 22, 1989, July 22, 1999, September 20, 1999, and January 2, 2007 (Form 10-K for 
the year ended December 31, 2007, File No. 001-02301) 

Exhibit 4    Instruments Defining the Rights of Security Holders, Including Indentures 

4.1  
   

Indenture dated as of January 12, 2000 between NSTAR and Bank One Trust Company N.A. (Exhibit 4.1 to NSTAR 
Registration Statement on Form S-3, File No. 333-94735) 
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4.2  

   

Votes of the Board of Trustees of NSTAR, dated January 27, 2000, supplementing the Indenture dated as of January 12, 2000 
between NSTAR and Bank One Trust Company N. A. (NSTAR Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002, File No. 
001-14768) 

4.3  

   

Votes of the Board of Trustees of NSTAR, dated September 28, 2000 supplementing the Indenture dated as of January 12, 
2000 between NSTAR and Bank One Trust Company N. A. (NSTAR Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002, File 
No. 001-14768) 

4.4  
   

Indenture between Boston Edison Company and the Bank of New York (as successor to Bank of Montreal Trust Company) 
(Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1988, File No. 001-02301) 

4.5  
   

Votes of the Pricing Committee of the Board of Directors of Boston Edison Company taken May 10, 1995 re 7.80% 
debentures due May 15, 2010 (Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1995, File No. 001-02301) 

4.6  

   

Votes of the Board of Directors of Boston Edison Company taken October 8, 2002 re $500 million aggregate principal 
amount of unsecured debentures ($400 million, 4.875% due in 2012 and $100 million, Floating rate due in 2005) (Form 8-K 
dated October 11, 2002, File No. 001-02301) 

4.7  
   

A Form of 4.875% Debenture Due April 15, 2014 (Boston Edison Company Form 8-K (Exh. 4.3) dated April 15, 2004, File 
No. 001-02301) 

4.8  
   

A Form of 5.75% Debenture Due March 15, 2036 (Boston Edison Company Form 8-K (Exh. 99.2) dated March 17, 2006, 
File No. 001-02301) 

4.9  
   

A Form of 5.625% Debenture Due November 15, 2017 (NSTAR Electric Company Form 8-K (Exh. 99.2) dated November 
20, 2007 and February 13, 2009, File No. 001-02301) 

4.10  
   

A Form of 4.50% Debenture Due November 15, 2019 (NSTAR Form 8-K (Exhibit 99.2) dated November 16, 2009, File No. 
001-14768) 

   

Management agrees to furnish to the Securities and Exchange Commission, upon request, a copy of any other agreements or 
instruments of NSTAR and its subsidiaries defining the rights of holders of any non-registered debt whose authorization does 
not exceed 10% of total assets. 

Exhibit 10    

Material 
Contracts 

     Management, Executive Officers and Trustees Agreements 

10.1  
   

NSTAR Excess Benefit Plan, effective August 25, 1999 (NSTAR Form 10-K/A for the year ended December 31, 1999, File 
No. 001-14768) 

10.1.1  
   

NSTAR Excess Benefit Plan, incorporating the NSTAR 409A Excess Benefit Plan, as amended and restated effective January 
1, 2008, dated December 24, 2008 (NSTAR Form 10-K for the year-ended December 31, 2008, File No. 001-14768) 

10.2  
   

NSTAR Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, effective August 25, 1999 (NSTAR Form 10-K/A for the year ended 
December 31, 1999, File No. 001-14768) 

10.2.1  

   

NSTAR Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, incorporating the NSTAR 409A Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, 
as amended and restated effective January 1, 2008, dated December 24, 2008 (NSTAR Form 10-K for the year-ended 
December 31, 2008, File No. 001-14768) 

10.3  

   

Special Supplemental Executive Retirement Agreement between Boston Edison Company and Thomas J. May dated March 
13, 1999, regarding Key Executive Benefit Plan and Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (NSTAR Form 10-K/A for the 
year ended December 31, 1999, File No. 001-14768) 
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10.4  
   

Executive Retirement Plan Agreement between NSTAR and Werner J. Schweiger dated as of February 25, 2002, regarding 
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (NSTAR Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004, File No. 001-14768) 

10.4.1  

   

Executive Retirement Plan Agreement, as amended and restated effective January 1, 2008, between NSTAR and Werner J. 
Schweiger, in connection with Section 409A of the IRS Code of 1986, as amended, dated December 24, 2008 (NSTAR Form 10-
K for the year-ended December 31, 2008, File No. 001-14768) 

10.5  
   

Amended and Restated Change in Control Agreement by and between NSTAR and Thomas J. May dated November 15, 2007 
(NSTAR Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, File No. 001-14768) 

10.6  
   

NSTAR Deferred Compensation Plan, (Restated Effective August 25, 1999) (NSTAR Form 10-K/A for the year ended December 
31, 1999, File No. 001-14768) 

10.6.1  

   

NSTAR Deferred Compensation Plan, incorporating the NSTAR 409A Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended and restated 
effective January 1, 2008, dated December 24, 2008 (NSTAR Form 10-K for the year-ended December 31, 2008, File No. 001-
14768) 

10.7  
   

NSTAR 1997 Share Incentive Plan, as amended June 30, 1999 and assumed by NSTAR effective August 28, 2000 (NSTAR Form 
10-K/A for the year ended December 31, 1999, File No. 001-14768) 

10.7.1  
   

NSTAR 1997 Share Incentive Plan, as amended January 24, 2002 (NSTAR Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002, 
File No. 001-14768) 

10.8     NSTAR 2007 Long Term Incentive Plan, effective May 3, 2007 (NSTAR Form 8-K dated May 3, 2007, File No. 001-14768) 

10.8.1  

   

Deferred Common Share/Dividend Equivalent Award, Stock Option Grant, Option Certificate and Performance Share 
Award/Dividend Equivalent Award Agreement Under the NSTAR 2007 Long Term Incentive Plan, by and between NSTAR and 
Thomas J. May, dated January 24, 2008 (NSTAR Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, File No. 001-14768) 

10.8.2  

   

Deferred Common Share/Dividend Equivalent Award, Stock Option Grant, Option Certificate and Performance Share 
Award/Dividend Equivalent Award Agreement Under the NSTAR 2007 Long Term Incentive Plan, by and between NSTAR and 
James J. Judge, dated January 24, 2008 (NSTAR Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, File No. 001-14768) 

10.8.3  

   

Deferred Common Share/Dividend Equivalent Award, Stock Option Grant, Option Certificate and Performance Share 
Award/Dividend Equivalent Award Agreement Under the NSTAR 2007 Long Term Incentive Plan, by and between NSTAR and 
Douglas S. Horan, dated January 24, 2008 (NSTAR Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, File No. 001-14768) 

10.8.4  

   

Deferred Common Share/Dividend Equivalent Award, Stock Option Grant, Option Certificate and Performance Share 
Award/Dividend Equivalent Award Agreement Under the NSTAR 2007 Long Term Incentive Plan, by and between NSTAR and 
Joseph R. Nolan, Jr., dated January 24, 2008 (NSTAR Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, File No. 001-14768) 

10.8.5  

   

Deferred Common Share/Dividend Equivalent Award, Stock Option Grant, Option Certificate and Performance Share 
Award/Dividend Equivalent Award Agreement Under the NSTAR 2007 Long Term Incentive Plan, by and between NSTAR and 
Werner J. Schweiger, dated January 24, 2008 (NSTAR Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, File No. 001-14768) 

10.8.6  

   

Deferred Common Share/Dividend Equivalent Award, Stock Option Grant, Option Certificate and Performance Share 
Award/Dividend Equivalent Award Agreement Under the NSTAR 2007 Long Term Incentive Plan by and between NSTAR and 
NSTAR’s other Senior Vice Presidents and Vice Presidents, dated January 24, 2008 (in form) (NSTAR Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2007, File No. 001-14768) 
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10.9  
   

Amended and Restated Change in Control Agreement by and between James J. Judge and NSTAR, dated November 15, 2007 
(NSTAR Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, File No. 001-14768) 

10.10  
   

NSTAR Trustees’  Deferred Plan (Restated Effective August 25, 1999), dated October 20, 2000 (NSTAR Form 10-Q for the 
quarter ended September 30, 2000, File No. 001-14768) 

10.10.1  
   

NSTAR Trustees’  Deferred Plan, incorporating the 409A Trustees’  Deferred Plan, effective January 1, 2008, dated December 24, 
2008 (NSTAR Form 10-K for the year-ended December 31, 2008, File No. 001-14768) 

10.11  
   

Master Trust Agreement between NSTAR and State Street Bank and Trust Company (Rabbi Trust), effective August 25, 1999 
(NSTAR Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2000, File No. 001-14768) 

10.12  
   

Amended and Restated Change in Control Agreement by and between Douglas S. Horan and NSTAR, dated November 15, 2007 
(NSTAR Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, File No. 001-14768) 

10.13  
   

Amended and Restated Change in Control Agreement by and between Joseph R. Nolan, Jr. and NSTAR, dated November 15, 
2007 (NSTAR Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, File No. 001-14768) 

10.14  
   

Amended and Restated Change in Control Agreement by and between Werner J. Schweiger and NSTAR, dated November 15, 
2007 (NSTAR Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, File No. 001-14768) 

10.15  
   

Amended and Restated Change in Control Agreement by and between NSTAR’s other Senior Vice Presidents and NSTAR (in 
form), dated November 15, 2007 (NSTAR Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, File No. 001-14768) 

10.16  
   

Amended and Restated Change in Control Agreement between NSTAR’s Vice Presidents and NSTAR (in form), dated November 
15, 2007 (NSTAR Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, File No. 001-14768) 

10.17     Currently effective Change in Control Agreement between NSTAR’s Vice Presidents and NSTAR (in form) (filed herewith) 

10.18  
   

Amended and Restated NSTAR Annual Incentive Plan as of January 1, 2003 (NSTAR Form 10-K for the year ended December 
31, 2004, File No. 001-14768) 

   Power Purchase Agreements 

10.19  
   

Amended and Restated Power Purchase Agreement (NEA A PPA), dated August 19, 2004, by and between NSTAR Electric and 
Northeast Energy Associates L.P. (NSTAR Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, File No. 001-14768) 

10.20  
   

Amended and Restated Power Purchase Agreement (NEA B PPA), dated August 19, 2004, by and between NSTAR Electric and 
Northeast Energy Associates L.P. (NSTAR Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, File No. 001-14768) 

10.21  
   

Amended and Restated Power Purchase Agreement (CECO 1 PPA), dated August 19, 2004, by and between NSTAR Electric and 
Northeast Energy Associates L.P. (NSTAR Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, File No. 001-14768) 

10.22  
   

Amended and Restated Power Purchase Agreement (CECO 2 PPA), dated August 19, 2004, by and between NSTAR Electric and 
Northeast Energy Associates L.P. (NSTAR Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, File No. 001-14768) 

10.23  
   

The Bellingham Execution Agreement, dated August 19, 2004 between NSTAR Electric and Northeast Energy Associates L.P. 
(NSTAR Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, File No. 001-14768) 
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10.24  
   

Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated June 23, 2004, between NSTAR Electric and Transcanada Energy Ltd. (Ocean State 
Power Contract) (NSTAR Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, File No. 001-14768) 

       Transmission Agreements 

10.25  
   

Second Restated NEPOOL Agreement among NSTAR Electric and various other electric utilities operating in New England, 
dated August 16, 2004 (NSTAR Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, File No. 001-14768) 

10.26  

   

Transmission Operating Agreement among NSTAR Electric and various other electric transmission providers in New 
England and ISO New England Inc., dated February 1, 2005 (NSTAR Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, File 
No. 001-14768) 

10.27  

   

Market Participants Service Agreement among NSTAR Electric, various other electric utilities operating in New England, 
NEPOOL and ISO New England Inc., dated February 1, 2005 (NSTAR Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, 
File No. 001-14768) 

10.28  
   

Rate Design and Funds Disbursement Agreement among NSTAR Electric and various other electric transmission providers in 
New England, dated February 1, 2005 (NSTAR Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, File No. 001-14768) 

10.29  
   

Participants Agreement among NSTAR Electric, various other electric utilities operating in New England, NEPOOL and ISO 
New England Inc., dated February 1, 2005 (NSTAR Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006, File No. 001-14768) 

Exhibit 21    

Subsidiaries of the 
Registrant 

21.1     Incorporated herein by reference. (NSTAR Form 10-K for the year-ended December 31, 2008, File No. 001-14768) 

Exhibit 23    Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

23.1     (filed herewith) 

Exhibit 31    Rule 13a – 15/15d-15(e) Certifications 

31.1  
   

Certification Statement of Chief Executive Officer of NSTAR pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
(filed herewith) 

31.2  
   

Certification Statement of Chief Financial Officer of NSTAR pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
(filed herewith) 

Exhibit 32    

Section 1350 
Certifications 

32.1  
   

Certification Statement of Chief Executive Officer of NSTAR pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
(filed herewith) 

32.2  
   

Certification Statement of Chief Financial Officer of NSTAR pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
(filed herewith) 

Exhibit 99    Additional Exhibits 

99.1  

   

Annual Reports on Form 11-K for certain employee savings plans for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, 2006, 2005, 
and 2004, as dated June 25, 2009, June 25, 2008, June 25, 2007, June 27, 2006, and June 28, 2005, ,respectively, (File No. 
001-14768) 

99.2  
   

MDTE Order approving Rate Settlement Agreement dated December 31, 2005 (NSTAR Form 8-K for the event reported 
December 30, 2005, dated January 4, 2006, File No. 001-14768) 

99.3  
   

Amended NSTAR Board of Trustees Guidelines on Significant Corporate Governance Issues as of September 24, 2009 
(NSTAR Form 8-K for the event reported and dated September 24, 2009, File No. 001-14768) 
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SCHEDULE I 

CONDENSED HOLDING COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

NSTAR (Holding Company)  
Condensed Balance Sheets  

   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the condensed financial statements.  
   

106  

     December 31,   
     2009     2008   
     (in thousands)   

Assets      

Current assets:       

Cash and cash equivalents     $ 131,816      $ 399    
Notes receivable - subsidiary companies       132,100        93,350    
Net investment in discontinued operations       79,102        82,652    
Other       4,869        6,214    

       
  

      
  

Total current assets       347,887        182,615    
       

  
      

  

Other assets:       

Receivable - subsidiary companies       84,245        86,579    
Investment in subsidiaries       2,330,520        2,232,717    
Other investments       17,993        18,090    
Accumulated deferred income taxes       4,868        4,906    
Other deferred debits       2,839        793    

       
  

      
  

Total other assets       2,440,465        2,343,085    
       

  
      

  

Total assets     $ 2,788,352      $ 2,525,700    
       

  

      

  

Liabilities and Capitalization      

Current liabilities:       

Long-term debt     $ 500,000      $ —      
Notes payable       —          175,000    
Accrued interest       17,445        15,563    
Dividends payable       42,723        40,053    
Other       1,361        181    

       
  

      
  

Total current liabilities       561,529        230,797    
       

  
      

  

Other liabilities:       

Long-term debt       347,094        499,754    
Other deferred credits       7,123        6,994    

       
  

      
  

Total other liabilities       354,217        506,748    
       

  
      

  

Common equity:       

Common shares       106,808        106,808    
Premium on common shares       813,490        818,601    
Retained earnings       966,636        876,271    
Accumulated other comprehensive loss       (14,328 )      (13,525 )  

       
  

      
  

Total common equity       1,872,606        1,788,155    
       

  
      

  

Total liabilities and capitalization     $ 2,788,352      $ 2,525,700    
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NSTAR (Holding Company)  
Condensed Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income  

   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the condensed financial statements.  
   

107  

     Years ended December 31,   
     2009     2008     2007   
     (in thousands)   

Operating expenses         

Administrative, general and other     $ 4,958      $ 4,354      $ 4,242    
       

  
      

  
      

  

Operating loss       (4,958 )      (4,354 )      (4,242 )  
       

  
      

  
      

  

Other income       456        2,247        691    
Earnings from investments in subsidiaries       268,776        252,551        242,292    
Interest expense       (43,386 )      (44,214 )      (46,561 )  

       
  

      
  

      
  

Income before income taxes       220,888        206,230        192,180    
Income tax benefits       23,127        19,766        20,877    

       
  

      
  

      
  

Net income from continuing operations       244,015        225,996        213,057    
Earnings from discontinued operations, net of transaction costs       9,233        11,551        8,458    

       
  

      
  

      
  

Net income attributable to common shareholders       253,248        237,547        221,515    

Other comprehensive income from continuing operations, net:         

Pension and postretirement costs       (1,032 )      (1,534 )      (504 )  
Deferred income taxes benefit       383        634        151    

       
  

      
  

      
  

Comprehensive income from continuing operations       252,599        236,647        221,162    

Other comprehensive income from discontinued operations, net:         

Postretirement costs       (251 )      (51 )      (363 )  
Deferred income taxes benefit       97        19        141    

       
  

      
  

      
  

Comprehensive income     $ 252,445      $ 236,615      $ 220,940    
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NSTAR (Holding Company)  
Condensed Statements of Cash Flows  

   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the condensed financial statements.  
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     Years ended December 31,   
     2009     2008     2007   
     (in thousands)   

Cash flows from operating activities:         

Cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations     $ 162,735      $ 68,917      $ 206,218    
Cash provided by (used in) operating activities of discontinued operations       3,550        1,949        (8,044 )  

       
  

      
  

      
  

Net cash provided by operating activities       166,285        70,866        198,174    
       

  
      

  
      

  

Cash flows from investing activities:         

Net change in notes receivable       (38,750 )      (92,050 )      600    
Investments       60        5,285        (469 )  

       
  

      
  

      
  

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities       (38,690 )      (86,765 )      131    
       

  
      

  
      

  

Cash flows from financing activities:         

Long-term debt issuance, net of discount       347,122        —          —      
Net change in notes payable       (175,000 )      171,000        (49,500 )  
Dividends paid       (160,213 )      (149,532 )      (138,851 )  
Cash received for exercise of equity options       5,065        4,846        10,948    
Cash used to settle equity compensation       (13,616 )      (11,585 )      (23,247 )  
Windfall tax effect of settlement of equity compensation       464        744        2,538    

       
  

      
  

      
  

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities       3,822        15,473        (198,112 )  
       

  
      

  
      

  

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents       131,417        (426 )      193    
       

  
      

  
      

  

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year       399        825        632    
       

  
      

  
      

  

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year     $ 131,816      $ 399      $ 825    
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NSTAR (Holding Company)  
Notes to Condensed Financial Statements  

1. Basis of Presentation  

NSTAR (Holding Company) on a stand alone basis has accounted for its wholly-owned subsidiaries using the equity method basis of accounting. 
These financial statements are presented on a condensed basis. Additional disclosures relating to the Holding Company financial statements are 
included under the accompanying NSTAR Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, and are incorporated herein by reference.  

2. Use of Estimates  

The preparation of condensed financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of 
income and expenses during the period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.  

3. Notes Payable  

NSTAR (Holding Company) currently has a $175 million revolving credit agreement that expires December 31, 2012. At December 31, 2009 
and 2008, there were no amounts outstanding under the revolving credit agreement. This credit facility serves as a back up to NSTAR’s $175 
million commercial paper program that, at December 31, 2009 and 2008, had zero and $175 million outstanding, respectively. Under the terms 
of the credit agreement, NSTAR is required to maintain a maximum total consolidated debt to total capitalization ratio and was in compliance 
with this ratio at December 31, 2009 and 2008. Commitment fees must be paid on the total agreement amount.  

4. Long-Term Debt  

NSTAR (Holding Company) had $500 million of 8% Notes outstanding as of December 31, 2009 and 2008. These Notes will mature and are 
due in February 2010. On November 17, 2009, NSTAR sold, at a discount, $350 million of fixed rate (4.5%) Debentures due November 15, 
2019. NSTAR used the proceeds from the issuance of these securities for the repayment of outstanding short-term debt balances and general 
working capital purposes.  

Refer to Note K of the NSTAR Consolidated Financial Statements for a description and details of the Holding Company long-term debt.  

5. Equity Transactions  

NSTAR (Holding Company) received $170.6 million, $85.6 million, and $208.3 million, of cash dividends from subsidiaries during 2009, 2008, 
and 2007, respectively. NSTAR also received returned capital of $6.7 million, $5.7 million, and $3.9 million, from subsidiaries during 2009, 
2008, and 2007, respectively.  

6. Commitments, Contingencies and Guarantees  

Refer to Note O of the NSTAR Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of any material commitments, contingencies or guarantees of 
the Holding Company.  

7. Discontinued Operations  

On December 21, 2009, NSTAR, through its wholly-owned subsidiary Advanced Energy Systems, Inc. (“AES”), entered into an agreement to 
sell all of the outstanding shares of AES’ wholly owned subsidiary, Medical Area Total Energy Plant, Inc. (“MATEP”) for approximately $320 
million, pending necessary regulatory approvals. In connection with the transaction, NSTAR will repay MATEP’s outstanding debt. The 
purchase price is subject to certain closing adjustments related to changes in working capital, interest, and other adjustments prior to the closing, 
which is anticipated towards the end of the first quarter or early part of the second quarter of 2010.  
   

109  
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SCHEDULE II 

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS  

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007  

(in thousands)  
   

   
110  

          Additions         

Balance  
At End  
of Year Description    

Balance at 
 

Beginning 
 

of Year    

Provisions 
Charged to 

 
Operations    Recoveries    

Deductions 

 
Accounts  
Written  

Off    

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts                 

Year Ended December 31, 2009     $ 32,859    $ 40,620    $ 5,222    $ 46,156    $ 32,545 
Year Ended December 31, 2008     $ 29,426    $ 37,074    $ 4,442    $ 38,083    $ 32,859 
Year Ended December 31, 2007     $ 27,240    $ 36,490    $ 4,780    $ 39,084    $ 29,426 
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SIGNATURES  

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  
   

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf 
of the registrant and in the capacities indicated as of the 5th day of February 2010.  
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FORM 10-K   NSTAR   DECEMBER 31, 2009 

      NSTAR  
      (Registrant) 

Date: February 5, 2010     By:   /s/    R. J. W EAFER , J R .          
      Robert J. Weafer, Jr. 

      
Vice President, Controller and  

Chief Accounting Officer  

Signature    Title 

/s/    T HOMAS J. M AY          
Thomas J. May     

Chairman, President, Chief Executive  
Officer and Trustee 

/s/    J AMES J. J UDGE          
James J. Judge     

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 

/s/    G. L. C OUNTRYMAN          
Gary L. Countryman     

Trustee 

/s/    T HOMAS G. D IGNAN , J R .          
Thomas G. Dignan, Jr.     

Trustee 

/s/    J AMES S. D ISTASIO          
James S. DiStasio     

Trustee 

/s/    C HARLES K. G IFFORD          
Charles K. Gifford     

Trustee 

/s/    M ATINA S. H ORNER          
Matina S. Horner     

Trustee 

/s/    P AUL A. L A C AMERA          
Paul A. La Camera     

Trustee 

/s/    S HERRY H. P ENNEY          
Sherry H. Penney     

Trustee 

/s/    W ILLIAM C. V AN F AASEN          
William C. Van Faasen     

Trustee 

/s/    G. L. W ILSON          
Gerald L. Wilson     

Trustee 
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Exhibit 10.17 

NSTAR  

Change in Control Agreement  

AGREEMENT, made as of the              day of                      , 20      , by and between              (“Executive”) and NSTAR (the “Company”).  

WITNESSETH  

WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees of the Company (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best interests of the Company and its 
shareholders for the Company to agree to provide benefits under the circumstances described below to the Executive and other executives who 
are responsible for the policy-making functions of the Company and/or one or more of its subsidiaries and the overall viability of the business of 
the Company and its subsidiaries; and  

WHEREAS, the Board recognizes that the possibility of a Change in Control of the Company is unsettling to such executives and desires 
to make arrangements at this time to help assure their continuing dedication to their duties to the Company and its shareholders, notwithstanding 
any attempts by outside parties to gain control of the Company; and  

WHEREAS, the Board believes it important, should the Company receive proposals from outside parties, to enable such executives, 
without being distracted by the uncertainties of their own employment situation, to perform their regular duties, and where appropriate to assess 
such proposals and advise the Board as to the best interests of the Company and its shareholders and to take such other action regarding such 
proposals as the Board determines to be appropriate; and  

WHEREAS, the Board also desires to demonstrate to the executives that the Company is concerned with their welfare and intends to 
provide that loyal executives are treated fairly;  

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to assure that executives of the Company receive fair and competitive severance benefits and receive fair 
severance should any of their employment with the Company or its subsidiaries terminate in specified circumstances following a Change in 
Control of the Company and to assure executives of other benefits upon a Change in Control;  
   

-1-  

WPD-6 
Screening Data Part 1 of 2 
Page 9210 of 9808



NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants contained herein, the parties hereto agree as follows:  

1. In the event that any individual, corporation, partnership, company, or other entity (“Person”), which term shall include a 
“group” (within the meaning of section 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Act”)), begins a tender or exchange offer, circulates a 
proxy to the Company’s shareholders, or takes other steps to effect a “Change in Control” (as defined in Exhibit A attached hereto and made a 
part hereof), the Executive agrees not to voluntarily leave the employ of the Company and will render the services contemplated in the recitals to 
this Agreement until such Person has terminated the efforts to effect a Change in Control or until a Change in Control has occurred.  

2. If, within 24 months following a Change in Control (the “Post Change in Control Period”) the Executive separates from service with the 
Company or one of the Company’s subsidiaries because the Company terminates the Executive’s employment for any reason other than for 
“Cause” or “Disability” (as defined in paragraph 4 below), or as a result of the Executive’s death, or because the Executive terminates such 
employment for Good Reason (as defined in paragraph 5 below):  
   

   
-2-  

  

(a) the Company will pay to the Executive a lump sum cash payment equal to the sum of (i) the Executive’s annual base salary (“Annual 
Base Salary”) through the date of such separation from service to the extent not theretofore paid, (ii) a prorated portion of the target 
award payable under the Company’s Executive Annual Incentive Compensation Plan, or any comparable or successor plan (the 
“Annual Plan”) determined by calculating the product of (A) the target bonus award payable for the fiscal year in which the date of 
termination occurs under the Annual Plan, times (B) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days in the current fiscal 
year through the date of termination of employment, and the denominator of which is 365, (iii) a prorated portion of the target award 
payable under any long-term performance or incentive plan (the “Long-Term Plan”) for the performance period ending on the last 
day of the fiscal year during which the date of separation from service occurs determined by calculating the product of (A) the target 
award payable for such performance period and (B) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days in the current 
performance period through the date of termination, and the denominator of which is the actual number of days in the performance 
period (provided that if any awards are expressed in shares of common stock rather than cash, the Company will pay the cash 
equivalent of such awards based on the closing price per share as reported in the Wall Street Journal (Eastern Edition) New York 
Stock Exchange Composite Transactions determined on the date prior to the date of the Change in Control or the average per share 
price for the 10 trading days preceding the date of the Change in Control (whichever is higher)) and (iv) any compensation for the 
fiscal year in which the date of separation from service occurs previously deferred by the Executive (together with any accrued 
interest or earnings thereon) and any accrued vacation pay, in each case to the extent not  
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-3-  

  

theretofore paid. The portion of such payment which does not exceed the lesser of two times the Executive’s annualized 
compensation or two times the Code section 401(a)(17) limit and is therefore exempt from Code section 409A (the “409A 
Threshold”) will be paid within 30 days of the Executive’s separation from service. Any amount in excess of the 409A Threshold 
(taking into account any other separation pay paid to the Executive) will be paid on the first day of the seventh month after the 
Executive’s separation from service; and  

  

(b) any stock, stock option or cash awards granted to the Executive by the Company that would have become vested upon continued 
employment by the Executive shall immediately vest in full notwithstanding any provision to the contrary of such grant and shall 
remain exercisable until the earlier of the fifth anniversary of such termination and the latest date on which such grant could have 
been exercised; and 

  

(c) the Company will pay to the Executive a lump sum cash payment equal to two times: (A) the amount of the Executive’s Annual Base 
Salary at the rate in effect immediately prior to the date of separation from service or at the rate in effect immediately prior to the 
Change in Control, whichever is higher, and (B) the amount of the actual bonus paid to the Executive under the Annual Plan for the 
most recently completed fiscal year ended before the Change in Control, or the target bonus payable under the Annual Plan for the 
fiscal year during which the separation from service occurs, whichever is higher. The portion of such payment which does not exceed 
the 409A Threshold (taking into account any other separation pay paid to the Executive) will be paid to the Executive within 30 days 
of the Executive’s separation from service and the remainder (if any) will be paid on the first day of the seventh month after such 
separation from service; and 

  

(d) the Company will pay to the Executive on the first day of the seventh month after such separation from service a lump-sum cash 
payment equal to the full balance standing to the Executive’s credit with the Company under any and all deferred compensation plans 
or arrangements and the lump-sum actuarial equivalent of the Executive’s accrued benefit under any supplemental retirement plan or 
arrangement (a “SERP”) in which the Executive participates (the sum of the amounts described in subsections (a) and (d) shall be 
hereinafter referred to as the “Accrued Obligations”), which payments shall be in lieu of any amounts otherwise payable to the 
Executive under any such plans; and 

  
(e) the Company will pay to the Executive on the first day of the seventh month after such separation from service, an amount equal to 

the excess of (i) the lump sum actuarial equivalent of the accrued benefit under (a)  
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the Company’s qualified defined benefit pension plan (the “Pension Plan”) (utilizing actuarial assumptions no less favorable to the 
Executive than those in effect under the Pension Plan immediately prior to the date of the Change in Control), and (b) any SERP 
which the Executive would receive if the Executive’s employment continued for two years after the date of separation from service 
assuming for these purposes that all accrued benefits are fully vested, and further assuming that the Executive’s annual compensation 
for purposes of determining benefits under the Pension Plan and SERP (“Covered Compensation”) in each of the two years is at least 
equal to the higher of the Executive’s annual rate of Covered Compensation for the most recently completed fiscal year ending prior 
to the date of the Change in Control or the year in which the Change in Control occurs, over (ii) the lump sum actuarial equivalent of 
the Executive’s actual accrued benefit (paid or payable), if any, under the Pension Plan and the SERP (including SERP payments 
made under subparagraph (d) above) as of the date of separation from service; and  

  

(f) the Executive, together with the Executive’s dependents, will continue following such separation from service to participate fully at 
the Company’s expense in all welfare benefit plans, programs, practices and policies, including without limitation, life, medical, 
disability, dental, accidental death and travel insurance plans, maintained or sponsored by the Company immediately prior to the 
Change in Control, or receive substantially the equivalent coverage from the Company, until the longer of the second anniversary of 
such separation from service or any longer period as may be provided by the terms of the appropriate plan, program, practice or 
policy, provided, however, that if the Executive becomes reemployed with another employer and is eligible to receive medical or 
other welfare benefits under another employer-provided plan, the medical and other welfare benefits described herein shall be 
secondary to those provided under such other plan during such applicable period of eligibility. For purposes of determining eligibility 
(but not the time of commencement of benefits) of the Executive for any retiree benefits pursuant to such plans, practices, programs 
and policies, the Executive shall be considered to have remained employed until two years after the date of separation from service 
and to have retired on the last day of such period; and 

  
(g) to the extent not theretofore paid or provided for, the Company shall, within 30 days of such termination of employment, pay or 

provide to the Executive any other amounts or benefits required to be paid or provided or which the Executive is eligible to receive 
under any plan, program, policy, practice, contract or agreement of the Company (“Other Benefits” ); and 
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Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, to the extent that any payment or benefit provided for herein is required to be paid or 
vested at any earlier date under the terms of any plan, agreement or arrangement, such plan, agreement or arrangement shall control.  

The Executive acknowledges that the Company is subject to an agreement dated February 12, 2004 pursuant to which the amount paid under 
severance agreements entered into by the Company and its executives following that date will be limited to 2.99 times the executive’s combined 
Base Salary and bonus paid under the Company’s Annual Plan referenced above. Accordingly, notwithstanding any of the other terms of this 
Agreement, any amounts that might be paid hereunder will be limited to 2.99 times the Executive’s combined Base Salary and bonus paid under 
the Company’s Annual Plan, to be measured consistent with the provisions of this paragraph.  

3. Death, Disability, Cause, Other Than For Good Reason.  
   

   

   
-5-  

  

(h) the Company will promptly reimburse the Executive for any and all legal fees and expenses (including, without limitation, 
stenographer fees, printing costs, etc.) incurred by the Executive as a result of such termination of employment, including without 
limitation all fees and expenses incurred to enforce the provisions of this Agreement or contesting or disputing that the termination of 
the Executive’s employment is for Cause or other than for Good Reason (regardless of the outcome thereof); provided, however, that 
(i) in no event shall any amount of reimbursement be paid to the Executive for expenses incurred after the fifth year after the year in 
which such termination from employment occurs; (ii) the reimbursement shall be paid by the fifteenth day of the third month 
following the year in which such legal fee or expense was incurred; and (iii) this right to reimbursement is not subject to liquidation 
or exchange for another benefit. 

  

(a) Death . If the Executive separates from service during the Post Change in Control Period by reason of the Executive’s death, this 
Agreement shall terminate without further obligations to the Executive’s legal representatives under this Agreement, other than for 
payment of Accrued Obligations and the timely payment or provision of Other Benefits. Accrued Obligations shall be paid to the 
Executive’s estate or beneficiary, as applicable, in a lump sum in cash within 30 days of death. 

  
(b) Disability . If the Executive separates from service during the Post Change in Control Period by reason of the Executive’s Disability, 

this Agreement shall terminate without further obligations to the Executive other than for payment of Accrued Obligations and the 
timely payment or provision of Other Benefits. Accrued Obligations shall be paid to the  
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In either case, all Accrued Obligations shall be paid to the Executive in a lump sum in cash within 30 days of the date of the separation 
from service.  

4. “Cause” means only: (a) commission of a felony or gross neglect of duty by the Executive which is intended to result in substantial 
personal enrichment of the Executive at the expense of the Company, (b) conviction of a crime involving moral turpitude, or (c) willful failure 
by the Executive of the Executive’s duties to the Company which failure is deliberate on the Executive’s part, results in material injury to the 
Company, and continues for more than 30 days after written notice given to the Executive pursuant to a two-thirds vote of all of the members of 
the Board at a meeting called and held for such purpose (after reasonable notice to the Executive) and at which meeting the Executive and the 
Executive’s counsel were given an opportunity to be heard, such vote to set forth in reasonable detail the nature of the failure. For purposes of 
this definition of Cause, no act or omission shall be considered to have been “willful” unless it was not in good faith and the Executive had 
knowledge at the time that the act or omission was not in the best interest of the Company. Any act, or failure  
   

-6-  

  

Executive in a lump sum in cash within 30 days of the date of separation from service. For purposes of this Agreement, “Disability” 
shall mean the absence of the Executive from the Executive’s duties with the Company on a full-time basis for 180 consecutive 
business days as a result of incapacity due to mental or physical illness which is determined to be total and permanent by a physician 
selected by the Company or its insurers and acceptable to the Executive or the Executive’s legal representative. If the Company 
determines in good faith that the Disability of the Executive has occurred during the Post Change in Control Period, it may give the 
Executive written notice of its intention to terminate the Executive’s employment. In such event, the Executive’s separation from 
service with the Company shall be effective on the 30th day after receipt of such notice by the Executive, provided that, within the 30 
days of such receipt, the Executive shall not have returned to full-time performance of the Executive’s duties.  

  

(c) Cause . If the Executive separates from service because the Company terminates the Executive’s employment for Cause (as defined 
in Section 4 below) during the Post Change in Control Period, this Agreement shall terminate without further obligations to the 
Executive other than the obligation to pay the Executive (A) the Executive’s Annual Base Salary through the date of termination, 
(B) the amount of any compensation previously deferred by the Executive, and (C) Other Benefits, in each case to the extent 
theretofore unpaid. If the Executive voluntarily separates from service during the Post Change in Control Period, excluding a 
termination of employment for Good Reason, this Agreement shall terminate without further obligations to the Executive other than 
for Accrued Obligations and the timely payment or provisions of Other Benefits. 
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to act, based on authority given pursuant to a resolution duly adopted by the Board or upon the instructions of the Chief Executive Officer or 
another senior officer of the Company or based on the advice of counsel of the Company shall be conclusively presumed to be done, or omitted 
to be done, by the Executive in good faith and in the best interest of the Company.  

5. The Executive may terminate the Executive’s employment for Good Reason if the Executive provides the Company with a Notice of 
Termination within 90 days of the initial existence of one of the following conditions arising without the Consent of the Executive:  
   

   

   

   

   
-7-  

  

(a) The assignment to the Executive of any duties inconsistent in any respect with the Executive’s position (including status, offices, 
titles and reporting requirements), authority, duties or responsibilities immediately prior to the Change in Control; or any other action 
by the Company which results in a material diminution in such position, authority, duties or responsibilities, excluding for this 
purpose an isolated, insubstantial and inadvertent action not taken in bad faith and which is remedied by the Company promptly after 
receipt of notice thereof given by the Executive; or 

  

(b) Any material reduction in the Executive’s rate of Annual Base Salary for any fiscal year, or material reduction in the Executive’s 
total cash and stock compensation opportunities, including salary and incentives, for any fiscal year (for this purpose, such 
opportunities shall be deemed reduced if the objective standards by which the Executive’s incentive compensation measured become 
more stringent or the amount of such compensation is materially reduced on a discretionary basis from the amount that would be 
payable solely by reference to the objective standards); or 

  

(c) Failure of the Company to continue in effect any retirement, life, medical, dental, disability, accidental death or travel insurance plan, 
in which the Executive was participating immediately prior to the Change in Control unless the Company provides the Executive 
with a plan or plans that provide substantially similar benefits, or the taking of any action by the Company that would adversely 
effect the Executive’s participation in or materially reduce the Executive’s benefits under any of such plans or deprive the Executive 
of any material fringe benefit enjoyed by the Executive immediately prior to the Change in Control other than an isolated, 
insubstantial and inadvertent failure not occurring in bad faith and which is remedied by the Company promptly after receipt of 
notice thereof given by the Executive; or 

  
(d) The Company requires the Executive to be based at any office or location outside the Greater Boston Metropolitan Area or the 

Company requires the Executive to travel on Company business to a substantially greater extent than required immediately prior to 
the date of Change in Control; or 
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For purposes of this Section 5, any good faith determination of Good Reason made by the Executive shall be conclusive. The Company 
shall have 30 days from the receipt of the Notice of Termination to cure the event specified in the Notice and, if the Company fails to so cure the 
event, the Executive’s employment shall terminate for Good Reason on the first day following the expiration of such 30-day cure period. The 
Executive’s termination of employment for Good Reason hereunder is intended to be an involuntary separation from service for purposes of 
Code section 409A and shall be construed accordingly.  

6. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, if at the time of the Executive’s separation from service with the 
Company or one of the Company’s subsidiaries the Executive is a specified employee as hereinafter defined, any and all amounts payable under 
this Agreement in connection with such separation from service that constitute deferred compensation subject to section 409A of the Code, as 
determined by the Company in its sole discretion, shall be made or commence on the first day of the seventh month following the Executive’s 
termination of employment. For purposes of the preceding sentence, the term “specified employee” shall mean an individual determined by the 
Company to be a specified employee as defined in subsection (a)(2)(B)(i) of section 409A of the Code and the regulations thereunder.  

7. In the case of any dispute under this Agreement, the Executive may initiate binding arbitration in Boston, Massachusetts, before the 
American Arbitration Association by serving a notice to arbitrate upon the Company or, at the Executive’s election, institute judicial 
proceedings, in either case within 90 days of the effective date of the Executive’s termination or, if later, the Executive’s receipt of notice of 
termination, or such longer period as may be reasonably necessary for the Executive to take such action if illness or incapacity should impair the 
Executive taking such action within the 90-day period. The Company shall not have the right to initiate binding arbitration, and agrees that upon 
the initiation of binding arbitration by the Executive pursuant to this paragraph 8 the Company shall cause to be dismissed any judicial 
proceedings it has brought against the Executive relating to this Agreement. The Company authorizes the Executive from time to time to retain 
counsel of the Executive’s choice to represent the Executive in connection with any and all actions, proceedings, and/or arbitration, whether by 
or against the Company or any trustee, officer, shareholder, or other person affiliated with the Company, which may affect the Executive’s rights 
under this Agreement. The Company agrees (i) to pay the fees and expenses of such counsel, (ii) to pay the cost of such arbitration and/or 
judicial proceeding, and (iii) to pay  
   

-8-  

  
(e) Any purported termination by the Company of the Executive’s employment otherwise than as expressly permitted by this 

Agreement; or 

  (f) Any failure by the Company to comply with and satisfy Section 8 of this Agreement. 
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interest to the Executive on all amounts owed to the Executive under this Agreement during any period of time that such amounts are withheld 
pending arbitration and/or judicial proceedings. Such interest will be at the prime rate for corporate loans by the nation’s largest banks as 
published from time to time under “Money Rates” in the Wall Street Journal, Eastern Edition.  

In addition, notwithstanding any existing prior attorney-client relationship between the Company and counsel retained by the Executive, 
the Company irrevocably consents to the Executive entering into an attorney-client relationship with such counsel and agrees that a confidential 
relationship shall exist between the Executive and such counsel.  

8. If the Company is at any time before or after a Change in Control merged or consolidated into or with any other corporation or other 
entity (whether or not the Company is the surviving entity), or if substantially all of the assets thereof are transferred to another corporation or 
other entity, the provisions of this Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the corporation or other entity resulting from such 
merger or consolidation or the acquirer of such assets (the “Successor Entity”), and this paragraph 9 will apply in the event of any subsequent 
merger or consolidation or transfer of assets. The Company will require any such Successor Entity to assume expressly and agree to perform this 
Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent that the Company would be required to perform if no such transaction had taken place. As 
used in this Agreement, Company shall mean the Company as hereinbefore defined and any Successor Entity which assumes and agrees to 
perform this Agreement by operation of law or otherwise.  

In the event of any merger, consolidation, or sale of assets described above, nothing contained in this Agreement will detract from or 
otherwise limit the Executive’s right to or privilege of participation in any stock option or purchase plan or any bonus, profit sharing, pension, 
group insurance, hospitalization, or other incentive or benefit plan or arrangement which may be or become applicable to the executives of the 
corporation resulting from such merger or consolidation or the corporation acquiring such assets of the Company.  

In the event of any merger, consolidation, or sale of assets described above, references to the Company in this Agreement shall unless the 
context suggests otherwise be deemed to include the entity resulting from such merger or consolidation or the acquirer of such assets of the 
Company.  

9. Any termination by the Company for Cause, or by the Executive for Good Reason, shall be communicated by Notice of Termination to 
the other party hereto given in accordance with Section 15 of this Agreement. For purposes of this Agreement, a “Notice of Termination” means 
a written notice which (i) indicates the specific termination provision in this Agreement relied upon, (ii) to the extent applicable, sets forth in 
reasonable detail the facts and circumstances claimed to provide a basis for termination of the Executive’s employment under the provision so 
indicated and (iii) except as provided in Section 5 above, if the Date of Termination (as defined below) is other than the date of receipt of such 
notice, specifies the termination date (which date shall be not more than thirty days after the giving of  
   

-9-  
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such notice). The failure by the Executive or the Company to set forth in the Notice of Termination any fact or circumstance which contributes to 
a showing of Good Reason or Cause shall not waive any right of the Executive or the Company, respectively, hereunder or preclude the 
Executive or the Company, respectively, from asserting such fact or circumstance in enforcing the Executive’s or the Company’s rights 
hereunder.  

“Date of Termination” means (i) if the Executive’s employment is terminated by the Company for Cause, the date of receipt of the Notice 
of Termination or any later date specified therein, as the case may be, (ii) if the Executive’s employment is terminated by the Company other 
than for Cause or Disability, the date on which the Company notifies the Executive of such termination and (iii) if the Executive’s employment 
is terminated by reason of death or Disability, the date of death of the Executive or the effective date of the Disability, as the case may be.  

10. All payments required to be made by the Company hereunder to the Executive or the Executive’s dependents, beneficiaries, or estate 
will be subject to the withholding of such amounts relating to tax and/or other payroll deductions as may be required by law.  

11. There shall be no requirement on the part of the Executive to seek other employment or otherwise mitigate damages in order to be 
entitled to the full amount of any payments and benefits to which the Executive is entitled under this Agreement, and the amount of such 
payments and benefits shall not be reduced by any compensation or benefits received by the Executive from other employment.  

12. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed as a contract of employment between the Company and the Executive, or as a 
right of the Executive to continue in the employ of the Company, or as a limitation of the right of the Company to discharge the Executive with 
or without Cause; provided that the Executive shall have the right to receive upon termination of employment the payments and benefits 
provided in this Agreement and shall not be deemed to have waived any rights that the Executive may have either at law or in equity in respect 
of such discharge.  

13. No amendment, change, or modification of this Agreement may be made except in writing, signed by both parties.  

14. This Agreement shall terminate on the third anniversary of the date hereof, provided, however, that commencing on the date one year 
after the date hereof, and on each annual anniversary of such date (each such date hereinafter referred to as a “Renewal Date”), unless previously 
terminated, the term of this Agreement shall be automatically extended so as to terminate three years from such Renewal Date, unless at least 
sixty days prior to the Renewal Date the Company shall give notice to the Executive that the term of this Agreement shall not be so extended. 
This Agreement shall not apply to a Change in Control which takes place after the termination of this Agreement.  
   

-10-  
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Payments made by the Company pursuant to this Agreement shall be in lieu of severance payments, if any, which might otherwise be 
available to the Executive under any severance plan, policy, program or arrangement generally applicable to the employees of the Company. If 
for any reason the Executive receives severance payments (other than under this Agreement) upon the termination of employment with the 
Company, the amount of such payments shall be deducted from the amount paid under this Agreement. The purpose of this provision is solely to 
avert a duplication of benefits; neither this provision nor the provisions of any other agreement shall be interpreted to reduce the amount payable 
to the Executive below the amount that would otherwise have been payable under this Agreement.  

The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the Executive, the Executive’s executors, 
administrators, legal representatives, and assigns, and the Company and its successors.  

The validity, interpretation and effect of this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts. Any 
ambiguities in this Agreement shall be construed in favor of the Executive.  

The invalidity or unenforceability of any provisions of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other provision 
of this Agreement, which shall remain in full force and effect.  

The Company shall have no right of set-off or counterclaims, in respect of any claim, debt, or obligation, against any payments to the 
Executive, the Executive’s dependents, beneficiaries, or estate provided for in this Agreement.  

No right or interest to or in any payments shall be assignable by the Executive; provided, however, that this provision shall not preclude the 
Executive from designating one or more beneficiaries to receive any amount that may be payable after the Executive’s death and shall not 
preclude the legal representative of the Executive’s estate from assigning any right hereunder to the person or persons entitled thereto under the 
Executive’s will or, in the case of intestacy, to the person or persons entitled thereto under the laws of intestacy applicable to the Executive’s 
estate. The term “beneficiaries” as used in this Agreement shall mean a beneficiary or beneficiaries so designated to receive any such amount, or 
if no beneficiary has been so designated, the legal representative of the Executive’s estate.  

No right, benefit, or interest hereunder shall be subject to anticipation, alienation, sale, assignment, encumbrance, charge, pledge, 
hypothecation, or set-off in respect of any claim, debt, or obligation, or to execution, attachment, levy, or similar process, or assignment by 
operation of law. Any attempt, voluntary or involuntary, to effect any action specified in the immediately preceding sentence shall, to the full 
extent permitted by law, be null, void, and of no effect.  
   

-11-  
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All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be given by hand delivery to the other party or by registered 
or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed as follows:  

If to the Executive :  
   

or to such other address as either party shall have furnished to the other in writing in accordance herewith. Notice and communications shall be 
effective when actually received by the addressee.  

The name “NSTAR” means the trustee or trustees for the time being (as trustee or trustees but not personally) under a Declaration of Trust 
dated April 20, 1999, as amended from time to time, which is hereby referred to, and a copy of which, as amended, has been filed with the 
Secretary of State of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts. Any obligation, agreement, or liability made, entered into, or incurred by or on 
behalf of NSTAR binds only its trust estate, and no shareholder, director, trustee, officer or agent thereof assumes or shall be held to any liability 
therefor.  
   

-12-  

If to the Company:    NSTAR 
  800 Boylston Street, 17 Floor 
  Boston, MA 02199 
  Attention: General Counsel 

th 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, NSTAR and the Executive have each caused this Agreement to be duly executed and delivered as of the date 
set forth above.  
   

   
-13-  

NSTAR 

By:     
  Name:   Christine M. Carmody 
      Senior Vice President – Human Resources 

  
  

  Name:   Executive’s Name and Title 
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EXHIBIT A  

Change in Control. For the purposes of this Agreement, a “Change in Control” shall mean:  
   

   

   

   
-14-  

  

(a) The acquisition by any Person (or more than one Person acting as a group) of ultimate beneficial ownership (within the meaning of 
Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act) of (i) more than 50% of the then outstanding common shares (or shares of 
common stock) of Parent (the “Outstanding Parent Common Shares”) or (ii )  30% or more of the combined voting power of the then 
outstanding voting securities of the Parent entitled to vote generally in the election of trustees (or directors) (the “Outstanding Parent 
Voting Securities”); provided, however, that for purposes of this subsection (a), the following acquisitions shall not constitute a 
Change in Control: (i) any acquisition directly from the Parent, (ii) any acquisition by the Parent or any affiliate of Parent, (iii) any 
acquisition by any employee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by the Parent, the Company or any affiliate of 
Parent or (iv) any acquisition by any Person pursuant to a transaction which complies with clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) of subsection 
(c) of this Exhibit A; or 

  

(b) Individuals who, as of the date hereof, constitute the Board of Trustees of the Parent (the “ Incumbent Board” ) cease for any reason to 
constitute at least a majority of such board; provided, however, that any individual becoming a trustee (or director) subsequent to the 
date hereof whose election, or nomination for election by the Parent’s shareholders, was approved by a vote of at least a majority of 
the trustees (or directors) then comprising the Incumbent Board shall be considered as though such individual were a member of the 
Incumbent Board, but excluding, for this purpose, any such individual whose initial assumption of office occurs as a result of an 
actual or threatened election contest with respect to the election or removal of trustees (or directors) or other actual or threatened 
solicitation of proxies or consents by or on behalf of a Person other than such board; or 

  

(c) Consummation of a reorganization, merger or consolidation or sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the 
Parent (a “Business Combination”), in each case, unless, following such Business Combination, (i) all or substantially all of the 
individuals and entities who were the beneficial owners, respectively, of the Outstanding Parent Common Shares and Outstanding 
Parent Voting Securities immediately prior to such Business Combination beneficially own, directly or indirectly, immediately 
following such Business Combination 50% or more of, respectively, the then outstanding common shares (or shares of  
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For purposes of this Appendix A, the term “Parent” shall mean NSTAR, or, if any entity shall own, directly or indirectly through one or more 
subsidiaries, more than 50% of the outstanding common shares of NSTAR, such entity  
   

-15-  

  

common stock) and the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities entitled to vote generally in the election of 
trustees (or directors), as the case may be, of the entity resulting from such Business Combination (including, without limitation, an 
entity which as a result of such transaction owns the Parent or all or substantially all of the Parent’s assets either directly or through 
one or more subsidiaries) in substantially the same proportions as their ownership, immediately prior to such Business Combination 
of the Outstanding Parent Common Shares and Outstanding Parent Voting Securities, as the case may be, (ii) no Person (excluding 
any entity resulting from such Business Combination or any employee benefit plan (or related trust) of the Parent or the Company or 
such entity resulting from such Business Combination) ultimately beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of, 
respectively, the then outstanding common shares or shares of common stock of the entity resulting from such Business Combination 
or 30% or more of the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of such entity except to the extent that such 
ownership existed prior to the Business Combination and (iii) at least a majority of the members of the board of trustees (or board of 
directors) of the entity resulting from such Business Combination were members of the Incumbent Board at the time of the execution 
of the initial agreement, or of the action of the Board of Trustees of the Parent, providing for such Business Combination; or  

  (d) Approval by the shareholders of the Parent of a complete liquidation or dissolution of the Parent. 
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Exhibit 23.1 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING  FIRM  

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-162401 and No. 333-155779), 
Registration Statement on Form S-4 (No. 333-78285) and in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-142595, 333-160263, and 333-
87272) of NSTAR of our report dated February 5, 2010 relating to the financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control over financial 
reporting, which appears in the Annual Report to Shareholders, which is incorporated in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We also consent to 
the incorporation by reference of our report dated February 5, 2010 relating to the financial statement schedules, which appears in this Form 10-
K.  

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  

Boston, Massachusetts  
February 5, 2010  
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Exhibit 31.1 

Sarbanes - Oxley Section 302 Certification  

I, Thomas J. May, certify that:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of NSTAR; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

  
a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

  
b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 

our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

  
c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 

the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report, based on such 
evaluation; and 

  
d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 

most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions): 

  
a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

  
b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 

internal control over financial reporting. 

Date: February 5, 2010     By:   / S /    T HOMAS J. M AY         
        Thomas J. May 
        Chairman, President and 
        Chief Executive Officer 

WPD-6 
Screening Data Part 1 of 2 
Page 9226 of 9808



Exhibit 31.2 

Sarbanes - Oxley Section 302 Certification  

I, James J. Judge, certify that:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of NSTAR; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

  
a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

  
b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 

our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

  
c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 

the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report, based on such 
evaluation; and 

  
d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 

most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions): 

  
a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

  
b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 

internal control over financial reporting. 

Date: February 5, 2010     By:   / S /    J AMES J. J UDGE           
        James J. Judge 
        Senior Vice President 
        and Chief Financial Officer 
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Exhibit 32.1 

Certification Pursuant To  
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,  

as Adopted Pursuant To  
Section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  

In connection with the Annual Report of NSTAR (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ending December 31, 2009 as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Thomas J. May, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of 
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best 
of my knowledge:  
   

   

   

(i) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company. 

Date: February 5, 2010    By:   / S /    T HOMAS J. M AY         
    Thomas J. May 
    Chairman, President and 
    Chief Executive Officer 
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Exhibit 32.2 

Certification Pursuant To  
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,  

as Adopted Pursuant To  
Section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  

In connection with the Annual Report of NSTAR (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ending December 31 2009 as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, James J. Judge, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of 
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best 
of my knowledge:  
   

   

   

(i) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company. 

Date: February 5, 2010    By:   / S /    J AMES J. J UDGE         
    James J. Judge 
    Senior Vice President 
    and Chief Financial Officer 
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